Louisiana State University LSU Scholarly Repository

LSU Doctoral Dissertations

Graduate School

2015

Pathogenic Enteric Viruses in Louisiana Oysters and Environmental Waters

Naim Montazeri Djouybari Louisiana State University and Agricultural and Mechanical College

Follow this and additional works at: https://repository.lsu.edu/gradschool_dissertations

Part of the Life Sciences Commons

Recommended Citation

Montazeri Djouybari, Naim, "Pathogenic Enteric Viruses in Louisiana Oysters and Environmental Waters" (2015). *LSU Doctoral Dissertations*. 1758. https://repository.lsu.edu/gradschool_dissertations/1758

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Graduate School at LSU Scholarly Repository. It has been accepted for inclusion in LSU Doctoral Dissertations by an authorized graduate school editor of LSU Scholarly Repository. For more information, please contactgradetd@lsu.edu.

PATHOGENIC ENTERIC VIRUSES IN LOUISIANA OYSTERS AND ENVIRONMENTAL WATERS

A Dissertation

Submitted to the Graduate Faculty of the Louisiana State University and Agricultural and Mechanical College in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

in

School of Nutrition and Food Sciences

by Naim Montazeri Djouybari M.Sc., University of Alaska Fairbanks, 2011 May 2015 To my beautiful wife, Parichehr

k

My beloved parents, Ashraf and Ali

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my major advisor, Dr. Marlene E. Janes, and my research committee, Dr. Eric C. Achberger, Dr. Crystal N. Johnson and Dr. Witoon Prinyawiwatkul, for their tremendous guidance, support and encouragement during my research. I also thank Dr. John Hawke for accepting to serve as the Dean's representative. My dissertation research was a part of a Food Virology Collaborative (NoroCORE) funded by Agriculture and Food Research Initiative Competitive Grant no. 2011-6800-30395 from the USDA National Institute of Food and Agriculture. In this regard, I would like to acknowledge Dr. Lee-Ann Jaykus and the team (North Carolina State University) for their leadership, trainings and technical assistances. I also express my sincere appreciations to Dr. William Burkhardt and Dr. Jacquelina Williams-Woods (FDA Gulf Coast Seafood Laboratory), Dr. Jan Vinjé and the team (CDC), Dr. Christine L. Moe and the team (Emory University), Dr. Jennifer L. Cannon (University of Georgia), operating personnel in the wastewater treatment plant, Dr. Bin Li at LSU Department of Experimental Statistics for the technical consultation on the statistical analyses, Dr. Ted Gauthier and Tamara Chouljenko at LSU AgCenter Biotechnology Laboratory for allowing me to use their laboratory equipment, the GeneLab personnel at LSU School of Veterinary Medicine for providing gene sequencing services, and LSU School of Nutrition and Food Sciences personnel. Last but not least, my sincere appreciations go to my beloved wife and my family in Iran for their true love, patience and support.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	iii
LIST OF TABLES	vi
LIST OF FIGURES	vii
ABSTRACT	ix
CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION TO NOROVIRUS	1
1.1. Nomenclature, virion and genome structure	1
1.2. Attachment and replication strategies	5
1.3. Detection and genotyping	7
1.4. Clinical features and contamination routes	12
1.5. Occurrence in environmental water and wastewater systems	15
1.6. Occurrence in ovsters	18
1.6.1. Ovster biology as relates to virus uptake	18
1.6.2. Outbreaks and health risks	22
1.6.3. Intervention techniques in food	23
1.7. Microbial indicators in shellfish and water	24
1.8. Justification	26
1.9. References	28
CHAPTER 2. ENTERIC VIRUSES IN LOUISIANA OYSTERS AND HARVEST WATER	43
2.1. Introduction	43
2.2. Material and methods	45
2.2.1. Sample collection	45
2.2.2. Oyster processing	45
2.2.3. Microbial indicators	47
2.2.4. Virus concentration and RNA extraction	48
2.2.5. Detection and quantification of enteric viruses	48
2.2.6. Outbreak sample	50
2.2.7. Sequencing and genotyping	50
2.3. Statistical analysis	51
2.4. Results and Discussion	51
2.4.1. Microbial indicators	54
2.4.2. Trends and correlations	58
2.4.3. Norovirus detection	59
2.4.4. Outbreak samples	60
2.5. Conclusions	62
2.6. Acknowledgements	64
2.7. References	64

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CHAPTER 3. ENTERIC VIRUSES IN THE MUNICIPAL WASTEWATER	70
3.1. Introduction	70
3.2. Material and methods	72
3.2.1 Wastewater treatment plant and sampling	72
3.2.2. Microbial indicators	73
3.2.3. Enteric viruses	74
3.2.3.1. Extraction and concentration of enteric viruses	74
3.2.3.2. Determination of pathogenic enteric viruses	74
3.2.3.3. Sequencing and genotyping noroviruses	75
3.3. Data analysis	76
3.4. Results	77
3.4.1. PCR performance	77
3.4.2. Pathogenic enteric viruses and microbial indicators	77
3.4.3. Trends and seasonality	78
3.4.4. Microbial removal	79
3.4.5. Genetic diversity of noroviruses	80
3.5. Discussion	80
3.6. Nucleotide sequence accession numbers	93
3.7. Conclusions	93
3.8. Acknowledgments	94
3.9. References	94
FINAL CONCLUSIONS	99
APPENDIX 1. NUCLEOTIDE BLAST OF RT-QPCR NOV POSITIVE SAMPLE	ES
(EXCERPTED)	100
APPENDIX 2 GEL ELECTROPHORESIS OF THE AMPLICONS FROM THE	FIRST
PCR REACTION	105
APPENDIX 3. GEL ELECTROPHORESIS OF THE AMPLICONS FROM THE SECOND PCP PEACTION	106
SECOND FOR REACTION	100
VITA	107

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Dates and locations of sample collection from commercial oyster harvesting areas along the Louisiana Gulf Coast	. 46
Table 2. RT-qPCR performance for the detection and quantification of NoV and enteroviruses in oysters	. 54
Table 3. Microbial indicators in oysters from site A and B, mean \pm SE	. 56
Table 4. Microbial indicators in harvest waters from site A and B, mean ± SE	. 57
Table 5. Microbial indicators in oysters and harvest waters from Cameron Parish (area 30), mean ± SE.	. 61
Table 6. Concentrations of indicator bacteria in the influent and effluent of the wastewater treatment plant over the sampling month*	. 83
Table 7. Summary of the dominant Norovirus GI and GII strains identified in the influent and effluent of wastewater.	. 91

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure	1. Classification of noroviruses into seven genogroups (GI to GVII) based on amino acid sequence diversity in the complete VP1 capsid protein (the scale bar refers to the number of amino acid substitutions per site). Source: Vinjé (2015)	2
Figure	2. The Norwalk virus-like particle. Source: Huston et al. (2004)	3
Figure	3. Norovirus virulence determinants. Source: Karst et al. (2014)	4
Figure	4. Norovirus genome conserved sequences identified by PlotSimilarity (A: genogroup I, B: genogroup II). Source: Kageyama et al. (2003)	9
Figure	5. Schematic representation of the NoV genome and the partial sequence regions (A to E) are been used for genotyping. Numbers refer to the nucleotide position in the GI.1 Norwalk virus genome (GenBank accession number M87661). Source: Mattison et al (2009)	11
Figure	6. Oyster and harvest water sampling locations along the Louisiana Gulf Coasts. Triangles denote sampling sites "A", and circles denote sampling area "B"	46
Figure	7. Monthly temperature (°C) of sea surface in Louisiana Gulf Coast in 2013. The horizontal line denotes the 24 °C threshold to distinguish between cold and warm months.	52
Figure	8. NoV GI calibration curve	53
Figure	9. NoV GII calibration curve	53
Figure	10. EV calibration curve	54
Figure	11. RT-qPCR amplicons sequence from the NoV GII positive oyster sample (5' to 3').	60
Figure	12. Selected region of the phylogenic tree (NoV GII.4 strains) constructed for genotyping the NoV GII detected in the outbreak stool specimen. The numbers on the branches indicate the branch lengths. Each strains name is followed by the reference sequences obtained from NCBI (Vinjé 2015; Zheng et al. 2006).	62
Figure	13. Mid-range weather temperature (°C) in New Orleans (LA) for each sample collection day	78

Figure	14. Concentrations of biochemical oxygen demand (BOD), total suspended solids (TSS) and volatile suspended solids (VSS) in the wastewater influent and effluent waters.	81
Figure	15. Concentrations of NoV GI, GII and EV in the wastewater influent and effluent (mean \pm SE).	82
Figure	16. Concentrations of male-specific coliphages (MSC) in the wastewater influent and effluent (mean \pm SE)	84
Figure	17. Phylogenetic tree for norovirus GI strains using 264 nucleotides of the partial capsid gene sequences. Reference strains start with GI followed by the GenBank accession numbers (Vinjé 2015, Zheng et al. 2006). Samples start with the months, followed by the source (In: influent/Ef: effluent), replicates (A-C) and the GenBank accession numbers.	87
Figure	18. Phylogenetic tree for norovirus GII strains using 252 nucleotides of the partial capsid gene sequences. Reference strains start with GII followed by the GenBank accession numbers (Vinjé 2015, Zheng et al. 2006). Samples start with the months, followed by the source (In: influent/Ef: effluent),	
	replicates (A-C) and the GenBank accession numbers	89

ABSTRACT

Norovirus (NoV) and pathogenic enteroviruses are the major causes of gastroenteritis in humans worldwide, and are usually transmitted through direct or indirect exposure to raw or partially treated sewage. Filter-feeding shellfish concentrate virus particles from the water and transmit them to humans. The occurrence of norovirus GI and GII and fecal indicators in Louisiana eastern oysters (*Crassostrea virginica*) and harvest water were investigated on a biweekly basis for almost one year. Only one oyster sample was positive for NoV GII at 3.5 \log_{10} genomic copies/g digestive tissues. A stool specimen obtained from an infected individual associated with a norovirus outbreak and the suspected oysters were also analyzed. The norovirus in the stool belonged to GII.4 Sydney; however, the oyster and water were negative and could not be linked. Densities of microbial indicators (fecal coliforms, Escherichia coli, and coliphages) were low, and weakly correlated. A municipal secondary wastewater treatment plant (New Orleans, Louisiana), as a potential source of environmental contamination, was further investigated on a monthly basis for one year. Enteric viruses were detected in the influent and effluent wasters year-round. NoV GII was more abundant than NoV GI, and along with EV increased in influent during fall and spring. NoV GI concentration was higher in influent in fall. Densities of indicator bacteria (enterococci, fecal coliforms and E. coli) did not show strong monthly or seasonal patterns. Averaged monthly removal for enteric viruses and male-specific coliphage ranged between 0.95 and 1.63 log₁₀, and were lower than the indicator bacteria (4.36 \log_{10}), indicating higher resistance of viruses to the treatment. Male-specific coliphage was the only indicator that correlated with NoV GII densities in both influent and effluent (r = 0.48 and 0.76, respectively) and monthly

removal (r = 0.72), indicating that it can be more reliable than indicator bacteria to monitor NoV GII load and microbial removal. Various norovirus genotypes were identified (GI/1, 3 and 4; GII/3, 4, 13 and 21), dominated by GI.1 and GII.4 strains. These observations emphasize the need for direct monitoring of pathogenic enteric viruses in oysters and waters to reduce the risks of viral gastroenteritis incidence.

CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION TO NOROVIRUS

1.1. Nomenclature, virion and genome structure

Norovirus (formerly known as "Norwalk-like virus") was first visualized in 1972 using immune electron microscopy on infectious stool filtrate derived from an outbreak of gastroenteritis in an elementary school in Norwalk, Ohio (Kapikian 2000). Norovirus belongs to the family *Caliciviridae* (*calici* originated from the Latin word *calyx* means cup) (Green 2007), which are categorized into five genera, namely *Norovirus*, *Nebovirus*, *Sapovirus*, *Vesivirus* and *Lagovirus*. Among these, *Norovirus* and *Sapovirus* can infect humans and cause gastroenteritis (Thorne and Goodfellow 2014).

So far, more than 32 norovirus (NoV) genotypes composing numerous strains have been identified and, according to their genome sequence homologies, have been categorized into five genogroups (GI to GV, Figure 1) in which GI, GII and GIV are prevalent in humans; the rest (GIII to GV) are found in animals and are comprised of bovine NoV, Murine NoV (MNV) and canine NoV (Green 2007, Hall et al. 2014, Karst et al. 2014). Recently NoV GVI was identified in domestic dogs (Mesquita et al. 2010), and a tentative GVII has been proposed (Tse et al. 2012, Vinjé 2015). Genogroups GI and GII possess only 53% nucleotide and 65% amino acid similarities (Wang et al. 1994). Despite their extensive genetically divergent nature, the NoV GII.4 strains remain the predominant cause of the NoV outbreaks worldwide (Siebenga et al. 2009).

Norovirus is a non-enveloped virus, and composed of a virion protein, genome-linked protein (VPg), and a positive-sense single-stranded RNA (Green 2007). The buoyant density of Norwalk virus in cesium chloride (CsCl) ranges from 1.33 to 1.41 g cm⁻¹ (Kapikian et al. 1973).



Figure 1. Classification of noroviruses into seven genogroups (GI to GVII) based on amino acid sequence diversity in the complete VP1 capsid protein (the scale bar refers to the number of amino acid substitutions per site). Source: Vinjé (2015)

The structural protein of each virion is composed of 180 copies of 59 kDa major protein (VP1) with 530 amino acids, and one or two copies of a 30 kDa minor protein (VP2) (Greenberg et al. 1981, Prasad et al. 1996). Figure 2 represents a typical structure of norovirus. The capsid protein of noroviruses is composed of 90 dimers that form a shell from which 90 arch-like capsomers protrude at the local and strict two-fold axis. The arches form 32 large hollows at the icosahedral five- and three- fold positions with a cup-like structure on the surface (Green 2007). The capsid protein (VP1) can self-assemble into a virus-like particle (VLPs) without incorporation of

genomic RNA or the minor capsid protein. The virus-like particles retain their antigenicity similar to intact virion strains, and are able to induce immunological responses to the infected individuals. This can help the development of vaccines, cell culture techniques and diagnostic tests (Jiang et al. 1992).



Figure 2. The Norwalk virus-like particle. Source: Huston et al. (2004)

The viral genome (7.4-7.7 kb) has a polyadenylated tail at the 3' end, and is coated by a non-enveloped icosahedral capsid with 27-40 nm in diameter (Green 2007). The distinguishing characteristic of the *Calicivirus* genome is a 5' non-structural polyprotein preceding the single viral structural capsid protein (Clarke and Lambden 1997). Depending on the genus, the viral genome is composed of two or three major open reading frames (ORFs). Three ORFs are

recognized in the NoV viral genome (Figure 3). ORF1 encodes the nonstructural proteins that are processed co- and post-translationally by the viral 3C-like protease (3CL Pro). The coding order in ORF1 proceeds N to C terminus, p48, NTPase, p22, VPg, 3CL Pro and RdRp (Hardy 2005). Despite heterogeneity in the amino acid sequence of the ORF1 polyprotein, the location of the cleavage sites and sequence preference for glutamic acid or glutamine residues in the P1 position are well conserved among noroviruses. The last two proteins, 3CL Pro and RdRp are the most genetically conserved and well-characterized calicivirus nonstructural proteins (Sosnovtsev et al. 2006).



Figure 3. Norovirus virulence determinants. Source: Karst et al. (2014)

The ORF2 and ORF3 are translated from a subgenomic RNA, and encode the major and minor capsid proteins, VP1 and VP2, respectively (Thorne and Goodfellow 2014). The VP1, encoded by ORF2, is divided into two major domains, the well conserved N-terminal or internal shell (S) and the C-terminal protruding (P) domains connected by a flexible short hinge forming dimeric VP1 arches. The P domain is further divided into P1 and P2 subdomains, composing the leg and the head of the protruding P dimers, respectively (Prasad et al. 1999). The minor structural protein (VP2), encoded by ORF3, is believed to be located on the interior of the virion; even though it is not essential in virus-like particles (VLP) formation but it may function in RNA viral encapsidation. Similar to many plant viruses, RNA packaging occurs through an interaction of the viral RNA with the basic N-terminal domain of the capsid protein. The capsid protein of

caliciviruses is acidic (pI = 5.64), and lacks a basic N-terminal arm (Glass et al. 2000). Nonstructural proteins are responsible for applications such as protease activity, viral genome replication and virion localization (Hardy 2005).

A fourth ORF is identified in murine norovirus (MNV) genome that overlaps the ORF2 coding region, and is translated during virus infection. The encoded protein (virulence factor 1, VF1) antagonizes the innate immune response to infection (McFadden et al. 2011). NoV genomic and subgenomic RNAs are covalently linked to a small virus-encoded protein (VPg), and the 3' ends are polyadenylated (Karst et al. 2014). Calicivirus coding genome is flanked by short stretches of UTRs. In other (+)ssRNA viruses that have larger UTRs, it is believed that these UTRs interact with the cellular translation machinery and/or the viral replicase components to regulate translation and/or replication. The stem-loops present within the coding region in caliciviruses genome may play a similar role (Simmonds et al. 2008).

1.2. Attachment and replication strategies

Inability of a reliable cell culture system to grow NoV has limited the understanding of NoV life cycle, and the development of a vaccine and antiviral drug (Karst et al. 2014). Similar to other viruses that replicate on mucosal surfaces, and particularly in the gastrointestinal tract, proteolytic cleavage of outer capsid protein in NoV is an important step in the replication cycle of the virus, and probably not important for the infectivity of the virus. The cleavage product is the source of the soluble protein occurs in stools of infected individuals and perhaps has a role in immune response to the pathogen (Hardy et al. 1995).

The small intestine is believed to be the primary site of human NoV infection and replication (Karst et al. 2015). NoV recognizes human histo-blood group antigens (HBGAs) as receptors. The A/B-binding group and the Lewis-binding group are the major epitopes involved

in this interaction. Strains in the A/B binding group recognize the A and/or B and H antigens, but not the Lewis antigens, while strains in the Lewis-binding group react only to the Lewis and/or H antigens. Strains in both binding groups can be found in both NoV GI and GII. High polymorphism in human HBGAs and involvement of multiple epitopes could be a reason for the diversity in virus-ligand binding indicating important role of human HBGA system in NoV evolution (Huang et al. 2005). Different strains of NoV specifically recognize different human HBGAs on intestinal epithelial cells as receptors (Huang et al. 2003). Following attachment, the virion releases the genome into the host's cytoplasm, and then the genome-linked protein initiates translation. After translation of ORF1, necessary protein are produced to induce (-)ssRNA which later are used as a template for transcription to full-length genomic and subgenomic RNA. VP2 may function in RNA genome packaging (Hardy 2005).

Once the VPg-linked RNA genome is released into the cytoplasm of a permissive cell, it is likely that the VPs forms multiple contacts with components of the translation initiation factor complex, then the genome is used as an mRNA template for viral genome translation. There are evolutionary conserved RNA structures at both ends of calicivirus genomes that interact with host cell factors to promote viral replication and translation. Viral proteins VP1 and VP2 are translated primarily from the subgenomic RNA, as the subgenomic RNA is present at high levels in infected cells. Once the translation of ORF2 (VP1) is accomplished, ribosomes are probably still bound to RNA to reinitiate the translation of ORF3 (VP2) (Thorne and Goodfellow 2014). Norovirus replication resembles other (+)ssRNA viruses, and occurs in association with intracellular membranes (Wobus et al. 2004).

Similar to all positive-sense RNA viruses, genome replication takes place via a negativesense RNA intermediate by the viral RNA-dependent RNA polymerase (RdRp, NS7). This process occurs following the translation of incoming parental viral RNA. In this regard the mRNA template functions as the template for the formation double-stranded replicative form. Next is the synthesis of positive-sense genomic and subgenomic RNA. During the replication process, an extensive modification of cellular transcriptional and translational apparatus occurs with infection that benefits virus replication (Thorne and Goodfellow 2014). The minus strand is synthesized by RNA-dependent RNA polymerase (RdRp), and acts as a template for the synthesis of the full-length genomic RNA from which non-structural proteins are translated, including RdRp, helicase and protease (Simmonds et al. 2008). Protein VP1 is able to self-assemble into virus-like particles (VLPs). While the S domain has all properties to assemble a stable icosahedron, it is suggested that the interaction between the P and S domains stabilizes the assembled particles and perhaps attributes to maintain the appropriate size on the particle (Bertolotti-Ciarlet et al. 2002). Viral assembly, encapsidation and the exit of NoV are unknown (Thorne and Goodfellow 2014). Induction of apoptosis by murine norovirus through the mitochondrial is observed as an exit strategy in caliciviruses (Bok et al. 2009).

1.3. Detection and genotyping

Norwalk virus was first discovered by Kapikian et al. (1972) using immune electron microscopy to study stool filtrate obtained from a gastroenteritis outbreak in Norwalk, Ohio. Inactivated convalescent serum from experimentally infected volunteers was utilized as a specific antibody to aggregate viruses and coated them by specific antibodies that facilitated direct visualization and detection. Cloning of Norwalk virus in 1990 advanced molecular characterization of noroviruses significantly (Xi et al. 1990). Underestimation of recombination rate, error-prone RNA replication, and the lack of a suitable *in vitro* culture system, has limited studies on NoV (Xue et al. 2013). Murine norovirus has been the only norovirus that grows well

in cell culture by infecting macrophages and dendritic cells. The similarities of MNV with other members of *Caliciviridae* have recognized it as a suitable surrogate for virology purposes (Wobus et al. 2006). Efforts have been made to cultivate norovirus in a 3-dimentional tissue culture in an organoid model of human small (Straub et al. 2007) and large (Straub et al. 2007) intestine epithelium. Recently, promising results were obtained by Jones et al. (2014) who found that human NoV infects B cells at the presence of HBGA-expressing enteric bacteria as a stimulatory factor for the infection. In this regard, NoV must find its way into the intestinal epithelium to access target B cells.

Due to the lack of a reliable cell culture system, various molecular detection and genome sequencing techniques have been developed for the identification and classification of NoV in clinical specimens or environmental samples. PCR-based assays have been the gold standard for the rapid and sensitive detection of NoV in clinical (stool, serum) as well as food or environmental samples where the level of virus contamination is usually low.

A breakthrough was achieved by Kageyama et al. (2003) who improved detection of GI and GII using a real-time reverse-transcription PCR (RT-qPCR) by targeting the junction of ORF1-ORF2 junction (from C-terminal RdRp to the N-terminal capsid), which is the most conserved region in both GI and GII genome allowing sensitive detection of the viral genome (Figure 4). Other methods have been designed for the detection of noroviruses, such as loop-mediated isothermal amplification, LAMP (Fukuda et al. 2007), microarray (Martínez et al. 2015), nucleic acid sequence-based amplification, NASBA (Lamhoujeb et al. 2009), enzyme immune assays, EIA (Shigemoto et al. 2014), enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay, ELISA (Geginat et al. 2012) and surface plasmon resonance biosensor (Yakes et al. 2013).



Figure 4. Norovirus genome conserved sequences identified by PlotSimilarity (A: genogroup I, B: genogroup II). Source: Kageyama et al. (2003)

Noroviruses are genetically diverse even within each genogroup (Wang et al. 1994). The RT-qPCR assay target the ORF1-ORF2 junction is designed for a highly conserved region in both NoV GI and GII, and is not suitable for genotyping different strains (Kageyama et al. 2003). So far, no alternative conserved PCR primers have been recognized for the confirmation of NoV positive RT-qPCR assays (Knight et al. 2013). However, various regions (A to E) of NoV viral genome are amplified using end-point RT-PCR assays for genotyping purposes (Figure 5, Mattison et al. 2009).

Recent advances in genotyping are achieved by sequencing the region C or D of genome sequences, which target the ORF2 regions, which partially encodes capsid region, VP1 (Mattison et al. 2009). The C-terminus of VP1 protein demonstrates separation of uncorrected distances of

strains within clusters, between clusters and between genogroups (Vinjé et al. 2004). This region includes the protruding (P1/P2) domains of the capsid; the epitopes that take part in binding to histo-blood group antigens (Hutson et al. 2003). Two short stretches of conserved amino acids, DPDT and YQLKPVGTA for GI strains, and POE and LAPM motifs for GII strains were found within the designated region D. The new primer sets targeting this stretches of amino acids showed amplification in 95% of the samples (Vinjé et al. 2004). Due to the lack of a standardized approach, typing of NoV variants is sometimes questioned by what defines a genotype and what is the best genomic region for classification. Overall, the maximum pairwise difference of VP1 amino acid sequences within NoV genotypes is 0.21 for GI and 0.15 for GII, and the minimum difference between NoV genotypes is 0.20 for GI and 0.13 for GII (Kroneman et al. 2013).

A pairwise distance cutoff of 20% divergence in the complete VP1 amino acid sequence (ORF2) had been used since mid 1990s to assign a new NoV genotype (Vinjé et al. 2000). Later the standard for classification of a new cluster was reduced to at least 15% pairwise distance difference in complete VP1 amino acid sequence (Zheng et al. 2006). However, some NoV variants such as GII.4 undergone a high level of nucleotide substitution over the past three decades in which only 5% of amino acid variation in VP1 could classify GII.4 subclusters (Kroneman et al. 2013, Zheng et al. 2010).

Emerging the recombinants and high diversity of NoV strains, make it challenging to link norovirus cases when multiple strains are involved in an outbreak (Le Guyader et al. 2006b). Recombination hotspots in GII.4 are near the open reading frame 1/2 (ORF1/2) and ORF2/3 overlaps, as well as within ORF2, which encodes the viral capsid, at the junction of the shell and



Figure 5. Schematic representation of the NoV genome and the partial sequence regions (A to E) are been used for genotyping. Numbers refer to the nucleotide position in the GI.1 Norwalk virus genome (GenBank accession number M87661). Source: Mattison et al (2009)

protruding domains (Eden et al. 2013). Norovirus GII.b is another recombinant that contains ORF1 from GII.b and ORF2 from other genotypes. The ORF2 genotype of GII.b recombinants in Australia comprised GII.1 (47.6%), GII.3 (47.6%), and GII.13 (4.8%) for 2002-2005 to GII.1 (2.0%), GII.3 (94.1%), GII.13 (2.0%), and GII.21 (2.0%) for 2006-2011 (Bruggink and Marshall 2013). Fumian et al. (2012) detected a novel inter-genotype recombinant GII.7_GII.20 in stool samples in an Amazon community of Brazil. GII.20 was first observed in Germany, Sweden, and China, and has a low prevalence worldwide. Emergence of novel NoV recombinants contributes to rapid evolution and antigenic variation in response to the community and the emergence of pandemic outbreaks (Eden et al. 2013). Novel GII.P16_GII.3 and GII.P16_GII.13 recombinants are recently reported from a recent norovirus outbreak in Italy that was the first recorded occurrence of GII.P16_GII.13 in Europe (Medici et al. 2014). Presence of recombinants and the continuing emergence of new NoV lineages, led to a proposed dual nomenclature using both ORF1 and VP1 sequences (Kroneman et al. 2013). Later, in a study of a panel of fecal specimens, it was observed that region C typing offered a higher success rate than region D (78%)

over 52%); however, region D provides more information to distinguish the sequence diversity exists within GII.4 strains (Mattison et al. 2009).

The data of NoV outbreaks in the U.S. are deposited and curated by the U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) since 2009 in a comprehensive electronic surveillance network, called *CaliciNet* (Vega et al. 2011). NoV sequences and epidemiologic information in *CaliciNet* are contributed by certified participants who performed molecular typing of NoV strains by using standardized laboratory protocols (RT-PCR methods target the region C or D) followed by DNA sequence analysis of the amplicons (preferably region D). Analyzes of the P2 region (VP1) along with analysis region C or region D is required to differentiate genetically closely related variants, such as GII.4 New Orleans vs. GII.4 Minerva. Another network is *ViroNet* established at the National Microbiology Laboratory in Winnipeg (Canada) for the identification and comparison of NoV outbreak strains (Anonymous 2011). A global network called *NoroNet* expanded by Food-borne Viruses in Europe network (FBVE) is established to share virological, epidemiological and molecular data on NoV (Duizer et al. 2008).

1.4. Clinical features and contamination routes

Norovirus is a major causative agent of viral gastroenteritis in humans, and has caused the most gastroenteritis outbreaks in humans worldwide at least during the last decade (Vega et al. 2014). The strain diversity exists among NoV affect immune evasion and viral adaptation to interaction with a variety of human histo-blood group antigens, and results in the persistence of the pathogen in a community (Iturriza-Gómara and Lopman 2014). After *Clostridium difficile*, NoV has been the second contributor to gastroenteritis-associated deaths in the U.S. from 1999-2007 (Hall et al. 2012). Norovirus ranks fourth among foodborne pathogens in the U.S. in terms of economic burden, which is estimated at \$2.3 billion in a typical year (USDA/ERS 2014). The CDC has estimated that 48% of all reported foodborne outbreaks in the U.S. (2009-2012) with a single known cause are associated with noroviruses. Most NoV contaminations have been occurred during food preparation, in which restaurants were the most common setting (64%) and food workers were implicated as the source in 70% of the outbreaks with the reported contributing factor. Only 67 outbreaks were associated with specific food categories dominated by raw crops (e.g. leafy vegetables) (30%), fruits (21%), and mollusks (19%). NoV outbreaks are more common in winter (55%) during December-February. Approximately 48% of the NoV outbreaks were linked to food in the U.S. (2009-2012) and 0.26% of the reported outbreaks were waterborne (Hall et al. 2014).

There is not any age restriction regarding the illness from human NoV (Thackray et al. 2007). About one third of infected individuals may shed viruses without eliciting symptoms (Graham et al. 1994). NoV commonly causes a mild and severe acute gastroenteritis in humans (Ahmed et al. 2014, Iturriza-Gómara and Lopman 2014). The illness is usually occurs within 15-48 hours. Symptoms include severe vomiting, watery diarrhea, nausea, abdominal cramps, fever and general malaise (Dolin et al. 1972); however, it can be more severe, more complicated and even fatal in immunocompromised and physically stressed individuals such as in healthcare-associated outbreaks (Hutson et al. 2004, Iturriza-Gómara and Lopman 2014).

Although the illness symptom may disappear within a few days, an infected individual may shed viruses 18 hours to 28 days after inoculation. The peak of shedding is observed in fecal samples after resolution of the symptoms with level of about 10¹¹ genomic copies per gram of feces (Atmar et al. 2008). In this regard, an accidental release, one per 1000 people, in the water can have a remarkable impact on the loads of pathogens in the water. Children (less than 18 years old) have higher incidence of viral enteric infections than adults and shed more viruses in

their feces (Gerba 2000). A recent study estimated that the 50% human infectious dose (HID50) of NoV is similar to other RNA viruses and ranges between 3.01 and 3.45 \log_{10} virions (Atmar et al. 2014). The presence of NoV RNA in the serum and cerebral fluids of some patients is reported, as reviewed by Karst et al. (2015).

Human NoV are usually transmitted through oral-fecal routes (Thorne and Goodfellow 2014). Food commodities can be contaminated with pathogenic enteric viruses, and transmit the pathogens to human. Various NoV outbreaks have been associated with the consumption of raw or partially cooked bivalve filter-feeder mollusks grown in contaminated water or the crops irrigated with contaminated water, and the exposure to sewage-polluted drinking or recreational waters. Other transmission routes are through direct contact with infected people or contaminated surfaces that usually result from poor personal hygiene, and the incidental ingestion of aerosolized vomitus particles (Green 2007, Hall et al. 2014, Jaykus 2000). Domestic animals (calves and pigs) or wild animals (rats in sewage systems) have been found to host human NoV indicating the possibility of pathogen transmission to humans (Prato et al. 2013, Smiley et al. 2002, Wang et al. 2005).

NoV infections among the people in healthcare facilities, hospitals and nursing homes are commonly high reaching to a median attack rate of 50% among the patients and customers, according to a systemic review by Harris et al. (2010). Spread of NoV in confined environments such as cruise ships occurs more rapidly among individuals due to increased contacts, shared sanitation facilities, and commonality of food supplies. Occurrence of NoV outbreak among cruise ships passengers has become a burden for truism industry worldwide (Kak 2009). In a survey study of houseboats, NoV was detected on interior of boat surfaces including 83% of bathrooms, 40% of kitchens and 100% of doorknobs (Jones et al. 2007). Cooks and food

handlers who have vomited in sinks, in wastebaskets, and on the floors of their workplace can infect other peoples, contaminate the kitchen environment, and eventually spread the virus (Moe 2009).

1.5. Occurrence in environmental water and wastewater systems

Waters bodies (river, estuarine, well and wastewater) may harbor pathogenic enteric viruses primarily through contamination with human contaminated body fluids and sewage (Anderson et al. 2003, Gentry et al. 2009, Maalouf et al. 2010a, Ueki et al. 2005). The discharge of human wastes into the marine water is subjected to dilution, bio-sedimentation, and degradation of viruses due to sunlight, salinity, pH and temperature. Therefore, NoV is usually found in lower concentrations in surface water than wastewater (Maalouf et al. 2010a). Viruses can be adsorbed onto the suspended solids present in the sewage and discharged to the aquatic environment. The particulate matter either become suspended in the water column, or absorbed onto larger particle and precipitate in the sediment and survive for weeks to months (Bosch et al. 2006, Lees 2000). Clayey to sandy sediments in both freshwater and marine sediments can reside infectious viruses for a couple of months (Bosch et al. 2006, Gerba et al. 1977, Maalouf et al. 2010a, Skraber et al. 2009).

Disturbance of water sediments through currents, storms, or human activities (boating) can suspend the sediments and increase the exposure rate of viruses (Gerba et al. 1977, Le Guyader et al. 2008, Maalouf et al. 2010a). In this regard, biological factors, climate conditions, hydrological and meteorological events (such as rainfall, river flows, storms, sediment erosion, water depth, tidal cycle) and the pattern of impacting pollution sources influence the abundance and temporal distribution of microbial indicators in water and shellfish, reviewed by Campos et

al. (2013). For example, Le Guyader et al. (2006b) found that heavy rain was responsible for a severe contamination of seafood with noroviruses.

Raw sewage and partially treated wastewater have been considered as major sources of environmental contamination with noroviruses and other enteric pathogens (Flannery et al. 2013, Kitajima et al. 2012, Ueki et al. 2005). The presence of NoV in the wastewater treatment plant (WWTP) effluents shows the inefficiency of the complete elimination of NoV by the conventional secondary treatment of wastewater. This indicates that the discharge of both raw and treated sewage introduce enteric pathogens into the environmental waters (Kitajima et al. 2012, Lodder and de Roda Husman 2005). The public health risk associated with the discharge of contaminated wastewater increases during a NoV epidemic case, or the aftermath of a heavy rain that cause overflow of raw or partially treated sewage into the environment (Astrom et al. 2009, Lowther 2011, Westrell et al. 2006).

Secondary treatment of wastewater is a common practice to treat nontoxic sewage from domestic or industrial wastes. The process involves a preliminary removal of the debris and coarse materials, followed by a primary treatment by the physical processes including and screening and sedimentation, followed by biological (e.g. activated sludge, trickling filter and oxidation ponds) and chemical (e.g. disinfection) unit processes and nutrient removal. Chlorination and UV irradiation are two conventionally used methods for the disinfection of wastewater before discharge into the water (Bitton 2011). In general, viruses have shown to be more resistant than bacteria to the UV irradiation or chlorination (Bitton 2011, Francy et al. 2012, Tree et al. 2005). Studies showed that RNA viruses are more resistant than DNA viruses to UV inactivation, as was observed in NoV surrogate, male-specific coliphage, MSC (Rodriguez et al. 2014). Inactivation kinetics of human NoV under UV irradiation resembles other

nonenveloped (+)ssRNA viruses (Park et al. 2011). NoV GI and GII outbreaks due to the contamination of well water have been reported in the U.S., China and Sweden (Anderson et al. 2003, Riera-Montes et al. 2011, Zhou et al. 2012). It has been speculated that sandy, porous soil has low ability for adsorption and subsequently removal of viruses from the well water (Anderson et al. 2003).

Norovirus is more resistant to chlorine treatment of water than many bacteria and viruses (Keswick et al. 1985). Usually $\leq 1 \text{ mg/mL}$ chlorine for 30 min reduces bacterial numbers effectively; however, enteric viruses are more resistant to chlorine (Bitton 2011). Some microorganisms such as feline calicivirus (surrogate for NoV) and *E. coli* are more sensitive to chlorine in which exposure to 30 mg/mL chlorine for 5 min reduced the count for 4 log₁₀; however, MSC showed more resistance to chlorine (Tree et al. 2005). A 4-log₁₀ reduction of NoV GII.4 in drinking water is observed when the viruses were exposed to 0.1 and 0.5 mg/mL free chlorine for 120 and 0.5 min, respectively (Kitajima et al. 2010). Similarly, Shin and Sobsey (2008) reported that NoV GI strain 8FIIa is not highly resistant to free chlorine disinfection of drinking water. However, the aggregation of enteric viruses in water or other wastewater solids reduces the efficacy of chlorine and UV disinfectants, and help viruses maintain their infectivity when discharged in to the environmental waters (Bitton 2011, Keswick et al. 1985, Sobsey et al. 1991, Templeton et al. 2005).

Non-disinfected effluent may have similar prevalence of NoV as the raw sewage (Hewitt et al. 2011). Prevalence and intensity of NoV and enteric viruses in large WWTP (i.e. larger population size) are usually more consistent due to the more frequent occurrence of infection and comparative homogeneity of wastewater (Hewitt et al. 2011). Noroviruses have been found in wastewater influents in Japan at 3.2-5.2 log₁₀ genomic copy (GC)/100mL for NoV GI, and 3.7-

6.0 log₁₀ GC/100mL for NoV GII (Kitajima et al. 2012). Hewitt et al. (2011) observed 1.1-3.6 log₁₀ GC/100mL for GI, and 1.2-4.5 log₁₀ GC/100mL for GII in influent, and 1.2-4.1 log₁₀ GC/100mL for GI and 1.9-4.5 log₁₀ GC/100mL for GII in effluent. Enteric viruses can occur at 1.8-5.7 log₁₀ GC/100mL in the influents and reduce to 0.5-4.3 log₁₀ GC/100mL in effluent, as observed in the study of a WWTP in New Zealand (Hewitt et al. 2011). Symonds et al. (2009) analyzed sewages from 12 WWTP from the coastal U.S. and found adenovirus and picobirnaviruses in 100% of the raw sewages followed by enteroviruses (75%) and NoV (58%). The authors observed fluctuations in the virus prevalence in the effluent across different plants.

1.6. Occurrence in oysters

1.6.1. Oyster biology as relates to virus uptake

Eastern oyster (*Crassostrea virginica*, family *Ostreidae*), also known as the American oyster or Virginia oyster, is a commercial molluscan bivalve well adapted in inhabiting estuarine waters in various climates worldwide (Kennedy et al. 1996). Adult eastern oysters can grow and reproduce well under temperature of 24-26 °C, salinity of 7.5-27 ppt, depth of 0.3-12 m. Louisiana vast coastal wetland area has provided suitable habitats for oysters to thrive, and made the state a leader in the U.S. in terms of the harvest volume and quality accounting for an average of 34% of the nation's harvested oysters. Louisiana Department of Wildlife and Fisheries (LDWF) is estimated 10.9 million pounds of the oysters harvested in 2012 with more than \$35 million annual worth of dockside sales of oysters in Louisiana. The oyster industry utilizes the public oyster grounds both to seed oysters for transplantation to private leases and to harvest sack-sized oysters (\geq 3 inches). Oyster reefs are considered as a key element in estuarine ecosystems by maintaining shorelines, providing hard substrate for other aquatic animals such as invertebrates, and shelter and forage habitat for many species such as crabs, fish, etc.

Additionally, oysters have important role in water quality by filter-feeding from the surrounding water (LDWF 2013).

Oysters store energy mostly as the form of glycogen. Concentration of glycogen affects spawning and gonad maturation (Kennedy et al. 1996). Glycogen concentration in the eastern oysters of Louisiana varies from 467 to 2,960 mg (average of 1,326 mg) per 100g of raw oyster, and depends on the time of the year and the geographical location. The concentration of the glycogen in Louisiana oysters increases from December to May and again reduces from June to November (Sidwell et al. 1979). The spawning peak in Louisiana oyster is in late May, early June and September (Pollard 1973). Growth of oysters depends on environmental conditions, position and density in the reef (Stanely and Sellers 1986). Filter-feeding behavior allows an individual adult oyster to pump about 13 L of water per hour through the gills, and obtain food and necessary oxygen for the metabolism. Three mechanisms are explained for the selection of suspended particles that are 1) preferential clearance on the ctenidia, 2) preingestive clearance on the labial palps, and 3) differential absorption in the gut, also known as post-digestive (Shumway 1985).

Oysters can entrap the viruses from the surrounding water and act as intermediate vector (Wang et al. 2008). Filtration occurs both through physical and ionic entrapment (Maalouf et al. 2010b). A bioaccumulation experiment showed that eastern oysters filter MSC, a surrogate for enteric viruses, with a concentration factor up to 99-fold (Burkhardt and Calci 2000). Surface properties of virus particles, rather than size, influence the bioaccumulation of viruses by filter-feeding marine bivalves. The bioaccumulation capacity of viruses in oysters is high but finite, and depends on the numbers of the sites for virus adsorption and the concentration of virus in the water. Studies showed that the saturation level of reovirus type III and Semliki Forest virus in

New Zealand rock oyster (*C. glomerata*) is 4×10^{10} particles per oyster (Bedford et al. 1978). Various enteric viruses (such as NoV, enterovirus, rotavirus and astrovirus) have been detected in the harvested shellfish in France (Le Guyader et al. 2000).

Similar to NoV, enteroviruses contain a large group of pathogenic enteric viruses from genus Enterovirus (family *Picornaviridae*) and are classified into poliovirus, coxsackievirus, echovirus and the numbered enteroviruses (Fong and Lipp 2005). The genomic size and genomic and capsid structures of enteroviruses is similar to NoV, transmitted by the fecal-oral routes, and responsible for a wide range of rather serious infections in humans with diverse clinical syndromes such as gastroenteritis and meningitis (Fong and Lipp 2005, Khetsuriani et al. 2006).

A bioaccumulation study showed that virus uptake in shellfish is influenced by mucosal acidity. At pH 7.0, poliovirus has the highest affinity to shellfish mucus, but diminishes when the pH is dropped to 3.0. This also can explain the passage of viruses into the stomach and gut in the acidic environment of the digestive tract (Di Girolamo et al. 1977). Studies showed that the gills and digestive tissues of oysters are main tissues for the adsorption of NoV followed by the mantle cilia (Wang et al. 2008). Digestive tissues comprise approximately 10% of the body mass of an adult oyster, and are known as the site where majority of the NoV bind (Schwab et al. 1998). Virus particles bind specifically to the receptors of digestive ducts in midgut, main and secondary ducts and tubules using a carbohydrate structure having a terminal N-acetylgalactosamine residue in an α linkage. This binding site is the same site used for the recognition of human histo-blood group antigens, HBGA (Le Guyader et al. 2006a).

Maalouf et al. (2011) observed that NoV bioaccumulation is highly strain dependent. The GI.1 bioaccumulates in the digestive tissues of oysters on a dose-dependent manner (Maalouf et al. 2011), and has the highest level of ligand expression during the cold months when most of the

outbreaks occur (Maalouf et al. 2010b). However, GII strains bioaccumulate less efficiently in oysters with no seasonal influence. In this regard, GII.4 has lower bioaccumulation efficiency and seasonal effect than GII.3. Furthermore, GII.3 temporarily concentrates in gills and mantle before accumulate in digestive tissues. The authors postulated that binding to the sialic acid-containing ligand that are present almost in all tissues may contribute to the retaining of virus particles in the gills or mantle and result in to rapid destruction (Maalouf et al. 2011). Recently, phagocytic blood cells (hemocytes) of eastern oysters have been found to play role in retention of virus particles including enteric viruses (Provost et al. 2011).

The binding in viruses is so strong that depuration does not eliminate NoV from the contaminated tissues (Le Guyader et al. 2006a). According to the National Shellfish Sanitation Program (NSSP), depuration is the process of reducing the pathogens that may be present in oysters by holding them in a controlled aquatic environment as the treatment process. The current required depuration time for oysters is 44 hours (NSSP 2013). A depuration process of 48 h removes 95% of *E. coli* in oysters, whereas only 7% removal has been observed for NoV GI.1 (Schwab et al. 1998). In another study, a depuration for up to 10 days was not effective to eliminate NoV GII.6 from oysters (Ueki et al. 2007). Inefficient depuration of NoV along with their long-term persistence in shellfish and transmission variations among the strains have led to the conclusion for the presence of more specific mechanisms for NoV bioaccumulation in oysters. If non-specific binding mechanism present, it would be less efficient than specific ligand-mediated binding (Maalouf et al. 2010b). Therefore, the absence of bacterial indicators such as *E. coli* do not guarantee virus-free shellfish, and the health risk to consumers still exists even if the shellfish are considered safe from bacteriological standpoint (Doré et al. 2000).

1.6.2. Outbreaks and health risks

Norovirus outbreaks due to the consumption of raw or partially cooked oysters or other shellfish have been a global issue. Discharge of partially treated wastewater from WWTP or direct sewage discharge from boaters has been associated with the contamination of oysters and the subsequent incidence of gastroenteritis outbreaks (Berg et al. 2000, Ueki et al. 2005).

The occurrence of NoV GI and GII in 3.9% of U.S. market raw oysters has been reported where their levels were 10-100 times lower than the levels detected in outbreak investigations (Woods and Burkhardt III 2010). A two-year survey showed NoV contamination in the 76.2% of oysters sampled from 39 commercial harvesting areas in the U.K. The maximum concentrations of NoV GI and GII was 6.21 and 6.26 log₁₀ genomic copies/100g digestive tissues, respectively, and dominated by GI strains (Lowther et al. 2012b). Norovirus infected 49.4% of the mussels in NW Spain at 5.9×10^3 to 1.6×10^9 RNA copies/g digestive tissue for NoV GI and 6.1×10^3 to 5.4×10^6 RNA copies/g digestive tissue for NoV GII. In this study, a higher contamination rate was observed during cold months i.e. from March to October (Manso and Romalde 2013). Results of a survey in detecting NoV in seven coastal cities in China markets showed that approximately the 13% of shellfish are contaminated with NoV GI.3 and GII.12 dominating by GII.12 (Ma et al. 2013). Similarly, Ma et al. (2013) observed higher densities of NoV in the retail ovsters in China in spring and winter. Even though it is not possible to correlate the concentration of NoV viral genome with the virion infectivity, comparison of NoV RNA presented in non-outbreak samples with those were associated with outbreaks indicates that oysters containing less than 4 log₁₀ NoV RNA copies per 100 gram are less likely to pose health risks to humans (Lowther et al. 2012a).

Other enteric viruses such as hepatitis A virus, enterovirus, rotavirus, astrovirus and adenovirus have been also occasionally detected in oysters worldwide particularly in human sewage impacted areas (DePaola et al. 2010, Le Guyader et al. 2000, Muniain-Mujika et al. 2003). Louisiana oysters harvested from approved areas were linked to hepatitis outbreaks in 1973. It is believed that flooding Mississippi River transferred the fecal pollution into the oyster growing areas on the east side of the river and contaminated the oysters (Mackowiak et al. 1976). In another event, several enteric virus outbreaks in France were associated with the consumption of oysters, which had been harvested following a flood (Le Guyader et al. 2008). Oyster-associated enteric virus outbreaks especially those were linked with sewage contamination commonly caused by multiple NoV strains, or multiple viruses. It has not been confirmed whether infection with multiple viruses contribute to more severe symptoms (Gallimore et al. 2005, Le Guyader et al. 2008).

1.6.3. Intervention techniques in food

Noroviruses are resistant to many environmental stressors, such as multiple freeze-thaw cycles (Richards et al. 2012), short time exposure to high temperatures (60 °C) or acidic condition at pH 2.7 (Green 2007). NoV remains infectious under the natural intrinsic (pH, Aw) and extrinsic (temperature, time, redox potential) conditions associated with food (Jaykus 2000). Non-thermal intervention methods have shown promising results in reducing NoV; however, a few have focused on infectivity of human NoV after treatment. Even though NoV virus-like particles have shown resistance to high-pressure processing (Lou et al. 2012), a clinical trial reported complete inactivation of infectious NoV GII.8IIb in oysters at 600 MPa at 6 °C or 25 °C (Leon et al. 2011). In a similar study, by incorporating porcine gastric mucin (PGM)-conjugated magnetic beads (PGM-MBs) to distinguish infectious and noninfectious NoV, Ye et al. (2014)

reduced >4 \log_{10} of NoV GI and GII in oyster and clams. Cold atmospheric pressure plasma has been successful in reducing NoV load on the contact surfaces; however the application of such techniques on food has yet to be investigated (Ahlfeld et al. 2015). Evidences on the application of compounds such as salt (Park and Ha 2014), mulberry (*Morus alba*) juice (Lee et al. 2014) and persimmon extract (Kamimoto et al. 2014) on reducing NoV and its surrogates in foods have been reported.

1.7. Microbial indicators in shellfish and water

Microbial indicators (such as fecal coliforms and E. coli) have been primarily utilized by regulatory agencies to monitor the sanitary conditions of drinking water, wastewater, recreational waters and oysters in terms of fecal pollution assessment and management practices such as wastewater treatment process control and shellfish harvest water classification (Ashbolt et al. 2001, Louisiana Department of Environmental Quality (LDEQ) 2011, National Shellfish Sanitation Program (NSSP) 2013). According to the Louisiana Water Quality Regulations, the discharges of sanitary publically owned WWTP in the Mississippi River have the fecal coliforms limitation of 200 CFU/100 mL (2.30 log₁₀ CFU/100 mL) on a weekly average and 400 CFU/100 mL (2.60 log₁₀ CFU/100 mL) on a monthly average (LDEQ 2011). Most Probable Number (MPN) criteria of total and fecal coliforms have been established by NSSP to assess the sanitary condition of depurated shellfish and the harvest water. For example, "in using a single dilution, the geometric mean value for the classification standard was required to remain at the level of both the 3 and 5-tube tests (70 MPN/100 mL for total coliforms and 14 MPN/100 mL for fecal coliform organisms in the Approved classification)". Then the measure of variability is adjusted using the upper two-sided 95% confidence limits (NSSP 2013).

Fecal coliforms and E. coli are indigenous members of the intestinal flora of healthy humans and warm-blooded animals (Leclerc et al. 2001, Tallon et al. 2005). Other microbial indicators such as bacteroides, enterococci, sulphite-reducing clostridia, Clostridium perfringens and bacteriophages have been suggested as alternative fecal indicators (Ashbolt et al. 2001). Coliphages are viruses that infect E. coli and are naturally present in the intestinal tract of animals. They have been intensively used for source tracking purposes. Male-specific coliphages (MSC or FRNA bacteriophages), a subset of coliphages, resembles size and genome characteristics of many enteric viruses, and have been proposed as a suitable viral indicator of fecal contamination and human enteric virus (including NoV) in oysters and water (Brion et al. 2002, Chung et al. 1998, DePaola et al. 2010, Doré et al. 2000, Rodriguez et al. 2014). The concentration of microbial indicators (E. coli, total coliforms and MSC) in raw sewage is usually almost constant, and does not reflect the occurrence of human NoV in the final effluent but may indicate fecal population carriage rate (Haramoto et al. 2006, Wu et al. 2011). Contribution of human sewage water to viral contamination of shellfish growing areas and the occurrence of outbreak has led to the development of coliphages criteria for monitoring swage impacts on shellfish and shellfish growing waters (Maalouf et al. 2010a). Sewage-contaminated water has a high potential of harboring pathogenic enteric viruses such as NoV, hepatitis A virus, enteroviruses and rotaviruses (Wyer et al. 2012).

The risk associated with the consumption of raw shellfish contaminated with pathogenic enteric viruses still exits even when the oysters may be considered bacteriologically safe (DePaola et al. 2010, Myrmel et al. 2004). There is evidence of shellfish-associated NoV outbreaks where harvest water was negative for NoV (McIntyre et al. 2012). Monitoring the microbial indicators in shellfish showed that changes in MSC correlates with NoV suggesting its

25
potential as a useful indicator of virus contamination and depuration process efficiency (Doré et al. 2000). A 50 PFU limit of MSC in 100g of shellfish has been proposed by NSSP to assess the occurrence of raw untreated sewage contamination and emergency closure of the growing area (NSSP 2013). A drawback of using MSC is that not all of these coliphages are human specific (Havelaar et al. 1986) and only a subgroup of MSC (Type III) has found to be closely related to the release of human fecal wastes in water (Brion et al. 2002).

However, direct screening of pathogenic human enteric viruses in shellfish has been found as the most promising human-specific viral marker in environmental waters and shellfish (DePaola et al. 2010, Muniain-Mujika et al. 2003, Myrmel et al. 2004, Wong et al. 2012). Enteroviruses and adenoviruses, just as other types of viruses, have a narrow host range. For example, human enteroviruses infect only humans and cannot cause infection in cattle or fowl and vice versa (Fong and Lipp 2005). The health risks associated with pathogens originated from nonhuman animal wastes are less well investigated (Bosch et al. 2006).

1.8. Justification

Several viral gastroenteritis outbreaks worldwide have been associated with the direct or indirect human exposure to raw or partially treated sewage, which usually contain high concentrations of various types of pathogenic enteric viruses, in particular noroviruses. Filterfeeding molluscan shellfish such as oysters and clams have the ability to concentrate small particles including virus particles from the surrounding waters, and transmit to humans. In the recent years, the U.S. FDA has reported several norovirus outbreaks in which they were traced back to Louisiana oysters following the analysis of fecal samples from the infected individuals and tracing back the cases to the potential food sources were consumed. To date, no report was found in the literature to directly link a NoV outbreak with the oysters were contaminated in the growing waters in Louisiana.

Regulatory agencies in Louisiana and several states have utilized bacterial indicators of fecal contamination (total coliforms, fecal coliforms and *Escherichia coli*) as the microbial criteria to monitor sanitary conditions of water and shellfish. Recently, the US National Shellfish Sanitation Program proposed a microbial limit for male-specific coliphage in oysters for reopening areas were closed due to high impact sewage pollutions. There is limited information available on the current sanitary status of Louisiana eastern oysters harvested from commercial areas. This will help regulatory agencies to have hands-on information on the safety of Louisiana oysters, and to establish more effective sanitary measures to reduce public health risks and the burden of foodborne diseases associated with enteric viruses. The objectives of the study was to identify shellfish harvest areas that will reflect varying levels of human fecal contamination, perform bi-weekly survey of selected shellfish harvest waters¹ and shellfish for noroviruses, pathogenic enteric viruses and microbial indicators (aerobic plate count, fecal coliforms, and *E. coli* and coliphages), evaluate the correlation between pathogens and the microbial indicators, and identify the dominant NoV genotypes found in the water and/or oysters.

The second part of this study aimed to investigate the prevalence and densities of noroviruses and pathogenic enteroviruses in a secondary wastewater treatment plant in Louisiana. Human sewage is a major source of environmental contaminations with enteric

27

¹ The data from the harvest water analyses are shared by my research collaborator, Morgan Maite, from a portion of her Ph.D. research under Dr. Marlene Janes's (2012-current).

pathogens. Discharge of raw or partially treated sewage into the recreational, irrigation or oyster growing waters, or any cross contamination with drinking water can have serious health risk consequences. The purpose of this research was to investigate the pathogenic enteric viruses load in the influent and effluent wastewater treatment plant in Louisiana on a monthly basis within a one-year period to determine the viral and microbial indicators entering the plant and discharging into the Mississippi River. The objectives were to determine microbial removal, the correlation of microbial indicators with the enteric pathogens, and identify the dominant norovirus genotypes the wastewater system. The outcomes of this research will not only help regulatory agencies and plant managers to enhance the treatment efficiency, and implement more reliable microbial criteria, it can help health professionals to better understand the prevalence and intensity of the pathogenic enteric viruses circulate within a community, and help the development of more efficient vaccines and cell culture systems.

1.9. References

- Ahlfeld, B., Li, Y., Boulaaba, A., Binder, A., Schotte, U., Zimmermann, J.L., Morfill, G. and Klein, G. (2015) Inactivation of a foodborne norovirus outbreak strain with nonthermal atmospheric pressure plasma. mBio 6(1), e02300-02314. doi: 10.1128/mBio.02300-14.
- Ahmed, S.M., Hall, A.J., Robinson, A.E., Verhoef, L., Premkumar, P., Parashar, U.D., Koopmans, M. and Lopman, B.A. (2014) Global prevalence of norovirus in cases of gastroenteritis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. The Lancet Infectious Diseases 14(8), 725-730. doi: 10.1016/S1473-3099(14)70767-4.
- Anderson, A.D., Heryford, A.G., Sarisky, J.P., Higgins, C., Monroe, S.S., Beard, R.S., Newport, C.M., Cashdollar, J.L., Fout, G.S., Robbins, D.E., Seys, S.A., Musgrave, K.J., Medus, C., Vinjé, J., Bresee, J.S., Mainzer, H.M. and Glass, R.I. (2003) A waterborne outbreak of Norwalk-like virus among snowmobilers-Wyoming, 2001. The Journal of Infectious Diseases 187(2), 303-306. doi: 10.1086/346239.
- Anonymous (2011) *ViroNet*, Health Canada (url: http://www.hc-sc.gc.ca/sr-sr/activ/micro/vironetwork-reseaudevirologie-eng.php), Accessed: February 22, 2015.
- Ashbolt, N.J., Grabow, W.O.K. and Snozzi, M. (2001) Indicators of microbial water quality. *In*: Water quality: Guidelines, standards and health. Assessment of risk and risk management

for water-related infectious disease. Fewtrell, L. and Bartram, J. (eds), pp. 289-316, IWA Publishing, Cornwall, UK.

- Astrom, J., Pettersson, T.J., Stenstrom, T.A. and Bergstedt, O. (2009) Variability analysis of pathogen and indicator loads from urban sewer systems along a river. Water Science and Technology 59(2), 203-212. doi: 10.2166/wst.2009.860.
- Atmar, R.L., Opekun, A.R., Gilger, M.A., Estes, M.K., Crawford, S.E., Neill, F.H. and Graham, D.Y. (2008) Norwalk virus shedding after experimental human infection. Emerging Infectious Diseases 14(10), 1553-1557. doi: 10.3201/eid1410.080117.
- Atmar, R.L., Opekun, A.R., Gilger, M.A., Estes, M.K., Crawford, S.E., Neill, F.H., Ramani, S., Hill, H., Ferreira, J. and Graham, D.Y. (2014) Determination of the 50% human infectious dose for Norwalk virus. The Journal of Infectious Diseases 209(7), 1016-1022. doi: 10.1093/infdis/jit620.
- Bedford, A.J., Williams, G. and Bellamy, A.R. (1978) Virus accumulation by the rock oyster *Crassostrea glomerata*. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 35(6), 1012-1018.
- Berg, D.E., Kohn, M.A., Farley, T.A. and McFarland, L.M. (2000) Multi-state outbreaks of acute gastroenteritis traced to fecal-contaminated oysters harvested in Louisiana. The Journal of Infectious Diseases 181 Suppl 2, S381-386. doi: 10.1086/315581.
- Bertolotti-Ciarlet, A., White, L.J., Chen, R., Prasad, B.V. and Estes, M.K. (2002) Structural requirements for the assembly of Norwalk virus-like particles. Journal of Virology 76(8), 4044-4055. doi: 10.1128/JVI.76.8.4044-4055.2002.
- Bitton, G. (2011) Wastewater microbiology, pp. 217-266, 269-280, John Wiley & Sons, Hoboken, NJ.
- Bok, K., Prikhodko, V.G., Green, K.Y. and Sosnovtsev, S.V. (2009) Apoptosis in murine norovirus-infected RAW264.7 cells is associated with downregulation of survivin. Journal of Virology 83(8), 3647-3656. doi: 10.1128/JVI.02028-08.
- Bosch, A., Pintó, R.M. and Abad, F.X. (2006) Survival and transport of enteric viruses in the environment. *In*: Viruses in Foods. Goyal, S.M. (ed), pp. 151-187, Springer, New York, NY.
- Brion, G.M., Meschke, J.S. and Sobsey, M.D. (2002) F-specific RNA coliphages: occurrence, types, and survival in natural waters. Water Research 36(9), 2419-2425. doi: 10.1016/S0043-1354(01)00547-4.
- Bruggink, L.D. and Marshall, J.A. (2013) Altered patterns of norovirus GII.b recombinant forms in gastroenteritis outbreaks in victoria, Australia, 2002–2005 compared to 2006–2011. Journal of Medical Microbiology 85(8), 1433-1443. doi: 10.1002/jmv.23633.
- Burkhardt, W. and Calci, K.R. (2000) Selective accumulation may account for shellfishassociated viral illness. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 66(4), 1375-1378.

- Campos, C.J.A., Kershaw, S.R. and Lee, R.J. (2013) Environmental influences on faecal indicator organisms in coastal waters and their accumulation in bivalve shellfish. Estuaries and Coasts 36(4), 834-853. doi: 10.1007/s12237-013-9599-y.
- Chung, H., Jaykus, L.A., Lovelace, G. and Sobsey, M.D. (1998) Bacteriophages and bacteria as indicators of enteric viruses in oysters and their harvest waters. Water Science and Technology 38(12), 37-44. doi: 10.1016/S0273-1223(98)00797-5.
- Clarke, I.N. and Lambden, P.R. (1997) The molecular biology of caliciviruses. The Journal of General Virology 78 (Pt 2), 291-301.
- DePaola, A., Jones, J.L., Woods, J., Burkhardt, W., 3rd, Calci, K.R., Krantz, J.A., Bowers, J.C., Kasturi, K., Byars, R.H., Jacobs, E., Williams-Hill, D. and Nabe, K. (2010) Bacterial and viral pathogens in live oysters: 2007 United States market survey. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 76(9), 2754-2768. doi: 10.1128/AEM.02590-09.
- Di Girolamo, R., Liston, J. and Matches, J. (1977) Ionic bonding, the mechanism of viral uptake by shellfish mucus. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 33(1), 19-25.
- Dolin, R., Blacklow, N.R., DuPont, H., Buscho, R.F., Wyatt, R.G., Kasel, J.A., Hornick, R. and Chanock, R.M. (1972) Biological properties of Norwalk agent of acute infectious nonbacterial gastroenteritis. Experimental Biology and Medicine 140(2), 578-583. doi: 10.3181/00379727-140-36508.
- Doré, W.J., Henshilwood, K. and Lees, D.N. (2000) Evaluation of F-specific RNA bacteriophage as a candidate human enteric virus indicator for bivalve molluscan shellfish. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 66(4), 1280-1285. doi: 10.1128/AEM.66.4.1280-1285.2000.
- Duizer, E., Kroneman, A., Siebenga, J., Verhoef, L., Vennema, H., Koopmans, M. and network, F. (2008) Typing database for noroviruses. EuroSurveilllance 13(19).
- Eden, J.-S., Tanaka, M.M., Boni, M.F., Rawlinson, W.D. and White, P.A. (2013) Recombination within the Pandemic Norovirus GII.4 Lineage. Journal of Virology 87(11). doi: 10.1128/jvi.03464-12.
- Flannery, J., Keaveney, S., Rajko-Nenow, P., O'Flaherty, V. and Doré, W. (2013) Norovirus and FRNA bacteriophage determined by RT-qPCR and infectious FRNA bacteriophage in wastewater and oysters. Water Research 47(14), 5222-5231. doi:10.1016/j.watres.2013.06.008.
- Fong, T.-T. and Lipp, E.K. (2005) Enteric viruses of humans and animals in aquatic environments: health risks, detection, and potential water quality assessment tools. Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews 69(2), 357-371. doi: 10.1128/MMBR.69.2.357-371.2005.
- Fukuda, S., Sasaki, Y., Kuwayama, M. and Miyazaki, K. (2007) Simultaneous detection and genogroup-screening test for norovirus genogroups I and II from fecal specimens in

single tube by reverse transcription- loop-mediated isothermal amplification assay. Microbiology and Immunology 51(5), 547-550.

- Fumian, T.M., Aragao, G.C., Mascarenhas, J.D., Kaiano, J.H., Siqueira, J.A., Soares, L.S., Linhares, A.C. and Gabbay, Y.B. (2012) Detection of a novel recombinant strain of norovirus in an African-descendant community from the Amazon region of Brazil in 2008. Archives of Virology. doi: 10.1007/s00705-012-1428-2.
- Gallimore, C.I., Cheesbrough, J.S., Lamden, K., Bingham, C. and Gray, J.J. (2005) Multiple norovirus genotypes characterised from an oyster-associated outbreak of gastroenteritis. International Journal of Food Microbiology 103(3), 323-330. doi:10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2005.02.003.
- Geginat, G., Kaiser, D. and Schrempf, S. (2012) Evaluation of third-generation ELISA and a rapid immunochromatographic assay for the detection of norovirus infection in fecal samples from inpatients of a German tertiary care hospital. European Journal of Clinical Microbiology & Infectious Diseases 31(5), 733-737. doi: 10.1007/s10096-011-1366-z.
- Gentry, J., Vinjé, J., Guadagnoli, D. and Lipp, E.K. (2009) Norovirus distribution within an estuarine environment. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 75(17), 5474-5480. doi: 10.1128/AEM.00111-09.
- Gerba, C.P. (2000) Assessment of enteric pathogen shedding by bathers during recreational activity and its impact on water quality. Quantitative Microbiology 2, 55-68. doi: 10.1023/A:1010000230103.
- Gerba, C.P., Smith, E.M. and Melnick, J.L. (1977) Development of a quantitative method for detecting enteroviruses in estuarine sediments. Applied and environmental Microbiology 34(2), 158-163.
- Glass, P.J., White, L.J., Ball, J.M., Leparc-Goffart, I., Hardy, M.E. and Estes, M.K. (2000) Norwalk virus open reading frame 3 encodes a minor structural protein. Journal of Virology 74(14), 6581-6591. doi: 10.1128/JVI.74.14.6581-6591.2000.
- Graham, D.Y., Jiang, X., Tanaka, T., Opekun, A.R., Madore, H.P. and Estes, M.K. (1994) Norwalk virus infection of volunteers: new insights based on improved assays. The Journal of Infectious Diseases 170(1), 34-43.
- Green, K.Y. (2007) Caliciviridae: the noroviruses. *In*: Fields Virology. Knipe, D.M. and Howley, P.M. (eds), pp. 949-979, Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, Philadelphia, PA.
- Greenberg, H.B., Valdesuso, J.R., Kalica, A.R., Wyatt, R.G., McAuliffe, V.J., Kapikian, A.Z. and Chanock, R.M. (1981) Proteins of Norwalk virus. Journal of Virology 37(3), 994-999.
- Hall, A.J., Curns, A.T., McDonald, L.C., Parashar, U.D. and Lopman, B.A. (2012) The roles of *Clostridium difficile* and norovirus among gastroenteritis-associated deaths in the United States, 1999–2007. Clinical Infectious Diseases 55(2), 216-223. doi: 10.1093/cid/cis386.

- Hall, A.J., Wikswo, M.E., Pringle, K., Gould, L.H., Parashar, U.D. and Division of Viral Diseases - National Center for Immunization and Respiratory Diseases - CDC (2014) Vital signs: foodborne norovirus outbreaks - United States, 2009-2012. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report 63(22), 491-495.
- Haramoto, E., Katayama, H., Oguma, K., Yamashita, H., Tajima, A., Nakajima, H. and Ohgaki, S. (2006) Seasonal profiles of human noroviruses and indicator bacteria in a wastewater treatment plant in Tokyo, Japan. Water Science and Technology 54(11-12), 301-308.
- Hardy, M.E. (2005) Norovirus protein structure and function. Federation of European Microbiological Societies Microbiology Letters 253(1), 1-8. doi: 10.1016/j.femsle.2005.08.031.
- Hardy, M.E., White, L.J., Ball, J.M. and Estes, M.K. (1995) Specific proteolytic cleavage of recombinant Norwalk virus capsid protein. Journal of Virology 69(3), 1693-1698.
- Harris, J., Lopman, B. and O'Brien, S. (2010) Infection control measures for norovirus: a systematic review of outbreaks in semi-enclosed settings. Journal of Hospital Infection 74(1), 1-9. doi:10.1016/j.jhin.2009.07.025.
- Havelaar, A.H., Furuse, K. and Hogeboom, W.M. (1986) Bacteriophages and indicator bacteria in human and animal faeces. Journal of Applied Bacteriology 60(3), 255-262. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2672.1986.tb01081.x.
- Hewitt, J., Leonard, M., Greening, G.E. and Lewis, G.D. (2011) Influence of wastewater treatment process and the population size on human virus profiles in wastewater. Water Research 45(18), 6267-6276. doi: 10.1016/j.watres.2011.09.029.
- Huang, P., Farkas, T., Marionneau, S., Zhong, W., Ruvoen-Clouet, N., Morrow, A.L., Altaye, M., Pickering, L.K., Newburg, D.S., LePendu, J. and Jiang, X. (2003) Noroviruses bind to human ABO, Lewis, and secretor histo-blood group antigens: identification of 4 distinct strain-specific patterns. The Journal of Infectious Diseases 188(1), 19-31. doi: 10.1086/375742.
- Huang, P., Farkas, T., Zhong, W., Tan, M., Thornton, S., Morrow, A.L. and Jiang, X. (2005) Norovirus and histo-blood group antigens: demonstration of a wide spectrum of strain specificities and classification of two major binding groups among multiple binding patterns. Journal of Virology 79(11), 6714-6722. doi: 10.1128/JVI.79.11.6714-6722.2005.
- Hutson, A.M., Atmar, R.L. and Estes, M.K. (2004) Norovirus disease: changing epidemiology and host susceptibility factors. Trends in Microbiology 12(6), 279-287. doi: 10.1016/j.tim.2004.04.005.
- Hutson, A.M., Atmar, R.L., Marcus, D.M. and Estes, M.K. (2003) Norwalk virus-like particle hemagglutination by binding to h histo-blood group antigens. Journal of Virology 77(1), 405-415. doi: 10.1128/JVI.77.1.405-415.2003.

- Iturriza-Gómara, M. and Lopman, B. (2014) Norovirus in healthcare settings. Current Opinion in Infectious Diseases 27(5), 437.
- Jaykus, L.A. (2000) Enteric viruses as "emerging" agents of foodborne disease. Irish Journal of Agriculture and Food Research 39, 245-255.
- Jiang, X., Wang, M., Graham, D.Y. and Estes, M.K. (1992) Expression, self-assembly, and antigenicity of the Norwalk virus capsid protein. Journal of Virology 66(11), 6527-6532.
- Jones, E.L., Kramer, A., Gaither, M. and Gerba, C.P. (2007) Role of fomite contamination during an outbreak of norovirus on houseboats. International Journal of Environmental Health Research 17(2), 123-131. doi: 10.1080/09603120701219394.
- Jones, M.K., Watanabe, M., Zhu, S., Graves, C.L., Keyes, L.R., Grau, K.R., Gonzalez-Hernandez, M.B., Iovine, N.M., Wobus, C.E. and Vinjé, J. (2014) Enteric bacteria promote human and mouse norovirus infection of B cells. Science 346(6210), 755-759. doi: : 10.1126/science.1257147.
- Kageyama, T., Kojima, S., Shinohara, M., Uchida, K., Fukushi, S., Hoshino, F.B., Takeda, N. and Katayama, K. (2003) Broadly reactive and highly sensitive assay for Norwalk-like viruses based on real-time quantitative reverse transcription-PCR. Journal of Clinical Microbiology 41(4), 1548-1557. doi: 10.1128/JCM.41.4.1548-1557.2003.
- Kak, V. (2009) Infections on Cruise Ships. *In*: Infections of Leisure. Schlossberg, D.L. (ed), pp. 377-383, ASM Press, Washington, DC.
- Kamimoto, M., Nakai, Y., Tsuji, T., Shimamoto, T. and Shimamoto, T. (2014) Antiviral effects of persimmon extract on human norovirus and its surrogate, bacteriophage MS2. Journal of Food Science 79(5), M941-M946. doi: 10.1111/1750-3841.12462.
- Kapikian, A.Z. (2000) The discovery of the 27-nm Norwalk virus: an historic perspective. The Journal of Infectious Diseases 181 Suppl 2, S295-302. doi: 10.1086/315584.
- Kapikian, A.Z., Gerin, J.L., Wyatt, R.G., Thornhill, T.S. and Chanock, R.M. (1973) Density in cesium chloride of the 27 nm "8FIIa" particle associated with acute infectious nonbacterial gastroenteritis: determination by ultra-centrifugation and immune electron microscopy. Proceedings of the Society for Experimental Biology and Medicine 142(3), 874-877.
- Kapikian, A.Z., Wyatt, R.G., Dolin, R., Thornhill, T.S., Kalica, A.R. and Chanock, R.M. (1972) Visualization by immune electron microscopy of a 27-nm particle associated with acute infectious nonbacterial gastroenteritis. Journal of Virology 10(5), 1075-1081.
- Karst, S.M., Wobus, C.E., Goodfellow, I.G., Green, K.Y. and Virgin, H.W. (2014) Advances in norovirus biology. Cell Host & Microbe 15(6), 668-680. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2014.05.015.

- Karst, S.M., Zhu, S. and Goodfellow, I.G. (2015) The molecular pathology of noroviruses. The Journal of Pathology 235(2), 206-216. doi: 10.1002/path.4463.
- Kennedy, V.S., Newell, R.I. and Eble, A.F. (1996) The eastern oyster: Crassostrea virginica, pp., University of Maryland Sea Grant College (available at <u>http://www.dnr.state.md.us/irc/docs/00000260_03.pdf</u>, accessed on March 04, 2015).
- Keswick, B.H., Satterwhite, T.K., Johnson, P.C., DuPont, H.L., Secor, S.L., Bitsura, J.A., Gary, G.W. and Hoff, J.C. (1985) Inactivation of Norwalk virus in drinking water by chlorine. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 50(2), 261-264.
- Khetsuriani, N., Lamonte-Fowlkes, A., Oberst, S. and Pallansch, M.A. (2006) Enterovirus surveillance United States, 1970-2005. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report Surveillance Summaries 55(8), 1-20.
- Kitajima, M., Haramoto, E., Phanuwan, C., Katayama, H. and Furumai, H. (2012) Molecular detection and genotyping of human noroviruses in influent and effluent water at a wastewater treatment plant in Japan. Journal of Applied Microbiology 112(3), 605-613. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2672.2012.05231.x.
- Kitajima, M., Tohya, Y., Matsubara, K., Haramoto, E., Utagawa, E. and Katayama, H. (2010) Chlorine inactivation of human norovirus, murine norovirus and poliovirus in drinking water. Letters in Applied Microbiology 51(1), 119-121. doi: 10.1111/j.1472-765X.2010.02869.x.
- Knight, A., Li, D., Uyttendaele, M. and Jaykus, L.A. (2013) A critical review of methods for detecting human noroviruses and predicting their infectivity. Critical Reviews in Microbiology 39(3), 295-309. doi: 10.3109/1040841X.2012.709820.
- Kroneman, A., Vega, E., Vennema, H., Vinjé, J., White, P.A., Hansman, G., Green, K., Martella, V., Katayama, K. and Koopmans, M. (2013) Proposal for a unified norovirus nomenclature and genotyping. Archives of Virology 158(10), 2059-2068. doi: 10.1007/s00705-013-1708-5.
- Lamhoujeb, S., Charest, H., Fliss, I., Ngazoa, S. and Jean, J. (2009) Real-time molecular beacon NASBA for rapid and sensitive detection of norovirus GII in clinical samples. Canadian Journal of Microbiology 55(12), 1375-1380. doi: 10.1139/W09-105.
- Le Guyader, F., Haugarreau, L., Miossec, L., Dubois, E. and Pommepuy, M. (2000) Three-year study to assess human enteric viruses in shellfish. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 66(8), 3241-3248. doi: 10.1128/AEM.66.8.3241-3248.2000.
- Le Guyader, F., Loisy, F., Atmar, R.L., Hutson, A.M., Estes, M.K., Ruvoen-Clouet, N., Pommepuy, M. and Le Pendu, J. (2006a) Norwalk virus-specific binding to oyster digestive tissues. Emerging Infectious Diseases 12(6), 931-936. doi:10.3201/eid1206.051519.

- Le Guyader, F.S., Bon, F., DeMedici, D., Parnaudeau, S., Bertone, A., Crudeli, S., Doyle, A., Zidane, M., Suffredini, E., Kohli, E., Maddalo, F., Monini, M., Gallay, A., Pommepuy, M., Pothier, P. and Ruggeri, F.M. (2006b) Detection of multiple noroviruses associated with an international gastroenteritis outbreak linked to oyster consumption. Journal of Clinical Microbiology 44(11), 3878-3882. doi: 10.1128/JCM.01327-06.
- Le Guyader, F.S., Le Saux, J.C., Ambert-Balay, K., Krol, J., Serais, O., Parnaudeau, S., Giraudon, H., Delmas, G., Pommepuy, M., Pothier, P. and Atmar, R.L. (2008) Aichi virus, norovirus, astrovirus, enterovirus, and rotavirus involved in clinical cases from a French oyster-related gastroenteritis outbreak. Journal of Clinical Microbiology 46(12), 4011-4017. doi: 10.1128/JCM.01044-08.
- Leclerc, H., Mossel, D., Edberg, S. and Struijk, C. (2001) Advances in the bacteriology of the coliform group: their suitability as markers of microbial water safety. Annual Reviews in Microbiology 55(1), 201-234. doi: 10.1146/annurev.micro.55.1.201.
- Lee, J.-H., Bae, S.Y., Oh, M., Kim, K.H. and Chung, M.S. (2014) Antiviral effects of mulberry (*Morus alba*) juice and its fractions on foodborne viral surrogates. Foodborne Pathogens and Disease 11(3), 224-229. doi: 10.1089/fpd.2013.1633.
- Lees, D. (2000) Viruses and bivalve shellfish. International Journal of Food Microbiology 59(1-2), 81-116. doi:10.1016/S0168-1605(00)00248-8.
- Leon, J.S., Kingsley, D.H., Montes, J.S., Richards, G.P., Lyon, G.M., Abdulhafid, G.M., Seitz, S.R., Fernandez, M.L., Teunis, P.F., Flick, G.J. and Moe, C.L. (2011) Randomized, double-blinded clinical trial for human norovirus inactivation in oysters by high hydrostatic pressure processing. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 77(15), 5476-5482. doi: 10.1128/AEM.02801-10.
- Lodder, W.J. and de Roda Husman, A.M. (2005) Presence of noroviruses and other enteric viruses in sewage and surface waters in The Netherlands. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 71(3), 1453-1461. doi: 10.1128/AEM.71.3.1453-1461.2005.
- Lou, F., Huang, P., Neetoo, H., Gurtler, J.B., Niemira, B.A., Chen, H., Jiang, X. and Li, J. (2012) High-pressure inactivation of human norovirus virus-like particles provides evidence that the capsid of human norovirus is highly pressure resistant. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 78(15), 5320-5327. doi: 10.1128/AEM.00532-12.
- Louisiana Department of Environmental Quality (LDEQ) (2011) Title 33. Environmental Quality (Available at <u>http://www.deq.louisiana.gov/portal/tabid/1674/Default.aspx</u>, accessed on March 04, 2015), p. 397.
- Louisiana Department of Wildlife and Fisheries (2013) Oyster stock assessment report of the public oyster seed areas of Louisiana seed grounds and seed reservations. Oyster data report series. Louisiana Department of Wildlife and Fisheries. (Available at http://www.wlf.louisiana.gov/, accessed on March 04, 2015), 128p.

- Lowther, J. (2011) Investigation into the levels of norovirus in influent and treated wastewater samples from a sewage treatment works, FSA Project Code: FS235003 (P01009); variation, CEFAS Weymouth Laboratory, Weymouth, UK.
- Lowther, J.A., Gustar, N.E., Hartnell, R.E. and Lees, D.N. (2012a) Comparison of norovirus RNA levels in outbreak-related oysters with background environmental levels. Journal of Food Protection 75(2), 389-393. doi: 10.4315/0362-028X.JFP-11-360
- Lowther, J.A., Gustar, N.E., Powell, A.L., Hartnell, R.E. and Lees, D.N. (2012b) Two-year systematic study to assess norovirus contamination in oysters from commercial harvesting areas in the United Kingdom. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 78(16), 5812-5817. doi: 10.1128/AEM.01046-12.
- Ma, L.P., Zhao, F., Yao, L., Li, X.G., Zhou, D.Q. and Zhang, R.L. (2013) The presence of genogroup II norovirus in retail shellfish from seven coastal cities in China. Food and Environmental Virology 5(2), 81-86. doi: 10.1007/s12560-013-9102-8.
- Maalouf, H., Pommepuy, M. and Le Guyader, F.S. (2010a) Environmental conditions leading to shellfish contamination and related outbreaks Food and Environmental Virology 2(3), 136-145. doi: 10.1007/s12560-010-9043-4.
- Maalouf, H., Schaeffer, J., Parnaudeau, S., Le Pendu, J., Atmar, R.L., Crawford, S.E. and Le Guyader, F.S. (2011) Strain-dependent norovirus bioaccumulation in oysters. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 77(10), 3189-3196. doi: 10.1128/AEM.03010-10
- Maalouf, H., Zakhour, M., Le Pendu, J., Le Saux, J.C., Atmar, R.L. and Le Guyader, F.S. (2010b) Distribution in tissue and seasonal variation of norovirus genogroup I and II ligands in oysters. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 76(16), 5621-5630. doi: 10.1128/AEM.00148-10.
- Mackowiak, P.A., Caraway, C.T. and Portinoy, B.L. (1976) Oyster-associated hepatitis: lessons from the Louisiana experience. American Journal of Epidemiology 103(2), 181-191.
- Manso, C.F. and Romalde, J.L. (2013) Detection and characterization of hepatitis A virus and norovirus in mussels from Galicia (NW Spain). Food and Environmental Virology 5(2), 110-118. doi: 10.1007/s12560-013-9108-2.
- Martínez, M.A., de los Dolores Soto-del, M., Gutiérrez, R.M., Chiu, C.Y., Greninger, A.L., Contreras, J.F., López, S., Arias, C.F. and Isa, P. (2015) DNA microarray for detection of gastrointestinal viruses. Journal of Clinical Microbiology 53(1), 136-145. doi: 10.1128/JCM.01317-14.
- Mattison, K., Grudeski, E., Auk, B., Charest, H., Drews, S.J., Fritzinger, A., Gregoricus, N., Hayward, S., Houde, A., Lee, B.E., Pang, X.L., Wong, J., Booth, T.F. and Vinjé, J. (2009) Multicenter comparison of two norovirus ORF2-based genotyping protocols. Journal of Clinical Microbiology 47(12), 3927-3932. doi: 10.1128/JCM.00497-09.

- McFadden, N., Bailey, D., Carrara, G., Benson, A., Chaudhry, Y., Shortland, A., Heeney, J., Yarovinsky, F., Simmonds, P., Macdonald, A. and Goodfellow, I. (2011) Norovirus regulation of the innate immune response and apoptosis occurs via the product of the alternative open reading frame 4. PLoS Pathogens 7(12), e1002413. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1002413.
- McIntyre, L., Galanis, E., Mattison, K., Mykytczuk, O., Buenaventura, E., Wong, J., Prystajecky, N., Ritson, M., Stone, J., Moreau, D., Youssef, A. and Outbreak Investigation Team (2012) Multiple clusters of norovirus among shellfish consumers linked to symptomatic oyster harvesters. Journal of Food Protection 75(9), 1715-1720. doi: 10.4315/0362-028X.JFP-12-113.
- Medici, M.C., Tummolo, F., Martella, V., Giammanco, G.M., De Grazia, S., Arcangeletti, M.C., De Conto, F., Chezzi, C. and Calderaro, A. (2014) Novel recombinant GII.P16_GII.13 and GII.P16_GII.3 norovirus strains in Italy. Virus Research 188C, 142-145. doi: 10.1016/j.virusres.2014.04.005.
- Mesquita, J.R., Barclay, L., Nascimento, M.S. and Vinje, J. (2010) Novel norovirus in dogs with diarrhea. Emerging Infectious Diseases 16(6), 980-982. doi: 10.3201/eid1606.091861.
- Moe, C.L. (2009) Preventing norovirus transmission: how should we handle food handlers? Clinical Infectious Diseases 48(1), 38-40. doi: 10.1086/594119.
- Muniain-Mujika, I., Calvo, M., Lucena, F. and Girones, R. (2003) Comparative analysis of viral pathogens and potential indicators in shellfish. International Journal of Food Microbiology 83(1), 75-85. doi: 10.1016/S0168-1605(02)00324-0.
- Myrmel, M., Berg, E.M., Rimstad, E. and Grinde, B. (2004) Detection of enteric viruses in shellfish from the Norwegian coast. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 70(5), 2678-2684. doi: 10.1128/AEM.70.5.2678-2684.2004.
- National Shellfish Sanitation Program (NSSP) (2013) Guide for the Control of Molluscan Shellfish, pp., Department of Health and Human Services-Public Health Service-Food and Drug Administration, Washington, D.C.
- Park, G.W., Linden, K.G. and Sobsey, M.D. (2011) Inactivation of murine norovirus, feline calicivirus and echovirus 12 as surrogates for human norovirus (NoV) and coliphage (F+) MS2 by ultraviolet light (254 nm) and the effect of cell association on UV inactivation. Letters in Applied Microbiology 52(2), 162-167. doi: 10.1111/j.1472-765X.2010.02982.x.
- Park, S.Y. and Ha, S.-D. (2014) Influence of NaCl on the inactivation of murine norovirus-1 and hepatitis A virus in the Korean traditional salted oyster product "Eoriguljeot" during storage. Food Research International 62, 382-387. doi:10.1016/j.foodres.2014.03.039.
- Pollard, J. (1973) Experiments to re-establish historical oyster seed grounds and to control the southern oyster drill, Louisiana Wild Life and Fisheries Commission. Technical bulletin no. 6.

- Prasad, B.V., Hardy, M.E., Dokland, T., Bella, J., Rossmann, M.G. and Estes, M.K. (1999) Xray crystallographic structure of the Norwalk virus capsid. Science 286(5438), 287-290. doi: 10.1126/science.286.5438.287.
- Prasad, B.V., Hardy, M.E., Jiang, X. and Estes, M.K. (1996) Structure of Norwalk virus. Archives of Virology. Supplementum 12, 237-242.
- Prato, R., Martinelli, D., Tafuri, S., Barbuti, G., Quarto, M., Germinario, C.A. and Chironna, M. (2013) Safety of shellfish and epidemiological pattern of enterically transmitted diseases in Italy. International Journal of Food Microbiology 162(2), 125-128. doi: 10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2012.12.025.
- Provost, K., Dancho, B.A., Ozbay, G., Anderson, R.S., Richards, G.P. and Kingsley, D.H. (2011) Hemocytes are sites of enteric virus persistence within oysters. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 77(23), 8360-8369. doi: 10.1128/AEM.06887-11.
- Richards, G.P., Watson, M.A., Meade, G.K., Hovan, G.L. and Kingsley, D.H. (2012) Resilience of norovirus GII. 4 to freezing and thawing: implications for virus infectivity. Food and Environmental Virology 4(4), 192-197. doi: 10.1007/s12560-012-9089-6.
- Riera-Montes, M., Brus Sjölander, K., Allestam, G., Hallin, E., Hedlund, K.-O. and Löfdahl, M. (2011) Waterborne norovirus outbreak in a municipal drinking-water supply in Sweden. Epidemiology and Infection 139(12), 1928-1935. doi: 10.1017/S0950268810003146.
- Rodriguez, R.A., Bounty, S., Beck, S., Chan, C., McGuire, C. and Linden, K.G. (2014) Photoreactivation of bacteriophages after UV disinfection: role of genome structure and impacts of UV source. Water Research 55, 143-149. doi: 10.1016/j.watres.2014.01.065.
- Schwab, K.J., Neill, F.H., Estes, M.K., Metcalf, T.G. and Atmar, R.L. (1998) Distribution of Norwalk virus within shellfish following bioaccumulation and subsequent depuration by detection using RT-PCR. Journal of Food Protection 61(12), 1674-1680.
- Shigemoto, N., Tanizawa, Y., Matsuo, T., Sakamaki, N., Ohiro, Y., Takayasu, S. and Fukuda, S. (2014) Clinical evaluation of a bioluminescent enzyme immunoassay for detecting norovirus in fecal specimens from patients with acute gastroenteritis. Journal of Medical Virology 86(7), 1219-1225. doi: 10.1002/jmv.23765.
- Shin, G.A. and Sobsey, M.D. (2008) Inactivation of norovirus by chlorine disinfection of water. Water Research 42(17), 4562-4568. doi: 10.1016/j.watres.2008.08.001.
- Shumway, S.E. (1985) Particle selection, ingestion, and absorption in filter-feeding bivalves. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 91(1-2), 77-92.
- Sidwell, V.D., Loomis, A.L. and Grodner, R.M. (1979) Geographic and monthly variation in composition of oysters, *Crassostrea virginica*. Marine Fisheries Reviews 21, 13-17.
- Siebenga, J.J., Vennema, H., Zheng, D.P., Vinjé, J., Lee, B.E., Pang, X.L., Ho, E.C., Lim, W., Choudekar, A., Broor, S., Halperin, T., Rasool, N.B., Hewitt, J., Greening, G.E., Jin, M.,

Duan, Z.J., Lucero, Y., O'Ryan, M., Hoehne, M., Schreier, E., Ratcliff, R.M., White, P.A., Iritani, N., Reuter, G. and Koopmans, M. (2009) Norovirus illness is a global problem: emergence and spread of norovirus GII.4 variants, 2001-2007. The Journal of Infectious Diseases 200(5), 802-812. doi: 10.1086/605127.

- Simmonds, P., Karakasiliotis, I., Bailey, D., Chaudhry, Y., Evans, D.J. and Goodfellow, I.G. (2008) Bioinformatic and functional analysis of RNA secondary structure elements among different genera of human and animal caliciviruses. Nucleic Acids Research 36(8), 2530-2546. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkn096.
- Skraber, S., Schijven, J., Italiaander, R. and de Roda Husman, A.M. (2009) Accumulation of enteric bacteriophage in fresh water sediments. Journal of Water and Health 7(3), 372-379. doi: 10.2166/wh.2009.098.
- Smiley, J.R., Chang, K.O., Hayes, J., Vinjé, J. and Saif, L.J. (2002) Characterization of an enteropathogenic bovine calicivirus representing a potentially new calicivirus genus. Journal of Virology 76(20), 10089-10098. doi: 10.1128/JVI.76.20.10089-10098.2002.
- Sobsey, M.D., Fuji, T. and Hall, R.M. (1991) Inactivation of cell-associated and dispersed hepatitis A virus in water. Journal (American Water Works Association), 64-67.
- Sosnovtsev, S.V., Belliot, G., Chang, K.O., Prikhodko, V.G., Thackray, L.B., Wobus, C.E., Karst, S.M., Virgin, H.W. and Green, K.Y. (2006) Cleavage map and proteolytic processing of the murine norovirus nonstructural polyprotein in infected cells. Journal of Virology 80(16), 7816-7831. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00532-06.
- Stanely, J.G. and Sellers, M.A. (1986) Species profiles: Life histories and environmental requirements of coastal fishes and invertebrates (Gulf of Mexico) - American oyster, U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service Biological Report: 82(11.64). U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, TR EL-82-4. 25 pp.
- Straub, T.M., Honer zu Bentrup, K., Orosz-Coghlan, P., Dohnalkova, A., Mayer, B.K., Bartholomew, R.A., Valdez, C.O., Bruckner-Lea, C.J., Gerba, C.P., Abbaszadegan, M. and Nickerson, C.A. (2007) *In vitro* cell culture infectivity assay for human noroviruses. Emerging Infectious Diseases 13(3), 396-403. doi: 10.3201/eid1303.060549.
- Symonds, E.M., Griffin, D.W. and Breitbart, M. (2009) Eukaryotic viruses in wastewater samples from the United States. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 75(5), 1402-1409. doi: 10.1128/AEM.01899-08.
- Tallon, P., Magajna, B., Lofranco, C. and Leung, K.T. (2005) Microbial indicators of faecal contamination in water: a current perspective. Water, Air, and Soil Pollution 166(1-4), 139-166. doi: 10.1007/s11270-005-7905-4.
- Templeton, M.R., Andrews, R.C. and Hofmann, R. (2005) Inactivation of particle-associated viral surrogates by ultraviolet light. Water Research 39(15), 3487-3500. doi: 10.1016/j.watres.2005.06.010.

- Thackray, L.B., Wobus, C.E., Chachu, K.A., Liu, B., Alegre, E.R., Henderson, K.S., Kelley, S.T. and Virgin, H.W.t. (2007) Murine noroviruses comprising a single genogroup exhibit biological diversity despite limited sequence divergence. Journal of Virology 81(19), 10460-10473. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00783-07.
- Thorne, L.G. and Goodfellow, I.G. (2014) Norovirus gene expression and replication. The Journal of General Virology 95(Pt 2), 278-291. doi: 10.1099/vir.0.059634-0.
- Tree, J.A., Adams, M.R. and Lees, D.N. (2005) Disinfection of feline calicivirus (a surrogate for Norovirus) in wastewaters. Journal of Applied Microbiology 98(1), 155-162. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2672.2004.02442.x.
- Tse, H., Lau, S.K., Chan, W.-M., Choi, G.K., Woo, P.C. and Yuen, K.-Y. (2012) Complete genome sequences of novel canine noroviruses in Hong Kong. Journal of Virology 86(17), 9531-9532. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01312-12.
- U. S. Department of Agriculture Economin Research Service (2014) Cost estimates of foodborne illnesses. (Available at <u>http://www.ers.usda.gov/data-products/cost-estimates-of-foodborne-illnesses.aspx</u>, accessed on March 10, 2015).
- Ueki, Y., Sano, D., Watanabe, T., Akiyama, K. and Omura, T. (2005) Norovirus pathway in water environment estimated by genetic analysis of strains from patients of gastroenteritis, sewage, treated wastewater, river water and oysters. Water Research 39(18), 4271-4280. doi: 10.1016/j.watres.2005.06.035.
- Ueki, Y., Shoji, M., Suto, A., Tanabe, T., Okimura, Y., Kikuchi, Y., Saito, N., Sano, D. and Omura, T. (2007) Persistence of caliciviruses in artificially contaminated oysters during depuration. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 73(17), 5698-5701. doi: 10.1128/AEM.00290-07.
- Vega, E., Barclay, L., Gregoricus, N., Shirley, S.H., Lee, D. and Vinjé, J. (2014) Genotypic and epidemiologic trends of norovirus outbreaks in the United States, 2009 to 2013. Journal of Clinical Microbiology 52(1), 147-155. doi: 10.1128/JCM.02680-13.
- Vega, E., Barclay, L., Gregoricus, N., Williams, K., Lee, D. and Vinje, J. (2011) Novel surveillance network for norovirus gastroenteritis outbreaks, United States. Emerging Infectious Diseases 17(8), 1389-1395. doi: 10.3201/eid1708.101837.
- Vinjé, J. (2015) Advances in laboratory methods for detection and typing of norovirus. Journal of Clinical Microbiology 53(2), 373-381. doi: 10.1128/JCM.01535-14.
- Vinjé, J., Green, J., Lewis, D.C., Gallimore, C.I., Brown, D.W. and Koopmans, M.P. (2000) Genetic polymorphism across regions of the three open reading frames of "Norwalk-like viruses". Archives of Virology 145(2), 223-241. doi: 10.1007/s007050050020.
- Vinjé, J., Hamidjaja, R.A. and Sobsey, M.D. (2004) Development and application of a capsid VP1 (region D) based reverse transcription PCR assay for genotyping of genogroup I and

II noroviruses. Journal of Virological Methods 116(2), 109-117. doi: 10.1016/j.jviromet.2003.11.001.

- Wang, D., Wu, Q., Kou, X., Yao, L. and Zhang, J. (2008) Distribution of norovirus in oyster tissues. Journal of Applied Microbiology 105(6), 1966-1972. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2672.2008.03970.x.
- Wang, J., Jiang, X., Madore, H.P., Gray, J., Desselberger, U., Ando, T., Seto, Y., Oishi, I., Lew, J.F., Green, K.Y. and et al. (1994) Sequence diversity of small, round-structured viruses in the Norwalk virus group. J Virol 68(9), 5982-5990.
- Wang, Q.H., Han, M.G., Cheetham, S., Souza, M., Funk, J.A. and Saif, L.J. (2005) Porcine noroviruses related to human noroviruses. Emerging Infectious Diseases 11(12), 1874-1881. doi: 10.3201/eid1112.050485.
- Westrell, T., Teunis, P., van den Berg, H., Lodder, W., Ketelaars, H., Stenstrom, T.A. and de Roda Husman, A.M. (2006) Short- and long-term variations of norovirus concentrations in the Meuse river during a 2-year study period. Water Research 40(14), 2613-2620. doi: 10.1016/j.watres.2006.05.019.
- Wobus, C.E., Karst, S.M., Thackray, L.B., Chang, K.O., Sosnovtsev, S.V., Belliot, G., Krug, A., Mackenzie, J.M., Green, K.Y. and Virgin, H.W. (2004) Replication of Norovirus in cell culture reveals a tropism for dendritic cells and macrophages. PLoS Biology 2(12), e432. doi: 10.1371/journal.pbio.0020432.
- Wobus, C.E., Thackray, L.B. and Virgin, H.W.t. (2006) Murine norovirus: a model system to study norovirus biology and pathogenesis. J Virol 80(11), 5104-5112. 10.1128/JVI.02346-05.
- Wong, K., Fong, T.-T., Bibby, K. and Molina, M. (2012) Application of enteric viruses for fecal pollution source tracking in environmental waters. Environment International 45, 151-164. doi: 10.1016/j.envint.2012.02.009.
- Woods, J.W. and Burkhardt III, W. (2010) Occurrence of norovirus and hepatitis A virus in US oysters. Food and Environmental Virology 2(3), 176-182. doi: 10.1007/s12560-010-9040-7.
- Wu, J., Long, S.C., Das, D. and Dorner, S. (2011) Are microbial indicators and pathogens correlated? A statistical analysis of 40 years of research. Journal of Water Health 9(2), 265-278.
- Wyer, M.D., Wyn-Jones, P., Kay, D., Au-Yeung, H.K.C., Girones, R., Lopez-Pila, J., de Roda Husman, A.M., Rutjes, S. and Schneider, O. (2012) Relationships between human adenoviruses and faecal indicator organisms in European recreational waters. Water Research 46(13), 4130-4141. doi: 10.1016/j.watres.2012.04.008.
- Xi, J.N., Graham, D.Y., Wang, K.N. and Estes, M.K. (1990) Norwalk virus genome cloning and characterization. Science 250(4987), 1580-1583. doi: 10.1126/science.2177224.

- Xue, L., Wu, Q., Kou, X., Zhang, J. and Guo, W. (2013) A simple and novel method for GII norovirus genome clone with generic primers. Journal of Applied Microbiology. doi: 10.1111/jam.12244.
- Yakes, B.J., Papafragkou, E., Conrad, S.M., Neill, J.D., Ridpath, J.F., Burkhardt, W., 3rd, Kulka, M. and Degrasse, S.L. (2013) Surface plasmon resonance biosensor for detection of feline calicivirus, a surrogate for norovirus. International Journal of Food Microbiology 162(2), 152-158. doi: 10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2013.01.011.
- Ye, M., Li, X., Kingsley, D.H., Jiang, X. and Chen, H. (2014) Inactivation of human norovirus in contaminated oysters and clams by high hydrostatic pressure. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 80(7), 2248-2253. doi: 10.1128/AEM.04260-13.
- Zheng, D.P., Ando, T., Fankhauser, R.L., Beard, R.S., Glass, R.I. and Monroe, S.S. (2006) Norovirus classification and proposed strain nomenclature. Virololgy 346(2), 312-323. doi: 10.1016/j.virol.2005.11.015.
- Zheng, D.P., Widdowson, M.A., Glass, R.I. and Vinjé, J. (2010) Molecular epidemiology of genogroup II-genotype 4 noroviruses in the United States between 1994 and 2006. Journal of Clinical Microbiology 48(1), 168-177. doi: 10.1128/JCM.01622-09.
- Zhou, X., Li, H., Sun, L., Mo, Y., Chen, S., Wu, X., Liang, J., Zheng, H., Ke, C., Varma, J.K., Klena, J.D., Chen, Q., Zou, L. and Yang, X. (2012) Epidemiological and molecular analysis of a waterborne outbreak of norovirus GII.4. Epidemiology and Infection 140(12), 2282-2289. doi: 10.1017/S0950268812000374.

CHAPTER 2. ENTERIC VIRUSES IN LOUISIANA OYSTERS AND HARVEST WATER²

2.1. Introduction

Noroviruses (NoV) are the leading cause of acute and epidemic gastroenteritis in humans. NoV belong to *Caliciviridae* family, and consist of a single stranded, positive sense RNA genome. To date, six genogroups of NoV (GI to GVI) have been identified, and are comprised of more than 32 genotypes. A tentative GVII has been recently proposed (Green 2007; Tse et al. 2012; Vinjé 2015). Genogroups I, II, and IV infect humans, and the rest are isolated from other species (Green 2007; Hall et al. 2014). Despite the extensive genetically divergent nature of noroviruses, the GII.4 strains remain the predominant cause of the NoV outbreaks worldwide (Siebenga et al. 2009).

Pathogenic enteric virus particles are shed in large numbers into the feces or vomit of infected individuals, and enter the environmental waters by direct discharge or the release of sewage. The viruses are either suspended or precipitated, and can survive for weeks to months while retaining their infectivity (Bosch et al. 2006; Campos and Lees 2014; McIntyre et al. 2012). As a result, filter-feeding mollusks inhabiting contaminated waters bioaccumulate the microbial pathogens, and if consumed raw or inadequately cooked, transmit them to humans (Campos and Lees 2014; Oliveira et al. 2011).

² This chapter has been accepted for publication at the *Journal of Food Science*. Naim Montazeri, Morgan Maite, Da Liu, Jiemin Cormier, Matthew Landry, John Shackleford, Lucina E. Lampila, Eric C. Achberger and Marlene E. Janes. Surveillance of enteric viruses and microbial indicators in the eastern oysters (*Crassostrea virginica*) and harvest waters along Louisiana gulf coast.

Norovirus infections associated with shellfish consumption are frequently reported worldwide (Alfano-Sobsey et al. 2012; Lowther et al. 2012b; Rajko-Nenow et al. 2014; Rippey 1994). The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) estimated that approximately 16.1% (465/2,895) of the norovirus outbreaks in the U.S. (2009-2013) with known transmission routes are foodborne (Vega et al. 2014). According to a similar study, 19% (13/67) of foodborne NoV outbreaks in the U.S. (2009-2012) with a specific food category are attributed to the mollusks (Hall et al. 2014). Bacteriological standards have been developed by the U.S. FDA and Interstate Shellfish Sanitation Conference (ISSC), namely National Shellfish Sanitation Program (NSSP), on using total or fecal coliforms densities for the regular monitoring and classification of harvest waters to assure sanitary quality of shellfish (NSSP 2013), whereas in the E.U., the regulations have focused on fecal coliforms in oyster tissues (Oliveira et al. 2011). These measures effectively enhanced the health of the shellfish consumers against diseases of bacterial origin (Rippey 1994); however, pathogenic viruses in oysters have been detected even when densities of microbial indicators in oyster or harvest waters remained low (DePaola et al. 2010; Lowther et al. 2012b).

Coliphages are viruses that infect *E. coli* and are naturally present in the intestinal tract of animals. Male-specific coliphages (FRNA bacteriophages), a subset of coliphages, resembles the size and genome characteristics of many enteric viruses and have been proposed as a suitable viral indicator of fecal contamination and human enteric virus (including NoV) in oysters and water but their effectiveness has not been studied intensively in Louisiana oysters (Brion et al. 2002; Chung et al. 1998; DePaola et al. 2010; Doré et al. 2000; Rodriguez et al. 2014).

This study is the first report on the surveillance of NoV GI and GII and microbial indicators of fecal contamination in both oysters and harvest waters along the Louisiana Gulf

Coast. In addition, we assessed the effectiveness of fecal indicators as determining factors for the viral safety of Louisiana oysters with regard to noroviruses.

2.2. Material and methods

2.2.1. Sample collection

Biweekly samples of eastern oysters (*Crassostrea virginica*) and waters were collected from five commercially open shellfish harvesting areas along Louisiana Gulf Coast within a period of January to November 2013. For each sampling, harvest waters were grab sampled above the oyster beds followed by dredging oysters within approximately 65 m² of each sampling location. Data obtained from the analysis of the samples from the sampling areas 9 to 11 (Plaquemines Parish) and areas 12 to 13 (Jefferson, Plaquemines and Lafourche Parishes) were clustered as sites A and B, respectively (Table 1., Figure 6). Oysters were double bagged in polyethylene bags, along with the water samples were kept on ice, and processed within 24 h of collection.

2.2.2. Oyster processing

Upon sample arrival, oysters were washed using cold tap water, and shucked under sterile conditions. For the enumeration of microbial indicators, 10-12 whole viable oysters (without abductor muscles) including liquor were homogenized and analyzed immediately. For the virological analyses, digestive tissues (digestive diverticula and stomach) of 10-12 viable oysters were dissected, homogenized, and undergone virus extraction protocol as follows.

Sampling date	Area	Site	Latitude	Longitude
January 14, 2013	13	b	29.40147	-90.03231
January 28, 2013	12	b	29.42425	-89.98367
February 25, 2013	13	b	29.40818	-90.00840
March 18, 2013	9	а	29.33497	-89.58835
April 8, 2013	10	а	29.37898	-89.64500
April 22, 2013	11	а	29.36612	-89.66843
June 3, 2013	12	b	29.42071	-89.98174
June 24, 2013	13	b	29.41158	-90.00987
July 1, 2013	9	а	29.33588	-89.59035
July 15, 2013	10	а	29.36766	-89.61490
July 29, 2013	11	а	29.36139	-89.67645
August 5, 2013	12	b	29.46582	-89.97770
August 26, 2013	13	b	29.43233	-89.97580
September 9, 2013	9	а	29.33515	-89.58707
September 16, 2013	10	а	29.37881	-89.64475
October 21, 2013	11	а	29.44718	-89.68850
November 18, 2013	12	b	29.43075	-89.97806
November 24, 2013	13	b	29.39345	-90.00330

Table 1. Dates and locations of sample collection from commercial oyster harvesting areas along the Louisiana Gulf Coast



Figure 6. Oyster and harvest water sampling locations along the Louisiana Gulf Coasts. Triangles denote sampling sites "A", and circles denote sampling area "B".

2.2.3. Microbial indicators

Standard membrane filtration technique using 47-mm mixed cellulose ester membrane filters (EMD Millipore, Billerica, MA) was utilized to quantify viable bacterial indicators of fecal contamination in the water samples. Fecal coliforms were enumerated using m-FC agar (Difco, Sparks, MD) according to EPA Method 9222D (U.S. EPA 2003). *E. coli* colonies were enumerated on modified membrane-thermotolerant *Escherichia coli* agar (Modified mTEC, Difco) following EPA Method 1603 (U.S. EPA 2009). Enterococci were quantified using membrane-enterococcus indoxyl- β -D-glucoside agar (mEI, Difco) based on US EPA Method 1600 (U.S. EPA 2002). Coliphages were quantified using a single agar layer method according to the U.S. EPA Method 1602 (U.S. EPA 2001) in which *E. coli* HS(pFamp)R (ATCC 700891) and *E. coli* CN-13 (ATCC 700609) were utilized as host strains for male-specific and somatic coliphages, respectively. The plaque forming units (PFU) were enumerated, and reported as log₁₀ PFU/100mL of water sample.

For the bacterial enumeration of oyster samples, a 1:2 suspension (w/v) of oyster homogenate and subsequent decimal dilutions in phosphate-buffered saline (PBS, 0.02 m*M* NaH₂PO₄, 0.02 *M* Na₂HPO₄ and 0.15 *M* NaCl, pH 7.0) were prepared. Aerobic plate counts (APC) were counted using pour-plating technique on standard plate count agar (Neogen, Lansing, MI) following incubation for 48 h at 35 °C. To enumerate fecal coliforms and *E. coli*, multiple tube fermentation technique (5 tube-3 dilutions) was used as described by American Public Health Association for the examination of shellfish (Greenberg and Hunt 1984). The data were reported as log_{10} most probable numbers (MPN)/100g oyster. Male-specific coliphages (MSC) and somatic coliphages (SC) were enumerated from 15 mL (eq. 15 g) of the oyster homogenate using a modified double-agar-overlay method developed for the analysis of oysters by Howell (2009). The data were reported as log_{10} PFU/100g oyster.

2.2.4. Virus concentration and RNA extraction

Viruses were concentrated from 1 L of the duplicate water samples using the adsorptionelution method as described by Katayama et al. (2002) and modified by Fong et al. (2005). RNA was extracted from 200 μ L of the viral concentrate using the RNeasy Mini Kit (Qiagen, Germantown, MD). For the oyster samples, an adsorption-elution method by incorporating ultracentrifuge was utilized for the extraction of enteric viruses from 4 g of digestive tissues following the U.S. FDA Gulf Coast Seafood Laboratory protocol (Woods and Burkhardt III 2011). In this method, virus concentrates (200 μ L) were extracted for RNA, utilizing 6 *M* guanidine thiocyanate (Fisher Scientific, Fair Lawn, NJ) for the virus lysis, and RNeasy Mini Kit (Qiagen, Germantown, MD) following the manufacturer's instruction with minor modifications, in which 15 min hold time was given after adding the washing buffers. The extracted RNA was eluted in 40 μ L THE RNA Storage Solution (1 m*M* sodium citrate, pH 6.4, Ambion), and immediately analyzed or stored frozen at -80 °C until required.

2.2.5. Detection and quantification of enteric viruses

TaqMan quantitative real-time reverse transcription-polymerase chain reaction (RTqPCR) was used for the detection and quantification of NoV GI and GII by targeting the most conserved, sensitive and broadly reactive ORF1-ORF2 junctions in NoV, as described by Kageyama et al. (2003) and Jothikumar et al. (2005). For the oysters, pathogenic enterovirus serotypes (EV), including poliovirus, coxsackievirus, echovirus and enteroviruses, were also analyzed by coamplifying the 5' untranslated region of the enteroviral genome with a panenterovirus primer set utilizing primer and probes developed by Donaldson et al. (2002). Cepheid SmartCycler[®] II system (Sunnyvale, CA) was used for all the RT-qPCR analyses.

Detection and quantification of NoV GI and GII in the harvest water samples were followed according to Gentry et al. (2009b). The reaction mixture used a SuperScript[®] III Platinum One-Step qRT-PCR kit (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA) in a 25 μ L reaction mixture and 2.5 μ L RNA template. A homogenous internal amplification control (IAC) was incorporated in all reactions to evaluate PCR inhibition (Jennifer Gentry-Shields, North Carolina State University, personal communication). Reverse-transcription was carried out at 50°C for 15 min, followed by enzyme activation for 2 min at 95 °C, and 45 cycles of 15 s at 94 °C, 15 s at 55 °C and 20 s at 72 °C (threshold = 30).

Analyzing enteric viruses in oyster digestive tissues followed a multiplex RT-qPCR assay for the simultaneous detection and quantification of NoV GI, GII and EV along with a heterogeneous IAC as optimized by Burkhardt et al. (2006) and Nordstrom et al. (2007). Reaction mixture used Qiagen[®] OneStep RT-PCR kit (Valencia, CA) for a total volume of 25 μ L per reaction and 3.0 μ L of RNA template. The templates were reverse-transcribed at 50 °C for 50 min, and then the HotStarTaq DNA polymerase was activated at 95 °C for 15 min, followed by thermal cycling for 10 s at 95 °C, 25 s at 53 °C, and 70 s at 62 °C for a total of 50 cycles, and a final extension at 72 °C for 10 min (threshold = 10). Reactions considered positive when the emission intensities exceeded the threshold during the first 46 cycles. All the reactions were carried out in duplicate. NoV GI and GII RNA standards (10⁹ genomic equivalent copies (GEC)/ μ L) were kindly provided by Dr. Christine Moe's laboratory at Emory University (Atlanta, GA), and human poliovirus 3 stock (attenuated Sabin strain) was kindly provided by Dr. William Burkhardt at the U.S. FDA Gulf Coast Seafood Laboratory (Dauphin Island, AL), and were utilized as positive controls and for RNA quantification.

2.2.6. Outbreak sample

A norovirus outbreak likely due to the consumption of contaminated oysters from Cameron Parish, LA was reported by the Molluscan Shellfish Program - Louisiana Department of Health & Hospitals in January 4, 2013. Oyster and water samples were collected from the suspected area in Calcasieu Lake (basin 3, area 30: 29.85139, -93.37995) on January 17, 2013 and analyzed along with a stool specimen, which was sent to LSU/AgCenter Food Microbiology Laboratory approximately 14 days after the onset of the acute NoV gastroenteritis symptoms from one of the affected individuals known to have consumed raw oysters from the suspected area. A 20% suspension of stool specimen was clarified by centrifugation at 12,400 ×g for 5 min. The RNA was extracted from 150 μ L of the suspension and analyzed accordingly.

2.2.7. Sequencing and genotyping

Sequencing was performed either by direct sequencing of M13-tailed RT-qPCR products (Woods et al. 2011) or sequencing the amplified junction region between ORF1 and ORF2 (region C) of the viral genome (Kojima et al. 2002; Mattison et al. 2009) cloned into a pCR2.1-TOPO TA vector using TOPO[®] TA Cloning[®] Kit, with TOP10 *E. coli* (Life Technologies). Sequences were read on an ABI Prism 3130 Genetic Analyzer (Life Technologies), and processed on 4Peaks (version 1.7.2, Nucleobytes Inc., Amsterdam, Netherlands) and CLC Sequence Viewer (version 7.5, CLC Bio, Aarhus, Denmark). The query sequences were aligned against the nucleotide database representing different taxonomic groups available at The National Center for Biotechnology Information (NCBI) by utilizing The Basic Local Alignment

Search Tool (BLAST) (Altschul et al. 1997). A phylogenic tree of the partial capsid gene sequences was inferred by using the Maximum Likelihood method based on Tamura-Nei model (Tamura and Nei 1993) by employing MEGA (version 6.0), a molecular evolutionary genetics analysis tool developed by Tamura et al. (2013). The sequences of the reference strains were retrieved from the GenBank sequence database deposited at the NCBI (Vinjé 2015; Zheng et al. 2006).

2.3. Statistical analysis

All the analyses were carried out in duplicates and reported as mean \pm standard error. Significant differences among mean ranks and multiple comparisons were evaluated using Kruskal Wallis test at $\alpha = 0.05$. Pearson product-moment correlation coefficients (*r*) were used to assess the correlation among variables. Software RStudio (version 0.98.1028, RStudio Inc., Boston, MA) was used for the statistical analyses and data visualization. Values of water surface temperature used in this study were obtained from the Giovanni online data system, developed and maintained by NASA Goddard Earth Sciences Data and Information Services Center (GES DISC). Temperatures are measured from approximately 10 µm below the surface (infrared bands) to 1 mm (microwave bands) depths using radiometers. A threshold of 24 °C was considered to categorize the data to warm months (May to October) and cold months (November to April).

2.4. Results and Discussion

All the sampling locations (areas 9 through 13) were among the most active commercial oyster harvesting areas along the Louisiana Gulf Coast and remained open during the sampling period; however, due to adverse weather conditions (heavy rain, fog, storm, or water level)

sample collection from some specific areas or times was not possible. Figure 7 shows monthly sea surface temperature of the sample collection areas along the Louisiana Gulf Coast in 2013.

Due to the lack of a reliable cell culture system, RT-qPCR has been the most widely utilized method for the detection and quantification of NoV in complex food and environmental samples where the level of virus contamination is usually low. In this study, the protocols previously optimized for the analysis of oysters and harvest waters were used (Figures 8-10, Table 2, DePaola et al. 2010; Gentry et al. 2009a; Knight et al. 2013; Lowther et al. 2012b; Woods et al. 2011).



Figure 7. Monthly temperature (°C) of sea surface in Louisiana Gulf Coast in 2013. The horizontal line denotes the 24 °C threshold to distinguish between cold and warm months.



Figure 9. NoV GII calibration curve



Concentration (Log n1-qrCn unit/reactio

Figure 10. EV calibration curve

Table 2. RT-qPCR performance for the detection and quantification of NoV and enteroviruses in oysters

	Linear range	\mathbf{R}^2	Slone V-intercent		RT-qPCR	Amplification
	Linear range	К	Slope	I -intercept	efficiency (%)	factor
NoV GI ¹	1.48 to 6.48	0.986	-3.672	48.99	87.22	1.87
$NoV GII^1$	2.48 to 7.48	0.989	-3.415	48.09	96.25	1.96
EV^2	0.00 to 4.00	0.992	-3.440	37.02	95.29	1.95
	. 2					

¹ log₁₀ GC/reaction; ² log₁₀ RT-qPCR unit/reaction

2.4.1. Microbial indicators

Microbial indicators in both oysters and harvest waters were relatively low with no significant difference across the sampling sites (p > 0.05, Tables 3-4). Mean density of APC in oysters was $5.47 \pm 0.13 \log_{10} \text{CFU}/100$ g, and lower than 6.5 log/100g as previously reported in Gulf Coast oysters (DePaola et al. 2010). Enterococci along with other fecal indicators can be used to evaluate sanitary condition of shellfish harvest water (U.S. EPA 2002). This group of bacteria is accumulated in oyster tissues (Love et al. 2010); however, they have not yet been

considered as a sanitary monitoring criterion in oysters (NSSP 2013). In our study, enterococci were analyzed only in harvest water, and present in all the samples at an average value of $0.50 \pm 0.08 \log_{10} CFU/100mL$.

Shellfish harvest areas in the U.S. are classified based on the sanitary survey of water and monitoring the concentration of fecal or total coliforms in the surface water (NSSP 2013). Both fecal coliforms and *E. coli* were detected in all the water samples with average concentrations of 0.69 ± 0.07 and $0.38 \pm 0.05 \log_{10}$ CFU/100mL, respectively. According to the NSSP, the mean concentration of fecal coliforms in "approved" classification of shellfish growing water should not exceed 1.15 log₁₀ CFU/100mL for mTEC test, with 10% of the samples not exceeding 1.49 log₁₀ CFU/100mL (NSSP 2013). In our study, fecal coliforms in the water samples were present within the acceptable limits.

Eastern oysters growing in estuarine waters of the Gulf Coast bioaccumulate fecal coliforms to a concentration of approximately 4.4 times greater than their surrounding water (Burkhardt and Calci 2000). In total, 33.3% and 77.8% of oyster samples of sites A and B, respectively, were positive for fecal coliforms. Similarly, lower prevalence of *E. coli* was observed in the site A with 22.2% positive samples against 66.7% in site B. The overall means of fecal coliforms and *E. coli* in oysters (sites A and B combined) were 1.08 ± 0.10 and $0.76 \pm 0.04 \log_{10}$ MPN/100g, respectively. Both were lower than the safety levels of 2.52 or 2.36 \log_{10} MPN/100g, respectively in ≥ 1 or ≥ 2 of 5 sub-samples (U.S. FDA 2011).

In our study, the prevalence of MSC and SC were remarkably low. Out of 17 water samples, only 29.4% ($0.09 \pm 0.04 \log_{10} PFU/100mL$) and 23.5% ($0.06 \pm 0.03 \log_{10} PFU/100mL$) were positive for MSC and SC, respectively. In oysters, no MSC was detected in site A, whereas

		Month				
Microbial indicators	Site	March	April	July	September	October
APC	А	4.70 ± 0.03	4.76 ± 0.16	6.19 ± 0.13	6.11 ± 0.17	5.87 ± 0.01
Fecal coliforms	А	0.69 ± 0.00	1.97 ± 0.23	0.69 ± 0.00	0.92 ± 0.23	0.69 ± 0.00
E. coli	А	0.69 ± 0.00	0.92 ± 0.23	0.69 ± 0.00	0.69 ± 0.00	0.69 ± 0.00
MSC	А	1.04 ± 0.00	1.04 ± 0.00	1.04 ± 0.00	1.04 ± 0.00	1.04 ± 0.00
SC	А	1.04 ± 0.00	1.11 ± 0.07	1.04 ± 0.00	1.04 ± 0.00	1.04 ± 0.00
		January	February	June	August	November
APC	В	4.56 ± 0.28	5.55 ± 0.09	6.06 ± 0.32	5.78 ± 0.16	5.37 ± 0.09
Fecal coliforms	В	2.24 ± 0.09	1.15 ± 0.46	0.69 ± 0.00	0.69 ± 0.00	0.87 ± 0.17
E. coli	В	0.92 ± 0.23	0.69 ± 0.00	0.69 ± 0.00	0.69 ± 0.00	0.87 ± 0.17
MSC	В	1.04 ± 0.00	1.04 ± 0.00	1.15 ± 0.11	1.04 ± 0.00	1.04 ± 0.00
SC	В	1.30 ± 0.15	1.04 ± 0.00	1.04 ± 0.00	1.04 ± 0.00	1.12 ± 0.08

Table 3. Microbial indicators in oysters from site A and B, mean \pm SE.

Acronyms: APC: aerobic plate count, MSC: male-specific coliphages, SC: somatic coliphages. Units: APC: log₁₀ CFU/100g; fecal coliforms and *E. coli*: log₁₀ MPN/100g, MSC and SC: log₁₀ PFU/100g.

		Month					
Microbial indicators	Site	April	February	July	March	October	September
Enterococci	А	0.39 ± 0.16	1.06 ± 0.23	0.16 ± 0.15	0.52 ± 0.10	0.15 ± 0.03	0.31 ± 0.24
Fecal coliforms	А	0.68 ± 0.13	N.A.	0.33 ± 0.21	0.54 ± 0.12	N.A.	1.28 ± 0.20
E. coli	А	0.46 ± 0.19	0.83 ± 0.49	0.21 ± 0.15	0.56 ± 0.03	0.55 ± 0.10	0.31 ± 0.24
MSC	А	0.00 ± 0.00	0.00 ± 0.00	0.00 ± 0.00	0.54 ± 0.09	0.00 ± 0.00	0.35 ± 0.40
SC	А	0.00 ± 0.00	0.00 ± 0.00	0.00 ± 0.00	0.54 ± 0.09	0.00 ± 0.00	0.00 ± 0.00
		February	y	June	August	N	ovember
Enterococci	В	0.89 ± 0.1	16 0.	08 ± 0.09	0.34 ± 0.3	1 0.9	93 ± 0.20
Fecal coliforms	В	N.A.	0.	45 ± 0.05	$0.69 \pm 0.4^{\circ}$	7 1.0	01 ± 0.21
E. coli	В	0.89 ± 0.2	27 0.	10 ± 0.19	0.14 ± 0.13	8 0.5	51 ± 0.28
MSC	В	0.15 ± 0.2	21 0.	00 ± 0.00	0.00 ± 0.00	0.0	08 ± 0.15
SC	В	0.30 ± 0.4	43 0.	08 ± 0.15	0.00 ± 0.00	0.0	00 ± 0.00

Table 4. Microbial indicators in harvest waters from site A and B, mean \pm SE.

N.A. (not available): missing data due to some technical issues. Acronyms: MSC: male-specific coliphages, SC: somatic coliphages. Units: Enterococci, fecal coliforms and *E. coli*: \log_{10} CFU/100mL, MSC and SC: \log_{10} PFU/100mL.

approximately 33.3% of the oyster samples from site B were positive for MSC averaging 1.05 \pm 0.01 log₁₀ PFU/100g. Somatic coliphages were detected in 16.7% of the oysters (site A and B) at 1.08 \pm 0.02 log₁₀ PFU/100g. Similar concentrations of MSC in U.S. market oysters have been reported by DePaola et al. (2010). However, higher levels of MSC (>3 log₁₀ PFU/100g) have been found in oysters from the U.K. commercial harvesting areas (Doré et al. 2000). In general, even though there were no significant difference between site A and B in terms of the bacterial indicators (p > 0.05), site B showed a higher level of fecal pollution.

2.4.2. Trends and correlations

In previous studies, eastern oysters (*C. virginica*) from the Gulf Coast showed seasonality for the accumulation of MSC (increasing from late November through January) but not in the case of fecal coliforms and *E. coli* (Burkhardt and Calci 2000). We did not observe any distinctive temporal effect on microbial indicators in oysters except for the APC, which was significantly (p < 0.05) higher during warm months, in agreement with Shieh et al. (2003). It could be due to an increased rate of digestion in oysters at elevated temperatures (Loosanoff 1958). These observations, however, differ from the report of DePaola et al. (2010) where the concentrations of MSC, fecal coliforms and *E. coli* in oysters reached their highest levels in the summer at 0.9 log₁₀ PFU/100g, >3.3 log₁₀ PFU/100g and 2.3 log₁₀ PFU/100g, respectively with no observed seasonal trend for APC (averaged 6.5 log₁₀ CFU/100g).

Overall, no strong positive correlation (r < 0.45) was observed between microbial indicators in oysters (data not shown). Densities of enterococci in the water samples were correlated with fecal coliforms (r = 0.63, p < 0.05) and *E. coli* (r = 0.64, p < 0.05). In the case of the coliphages, most of the obtained data from oysters and water samples fell below or around the detection limit; therefore, no strong evidence of correlations with bacterial indicators was

observed ($r \le 0.45$). Campos et al. (2013) obtained strong correlation between fecal coliforms and *E. coli*, MSC, and APC in shellfish (Campos et al. 2013). During our study, the highest correlation among microbial indicators between oysters and water samples were observed between fecal coliforms in water and *E. coli* in oysters (r = 0.36, p = 0.059). Our results are in agreement with Wu et al. (2011) that the data linking microbial indicators to virus and bacterial pathogen contamination in water is equivocal requiring further examination.

2.4.3. Norovirus detection

Despite low levels of fecal contamination in the open areas for oyster and harvesting water collection, NoV GII was detected in oysters collected from area 12 (site B) in June 2013. NoV GI and GII were not detected in any of the eighteen water samples collected. The mean threshold cycle (Ct) values of the positive samples was 42.3 ± 0.2 , and corresponded to $3.53 \pm 0.20 \log_{10}$ GEC/g oyster digestive tissues. Secondary extraction of NoV from the oyster samples generated a similar positive signal as well (data not shown).

Oyster-associated NoV outbreaks often contain multiple genotypes, and comprise total of 2-3 log₁₀ GEC/g of digestive tissues (Alfano-Sobsey et al. 2012; Lowther et al. 2012a; McIntyre et al. 2012; Rajko-Nenow et al. 2014). The association of RNA quantity with the risks to human health may depend on the methodology employed for the downstream analysis of the viral genome (Lowther et al. 2012a). To date, no NoV outbreak has been linked to the oysters harvested in June 2013 from the area 12 (site B). The 98-nucleotide NoV GII sequence obtained from RT-qPCR analysis of the oyster sample (Figure 11, Appendix 1) showed 90% query coverage and 98% identity (expected value of 1:10⁴⁰) with the NoV GII sequences deposited at NCBI nucleotide database (data not shown). Even though, this clearly indicates that the reaction was true positive for NoV GII, the RT-qPCR targeted sequence is a highly conserved region in

NoV GII, and not suitable for genotyping (Kageyama et al. 2003). So far, no alternative conserved PCR primers have been recognized for the confirmation of NoV positive RT-qPCR assays (Knight et al. 2013). Positive NoV RNA and negative reactions all with the internal controls were also incorporated in all the samples analyzed. Due to the low concentration of NoV in the samples (high Ct value), genotyping through the amplification and sequence analysis of regions B, C or D of the viral genome was not possible (data not shown) as previously reported (Boxman et al. 2011; DePaola et al. 2010; Mattison et al. 2009; Woods et al. 2011).



IUPAC codes used to indicate the degenerate positions resulted from the forward primer (COG2F): Y, C or T; R, A or G; B, not A; N, any. Kageyama et al. (2003).

Figure 11. RT-qPCR amplicons sequence from the NoV GII positive oyster sample (5' to 3').

2.4.4. Outbreak samples

Table 5 summarizes densities of the microbial indicators in the suspected oysters and harvest water from the area 30 at the Calcasieu Lake (Cameron Parish, LA). The concentrations of fecal coliforms and *E. coli* in oysters were slightly higher than the majority of the samples analyzed from sites A and B. Higher levels of indicators in oysters and water could be indicative of the presence of noroviruses and other pathogenic enteric viruses (Chung et al. 1998; Lowther et al. 2012b). RT-qPCR analysis of the suspected oysters and the overlaying water did not indicate any NoV contamination; however, the stool specimen obtained from the individual who consumed raw oysters from area 30 was positive for GII ($8.55 \pm 0.00 \log_{10} \text{ GEC/g}$). Phylogenic analysis of the NoV viral genome revealed that the strain belonged to the GII.4 Sydney (Figure

12), which has been the dominant NoV outbreaks strain in the U.S. during 2013 to 2014 (Vinjé 2015). Other strains (GI.2, GI.3, GI.4, GII.b, GII.e, GII.2, GII.6, GII.12 and GII.13) have been identified in the shellfish or clinical specimens obtained from shellfish-associated NoV outbreaks, however the NoV genotypes identified in oysters could rarely be linked to the outbreak cases (Alfano-Sobsey et al. 2012; McIntyre et al. 2012; Rajko-Nenow et al. 2012; Rajko-Nenow et al. 2014; Verhoef et al. 2010). The nucleotide sequence of the stool NoV GII determined in this study is deposited in GenBank under the accession number KP455650.

Table 5. Microbial indicators in oysters and harvest waters from Cameron Parish (area 30), mean \pm SE.

Microbial indicators	Oysters	Harvest waters
Enterococci	-	1.02 ± 0.03
APC	4.63 ± 0.01	-
Fecal coliforms	1.77 ± 0.17	0.57 ± 0.10
E. coli	1.15 ± 0.46	0.97 ± 0.06
MSC	1.04 ± 0.00	0.65 ± 0.30
SC	1.04 ± 0.00	0.83 ± 0.00

Acronyms: APC: aerobic plate count, MSC: male-specific coliphages, SC: somatic coliphages. Units (harvest waters): Enterococci, fecal coliforms and *E. coli*: log₁₀ CFU/100mL, MSC and SC: log₁₀ PFU/100mL. Units (oysters): APC: log₁₀ CFU/100g, fecal coliforms and *E. coli*: log₁₀ MPN/100g, MSC and SC: log₁₀ PFU/100g.

Our assumption for not detecting NoV in the outbreak-suspected oysters would be the lack or low concentration of the NoV in the oysters (< $1.7 \log_{10}$ GEC/g digestive tissues) were available in the area on the sampling date, or secondary transmission which masks the connection between sources and outbreaks (Alfano-Sobsey et al. 2012; Boxman et al. 2011). According to the CDC, food handlers have been considered as primary source of NoV transmission contributing to about 70% of the NoV outbreaks with known sources in the U.S., 2009-2012 (Hall et al. 2014).


Figure 12. Selected region of the phylogenic tree (NoV GII.4 strains) constructed for genotyping the NoV GII detected in the outbreak stool specimen. The numbers on the branches indicate the branch lengths. Each strains name is followed by the reference sequences obtained from NCBI (Vinjé 2015; Zheng et al. 2006).

2.5. Conclusions

This study surveyed noroviruses and microbial indicators of fecal contamination in the oysters and harvest waters taken from commercial harvesting areas along Louisiana Gulf Coasts, and to evaluate the effectiveness of microbial indicators for assessing the viral safety of oysters.

Microbial indicators (fecal coliforms, *E. coli* and coliphages) detected in oysters and harvest waters were used as an indication of fecal contamination. Based on the current standards of fecal coliforms in shellfish harvest water in the U.S., all the samples were within the acceptable ranges defined by the NSSP, and could not reliably predict the occurrence of NoV in the oysters. Whether detecting NoV in the tested oysters can be considered a health hazard is rather complicated because no robust tissue culture technique has been developed for laboratory growth of norovirus to distinguish between infectious and noninfectious noroviruses (Knight et al. 2013), and current RT-PCR methods are not able to correlate molecular detection results with the NoV infectivity (Knight et al. 2013; Mattison et al. 2009).

Due to the difference in the rate of depuration among enteric viruses and fecal indicators in oysters, incorporating more efficient microbial sanitary indicators of depurated shellfish has been suggested (Love et al. 2010). Also, postharvest multiplication of fecal coliforms and *E. coli* can occur in oysters that make applying sanitary measures for oysters at the harvest time ambiguous (DePaola et al. 2010). Male-specific coliphages have been recently proposed as a better indicator of fecal contamination of U.K. market-ready oysters as they showed seasonality consistent with the trend of shellfish-associated gastroenteritis outbreaks (Doré et al. 2000). In addition, the NSSP set a MSC density of $1.70 \log_{10} PFU$ (or 50 PFU) per 100 gram of oysters as the threshold for the closure of sewage contaminated shellfish growing area (NSSP, 2013). In our study, the concentrations of coliphages in oysters and harvest waters could indicate fecal contamination; however, their concentrations were very low and barely detectable. As a result, it is unlikely that they can reliably indicate a potential health risk (Chung et al. 1998; DePaola et al. 2010). Therefore, monitoring of harvesting waters and oysters for pathogenic enteric viruses is crucial (Hernandez-Morga et al. 2009). Our study supports the dual criterion of NoV detection and elevated MSC (>1.70 \log_{10} PFU/100g) in oysters to flag for potential public health issues (DePaola et al. 2010).

2.6. Acknowledgements

This project was supported by Agriculture and Food Research Initiative Competitive Grant no. 2011-6800-30395 from the USDA National Institute of Food and Agriculture. The authors would like to thank Dr. William Burkhardt and his team (U.S. FDA Gulf Coast Seafood Laboratory), Dr. Jan Vinjé and his team (CDC), Dr. Christine Moe and the team (Emory University), Dr. Jennifer Cannon (University of Georgia), Dr. Lee-Ann Jaykus and the research team (North Carolina State University), and the Molluscan Shellfish Program (Louisiana Department of Health and Hospitals).

2.7. References

- Alfano-Sobsey, E., Sweat, D., Hall, A., Breedlove, F., Rodriguez, R., Greene, S., Pierce, A., Sobsey, M., Davies, M. and Ledford, S.L. (2012) Norovirus outbreak associated with undercooked oysters and secondary household transmission. Epidemiology & Infection 140(2), 276-282. doi: 10.1017/S0950268811000665.
- Altschul, S.F., Madden, T.L., Schaffer, A.A., Zhang, J., Zhang, Z., Miller, W. and Lipman, D.J. (1997) Gapped BLAST and PSI-BLAST: a new generation of protein database search programs. Nucleic Acids Research 25(17), 3389-3402. doi: 10.1093/nar/25.17.3389.
- Bosch, A., Pintó, R.M. and Abad, F.X. (2006) Survival and transport of enteric viruses in the environment. *In*: Viruses in Foods. Goyal, S.M. (ed), pp. 151-187, Springer, New York, NY.
- Boxman, I.L., Verhoef, L., Dijkman, R., Hägele, G., Te Loeke, N.A. and Koopmans, M. (2011) Year-round prevalence of norovirus in the environment of catering companies without a recently reported outbreak of gastroenteritis. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 77(9), 2968-2974. doi: 10.1128/AEM.02354-10.
- Brion, G.M., Meschke, J.S. and Sobsey, M.D. (2002) F-specific RNA coliphages: occurrence, types, and survival in natural waters. Water Research 36(9), 2419-2425. doi: 10.1016/S0043-1354(01)00547-4.

- Burkhardt, W. and Calci, K.R. (2000) Selective accumulation may account for shellfishassociated viral illness. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 66(4), 1375-1378.
- Burkhardt, W., Woods, J.W., Nordstrom, J. and Hartman, G. (2006) A real-time RT-PCR protocol for the simultaneous detection of norovirus and enteroviruses, U.S. Food and Drug Administration, Gulf Coast Seafood Laboratory, Dauphin Island, AL (LIB #4369).
- Campos, C.J. and Lees, D.N. (2014) Environmental transmission of human noroviruses in shellfish waters. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 80(12), 3552-3561. doi: 10.1128/AEM.04188-13.
- Campos, C.J.A., Kershaw, S.R. and Lee, R.J. (2013) Environmental influences on faecal indicator organisms in coastal waters and their accumulation in bivalve shellfish. Estuaries and Coasts 36(4), 834-853. doi: 10.1007/s12237-013-9599-y.
- Chung, H., Jaykus, L.A., Lovelace, G. and Sobsey, M.D. (1998) Bacteriophages and bacteria as indicators of enteric viruses in oysters and their harvest waters. Water Science and Technology 38(12), 37-44. doi: 10.1016/S0273-1223(98)00797-5.
- DePaola, A., Jones, J.L., Woods, J., Burkhardt, W., 3rd, Calci, K.R., Krantz, J.A., Bowers, J.C., Kasturi, K., Byars, R.H., Jacobs, E., Williams-Hill, D. and Nabe, K. (2010) Bacterial and viral pathogens in live oysters: 2007 United States market survey. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 76(9), 2754-2768. doi: 10.1128/AEM.02590-09.
- Donaldson, K.A., Griffin, D.W. and Paul, J.H. (2002) Detection, quantitation and identification of enteroviruses from surface waters and sponge tissue from the Florida Keys using real-time RT-PCR. Water Research 36(10), 2505-2514. doi: 10.1016/S0043-1354(01)00479-1.
- Doré, W.J., Henshilwood, K. and Lees, D.N. (2000) Evaluation of F-specific RNA bacteriophage as a candidate human enteric virus indicator for bivalve molluscan shellfish. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 66(4), 1280-1285. doi: 10.1128/AEM.66.4.1280-1285.2000.
- Fong, T.T., Griffin, D.W. and Lipp, E.K. (2005) Molecular assays for targeting human and bovine enteric viruses in coastal waters and their application for library-independent source tracking. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 71(4), 2070-2078. doi: 10.1128/AEM.71.4.2070-2078.2005.
- Gentry, J., Vinjé, J., Guadagnoli, D. and Lipp, E.K. (2009a) Norovirus distribution within an estuarine environment. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 75(17), 5474-5480. doi: 10.1128/AEM.00111-09.
- Gentry, J., Vinjé, J. and Lipp, E.K. (2009b) A rapid and efficient method for quantitation of genogroups I and II norovirus from oysters and application in other complex environmental samples. Journal of Virological Methods 156(1-2), 59-65. doi: 10.1016/j.jviromet.2008.11.001.

- Green, K.Y. (2007) Caliciviridae: the noroviruses. *In*: Fields Virology. Knipe, D.M. and Howley, P.M. (eds), pp. 949-979, Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, Philadelphia, PA.
- Greenberg, A.E. and Hunt, D.A. (1984) Laboratory procedures for the examination of seawater and shellfish, pp. 41-45, American Public Health Association. p. 41-45, Washington, D.C.
- Hall, A.J., Wikswo, M.E., Pringle, K., Gould, L.H., Parashar, U.D. and Division of Viral Diseases - National Center for Immunization and Respiratory Diseases - CDC (2014) Vital signs: foodborne norovirus outbreaks - United States, 2009-2012. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report 63(22), 491-495.
- Hernandez-Morga, J., Leon-Felix, J., Peraza-Garay, F., Gil-Salas, B. and Chaidez, C. (2009) Detection and characterization of hepatitis A virus and norovirus in estuarine water samples using ultrafiltration-RT-PCR integrated methods. Journal of Applied Microbiology 106(5), 1579-1590. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2672.2008.04125.x
- Howell, T. (2009) Modified double agar overlay method for determining male-specific coliphage in soft shelled clams and American oysters. For submission to the Interstate Shellfish Sanitation Conference (ISSC). p. 35.
- Jothikumar, N., Lowther, J.A., Henshilwood, K., Lees, D.N., Hill, V.R. and Vinjé, J. (2005) Rapid and sensitive detection of noroviruses by using TaqMan-based one-step reverse transcription-PCR assays and application to naturally contaminated shellfish samples. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 71(4), 1870-1875. doi: 10.1128/AEM.71.4.1870-1875.2005.
- Kageyama, T., Kojima, S., Shinohara, M., Uchida, K., Fukushi, S., Hoshino, F.B., Takeda, N. and Katayama, K. (2003) Broadly reactive and highly sensitive assay for Norwalk-like viruses based on real-time quantitative reverse transcription-PCR. Journal of Clinical Microbiology 41(4), 1548-1557. doi: 10.1128/JCM.41.4.1548-1557.2003.
- Katayama, H., Shimasaki, A. and Ohgaki, S. (2002) Development of a virus concentration method and its application to detection of enterovirus and Norwalk virus from coastal seawater. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 68(3), 1033-1039. doi: 10.1128/AEM.68.3.1033-1039.2002.
- Knight, A., Li, D., Uyttendaele, M. and Jaykus, L.A. (2013) A critical review of methods for detecting human noroviruses and predicting their infectivity. Critical Reviews in Microbiology 39(3), 295-309. doi: 10.3109/1040841X.2012.709820.
- Kojima, S., Kageyama, T., Fukushi, S., Hoshino, F.B., Shinohara, M., Uchida, K., Natori, K., Takeda, N. and Katayama, K. (2002) Genogroup-specific PCR primers for detection of Norwalk-like viruses. Journal of Virological Methods 100(1-2), 107-114. doi: 10.1016/S0166-0934(01)00404-9.

- Loosanoff, V.L. (1958) Some aspects of behavior of oysters at different temperatures. Biological Bulletin 114(1), 57-70.
- Love, D.C., Lovelace, G.L. and Sobsey, M.D. (2010) Removal of *Escherichia coli*, *Enterococcus fecalis*, coliphage MS2, poliovirus, and hepatitis A virus from oysters (*Crassostrea virginica*) and hard shell clams (*Mercinaria mercinaria*) by depuration. International Journal of Food Microbiology 143(3), 211-217. doi: 10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2010.08.028.
- Lowther, J.A., Gustar, N.E., Hartnell, R.E. and Lees, D.N. (2012a) Comparison of norovirus RNA levels in outbreak-related oysters with background environmental levels. Journal of Food Protection 75(2), 389-393. doi: 10.4315/0362-028X.JFP-11-360.
- Lowther, J.A., Gustar, N.E., Powell, A.L., Hartnell, R.E. and Lees, D.N. (2012b) Two-year systematic study to assess norovirus contamination in oysters from commercial harvesting areas in the United Kingdom. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 78(16), 5812-5817. doi: 10.1128/AEM.01046-12.
- Mattison, K., Grudeski, E., Auk, B., Charest, H., Drews, S.J., Fritzinger, A., Gregoricus, N., Hayward, S., Houde, A., Lee, B.E., Pang, X.L., Wong, J., Booth, T.F. and Vinjé, J. (2009) Multicenter comparison of two norovirus ORF2-based genotyping protocols. Journal of Clinical Microbiology 47(12), 3927-3932. doi: 10.1128/JCM.00497-09.
- McIntyre, L., Galanis, E., Mattison, K., Mykytczuk, O., Buenaventura, E., Wong, J., Prystajecky, N., Ritson, M., Stone, J., Moreau, D., Youssef, A. and Outbreak Investigation Team (2012) Multiple clusters of norovirus among shellfish consumers linked to symptomatic oyster harvesters. Journal of Food Protection 75(9), 1715-1720. doi: 10.4315/0362-028X.JFP-12-113.
- National Shellfish Sanitation Program (NSSP) (2013) Guide for the Control of Molluscan Shellfish, Department of Health and Human Services-Public Health Service-Food and Drug Administration, Washington, D.C.
- Nordstrom, J.L., Vickery, M.C., Blackstone, G.M., Murray, S.L. and DePaola, A. (2007) Development of a multiplex real-time PCR assay with an internal amplification control for the detection of total and pathogenic *Vibrio parahaemolyticus* bacteria in oysters. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 73(18), 5840-5847. doi: 10.1128/AEM.00460-07.
- Oliveira, J., Cunha, A., Castilho, F., Romalde, J.L. and Pereira, M.J. (2011) Microbial contamination and purification of bivalve shellfish: Crucial aspects in monitoring and future perspectives: a mini-review. Food Control 22(6), 805-816. doi: 10.1016/j.foodcont.2010.11.032.
- Rajko-Nenow, P., Keaveney, S., Flannery, J., McIntyre, A. and Doré, W. (2014) Norovirus genotypes implicated in two oyster-related illness outbreaks in Ireland. Epidemiology & Infection 142(10), 2096-2104. doi: 10.1017/S0950268813003014.

- Rajko-Nenow, P., Keaveney, S., Flannery, J., O'Flaherty, V. and Doré, W. (2012) Characterisation of norovirus contamination in an Irish shellfishery using real-time RTqPCR and sequencing analysis. International Journal of Food Microbiology 160(2), 105-112. doi: 10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2012.10.001.
- Rippey, S.R. (1994) Infectious diseases associated with molluscan shellfish consumption. Clinical Microbiology Reviews 7(4), 419-425.
- Rodriguez, R.A., Bounty, S., Beck, S., Chan, C., McGuire, C. and Linden, K.G. (2014) Photoreactivation of bacteriophages after UV disinfection: role of genome structure and impacts of UV source. Water Research 55, 143-149. doi: 10.1016/j.watres.2014.01.065.
- Shieh, Y.C., Baric, R.S., Woods, J.W. and Calci, K.R. (2003) Molecular surveillance of enterovirus and norwalk-like virus in oysters relocated to a municipal-sewage-impacted gulf estuary. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 69(12), 7130-7136. doi: 10.1128/AEM.69.12.7130-7136.2003.
- Siebenga, J.J., Vennema, H., Zheng, D.P., Vinjé, J., Lee, B.E., Pang, X.L., Ho, E.C., Lim, W., Choudekar, A., Broor, S., Halperin, T., Rasool, N.B., Hewitt, J., Greening, G.E., Jin, M., Duan, Z.J., Lucero, Y., O'Ryan, M., Hoehne, M., Schreier, E., Ratcliff, R.M., White, P.A., Iritani, N., Reuter, G. and Koopmans, M. (2009) Norovirus illness is a global problem: emergence and spread of norovirus GII.4 variants, 2001-2007. The Journal of Infectious Diseases 200(5), 802-812. doi: 10.1086/605127.
- Tamura, K. and Nei, M. (1993) Estimation of the number of nucleotide substitutions in the control region of mitochondrial DNA in humans and chimpanzees. Molecular Biology and Evolution 10(3), 512-526.
- Tamura, K., Stecher, G., Peterson, D., Filipski, A. and Kumar, S. (2013) MEGA6: Molecular Evolutionary Genetics Analysis version 6.0. Molecular Biology and Evolution 30(12), 2725-2729. doi: 10.1093/molbev/mst197.
- Tse, H., Lau, S.K., Chan, W.-M., Choi, G.K., Woo, P.C. and Yuen, K.-Y. (2012) Complete genome sequences of novel canine noroviruses in Hong Kong. Journal of Virology 86(17), 9531-9532. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01312-12.
- U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (2001) Method 1602: Male-specific (F+) and somatic coliphage in water by single agar layer (SAL) procedure, U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Washington, D.C.
- U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (2002) Method 1600: Enterococci in water by membrane filtration using membrane-enterococcus indoxyl-β-d-glucoside agar (mEI), U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Washington, DC.
- U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (2003) Standard Method 9222D. Fecal coliform membrane filter procedure, U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Washington, DC.

- U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (2009) Method 1603: *Escherichia coli* (*E. coli*) in water by membrane filtration using modified membrane-thermotolerant *Escherichia coli* agar (Modified mTEC), EPA-821-R-09-007, U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Washington, DC.
- U.S. Food and Drug Administration (2011) FDA and EPA safety levels in regulations and guidance (Appendix 5). *In*: Fish and Fishery Products Hazards and Controls Guidance, p. 468, U.S. Food and Drug Administration, Washington, DC.
- Vega, E., Barclay, L., Gregoricus, N., Shirley, S.H., Lee, D. and Vinjé, J. (2014) Genotypic and epidemiologic trends of norovirus outbreaks in the United States, 2009 to 2013. Journal of Clinical Microbiology 52(1), 147-155. doi: 10.1128/JCM.02680-13.
- Verhoef, L., Vennema, H., van Pelt, W., Lees, D., Boshuizen, H., Henshilwood, K., Koopmans, M. and Food-Borne Viruses in Europe Network (2010) Use of norovirus genotype profiles to differentiate origins of foodborne outbreaks. Emerg Infect Dis 16(4), 617-624. doi: 10.3201/eid1604.090723.
- Vinjé, J. (2015) Advances in laboratory methods for detection and typing of norovirus. Journal of Clinical Microbiology 53(2), 373-381. doi: 10.1128/JCM.01535-14.
- Woods, J.W. and Burkhardt III, W. (2011) A modified protocol for concentration and detection of norovirus in oysters implicated in an outbreak. *In*: Abstracts, 1st Foods Program Science and Research Conference, Laurel, MD, June 21–22, U.S. Food and Drug Administration.
- Woods, J.W., González-Escalona, N. and Burkhardt III, W. (2011) Direct sequencing of hepatitis A virus and norovirus RT-PCR products from environmentally contaminated oyster using M13-tailed primers. Journal of Virological Methods 178(1-2), 253-257. doi: 10.1016/j.jviromet.2011.09.014.
- Wu, J., Long, S.C., Das, D. and Dorner, S. (2011) Are microbial indicators and pathogens correlated? A statistical analysis of 40 years of research. Journal of Water Health 9(2), 265-278.
- Zheng, D.P., Ando, T., Fankhauser, R.L., Beard, R.S., Glass, R.I. and Monroe, S.S. (2006) Norovirus classification and proposed strain nomenclature. Virololgy 346(2), 312-323. doi: 10.1016/j.virol.2005.11.015.

CHAPTER 3. ENTERIC VIRUSES IN THE MUNICIPAL WASTEWATER

3.1. Introduction

Enteric viruses are responsible for a wide range of infections in humans with diverse symptoms. Infected individuals shed millions of virus particles in their feces or body fluids, which eventually enter sewage systems. Enteric viruses may naturally occur in aquatic environments as well, but human activities, in particular sewage discharge is the primary source of environmental contaminants (Fong and Lipp 2005, Lees 2000, Skraber et al. 2011). Among the pathogenic enteric viruses, norovirus, enterovirus, adenovirus, astrovirus and rotavirus have been frequently found in municipal wastewaters worldwide (Fong and Lipp 2005, Kitajima et al. 2012, Myrmel et al. 2006, Symonds et al. 2009). Several gastroenteritis outbreaks have been linked directly or indirectly to human exposure of raw or partially treated sewage-contaminated water or foods (Lees 2000).

Municipal wastewaters usually undergo a secondary treatment before being discharged into the environment. The process involves mechanical treatment for removing solids followed by biological and chemical treatments, nutrient removal and discharge (Bitton 2011). Primary treated (physically processed) wastewater or the effluent water that does not undergo a disinfection process may still harbor infectious enteric viruses similar to the raw sewage (Hewitt et al. 2011, Myrmel et al. 2006). To protect water quality and public safety, fecal coliforms or *E. coli* are used to monitor fecal pollution in wastewater discharge or environmental waters. In general, viruses are more resistant than bacteria to UV treatment or chlorination, two common disinfection strategies in secondary wastewater treatment (Bitton 2011, Francy et al. 2012). The aggregation of viruses in water or other wastewater solids reduces the efficacy of disinfectants, and helps viruses maintain their infectivity when discharged into the environmental waters

(Bitton 2011, Keswick et al. 1985). As a result, the bacterial indicators may not be able to reflect the occurrence of enteric viruses in water efficiently. In this regard, monitoring bacteriophages such as male-specific coliphages (MSC) or even direct measurement of enteric viruses such as enteroviruses and adenovirus have been suggested as more reliable criteria to assess sewage pollutions of human origins in water (Fong and Lipp 2005, Rodriguez et al. 2014).

Norovirus (genus Norovirus, family *Caliciviridae*) causes the most cases of human gastroenteritis worldwide at least during the last decade. Norovirus (NoV) is a positive sense single stranded (+ssRNA) virus comprising six genogroups (GI to GVI) and more than 32 genotypes. Genogroups I, II and IV are responsible for disease in humans, whereas the rest have been found in animals (Green 2007, Vega et al. 2014, Vinjé 2015). Despite the extensive genetically diverse nature, the GII.4 strains remain the predominant cause of the NoV outbreaks in humans globally (Pringle et al. 2015). Enteroviruses (genus Enterovirus, family *Picornaviridae*) are composed of poliovirus, coxsackievirus, echovirus and the numbered enteroviruses is similar to noroviruses. Enterovirus serotypes (EV) are usually transmitted through the fecal-oral routes, and are responsible for a wide range of infections in humans with diverse clinical syndromes such as gastroenteritis and meningitis (Fong and Lipp 2005). Khetsuriani et al. 2006).

In this study, we monitored the loads of pathogenic enteric viruses and microbial indicators in a municipal secondary wastewater treatment plant (WWTP) in the U.S. (New Orleans, Louisiana). The molecular techniques used to analyze viral genomes did not permit absolute quantification of infectious viruses. This is primarily due to the negative effect of inhibitory compounds on optimum amplification of viral RNA and the inability of PCR in

71

distinguishing intact over damaged virus particles. According to the available literature, this is the first report on the year-round monitoring of pathogenic enteric viruses, microbial indicators and NoV diversity in a municipal WWTP influent and effluent in the U.S.

3.2. Material and methods

3.2.1 Wastewater treatment plant and sampling

A municipal WWTP in New Orleans (Louisiana) with an annual average flow of 98 million gallons per day (MGD) for 2013 was studied. The wastewater is generated from New Orleans on the east bank of the Mississippi River with an estimated population of 378,715 (U.S. Census Bureau 2013). The sanitary sewage system collects wastewater using a gravity collection system, and transfers it to the treatment plant through a series of pumping stations. A 24 h a day secondary treatment process employs a high-purity oxygen modification of the activated sludge system, including clarification through sedimentation, chlorination (0.5 mg/L) for disinfection and finally discharge of effluent directly into the Mississippi River (Louisiana). Solids are either returned to the process or wasted and disposed through incineration and then landfill. Monthly samples from influent and effluent waters were obtained from July 2013 to June 2014. Each month, 2 L of 24 h composite influent and effluent samples were collected (4 °C). Even though the samples were collected on the same day, the influent and effluent samples were temporally separate due to the retention time for the influent water to go through the treatment. Effluent samples were collected prior to release into the Mississippi River and were dechlorinated with 0.63 M sodium thiosulfate at 0.5 mL/L of sample. The samples were stored on ice, transported to the Food Microbiology laboratory at Louisiana State University AgCenter, and analyzed within 24 h. Biochemical oxygen demand (BOD), total suspended solids (TSS) and volatile suspended solids (VSS) data were provided by the WWTP laboratory, and were measured according to the

Standard Methods for the Examination of Water and Wastewater protocols No. 5210, 2540D and 2540E, respectively (Rice et al. 2012).

3.2.2. Microbial indicators

Microbial indicators of fecal contamination (fecal coliforms, thermotolerant E. coli, enterococci and male-specific bacteriophages) were quantified in influent and effluent waters using the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (U.S. EPA) standard membrane filter techniques. Fecal coliforms were enumerated on m-FC medium (Difco, Sparks, MD) after incubation at 45 °C for 24 h (U.S. EPA 2003). Thermotolerant E. coli were counted on modified membrane-thermotolerant E. coli agar (m-TEC, Difco) in which the plates were initially incubated at 35 °C for 2 h to resuscitate injured or stressed bacteria, and then incubated at 45 °C for 24 h (U.S. EPA 2009). Enterococci (Enterococcus faecalis, E. faecium, E. avium and variants) were quantified on enterococcus membrane-indoxyl-β-d-glucoside agar (mEI, Difco) following incubation for 24 h at 41 °C (U.S. EPA 2002). Quantities of bacteria were reported as logarithm of colony forming units (CFU) per 100 mL of wastewater samples (log₁₀ CFU/100 mL). Single agar layer (SAL) plaque assay on 2× tryptic soy agar (Difco) containing 3.0 mg/mL of each ampicillin sodium salt and streptomycin sulfate salt (Sigma-Aldrich, Steinheim, Germany) was used for the male-specific coliphages plaque assay using E. coli HS(pFamp)R (ATCC 700891) as the host strain. The plaque forming units (PFU) were counted after incubating the plates for 16-24 h at 37 °C, and reported as log₁₀ PFU per 100 mL wastewater sample. Male-specific (F+) coliphage MS2 (ATCC 15597-B1) was used as positive control along with the samples (U.S. EPA 2001).

3.2.3. Enteric viruses

3.2.3.1. Extraction and concentration of enteric viruses

An ultracentrifuge method was used for the extraction and concentration of enteric viruses from 60 mL of the wastewater samples as developed by the U.S. FDA Gulf Coast Seafood Laboratory at Dauphin Island, AL (U.S. FDA 2010). The RNA was extracted using RNeasy Mini Kit (Qiagen, Germantown, MD) following the manufacturer's instruction with minor modifications (U.S. FDA 2010), in which 15 min hold time was given for each washing steps. The extracted RNA was eluted in 40 μ L THE RNA Storage Solution (1 m*M* sodium citrate, pH 6.4, Ambion), and immediately analyzed or stored frozen at -80 °C until required.

3.2.3.2. Determination of pathogenic enteric viruses

Detection and quantification method followed a multiplex real-time TaqMan-based RT-PCR (RT-qPCR) for simultaneous detection of NoV GI, GII and enterovirus serotypes (EV) along with a heterogeneous internal amplification control (IAC) optimized by Burkhardt et al. (2006) and Nordstrom et al. (2007). The sequence of the primers and probes for NoV GI and GII target sensitive and broadly reactive ORF1-ORF2 junctions, as designed by Kageyama et al. (2003). The primers for EV amplified the 5' untranslated region (UTR) of the enteroviral genome with a panenterovirus primer set (Donaldson et al. 2002). Reaction mixture used Qiagen OneStep RT-PCR kit (Valencia, CA) for a total volume of 25 μ L per reaction and 3.0 μ L of RNA template. A Cepheid SmartCycler[®] II system (Sunnyvale, CA) was used for all the RT-qPCR analyses. The templates were reverse-transcribed at 50 °C for 50 min, and then the DNA polymerase was activated at 95 °C for 15 min, followed by thermal cycling for 10 s at 95 °C, 25 s at 53 °C, and 70 s at 62 °C for a total of 50 cycles, and a final extension at 72 °C for 10 min (threshold = 10). Reactions were considered positive when the emission intensities exceeded the

threshold during the first 46 cycles. All reactions were carried out in duplicate. NoV GI and GII RNA standards (10^9 Genomic Copies (GC)/µL) were kindly provided by Dr. Christian Moe's laboratory at Emory University (Atlanta, GA), and human poliovirus 3 stock (attenuated Sabin strain) kindly provided by Dr. William Burkhardt's laboratory (U.S. FDA Gulf Coast Seafood Laboratory, Dauphin Island, AL), and were utilized as positive controls and for RNA quantification by analyzing serial decimal dilutions of extracted RNA, and assigning the value of one RT-qPCR unit per reaction to the highest dilution showing a positive threshold cycle (Ct) value (Richards et al. 2004). No template control was included in all the analyses to overcome any uncertainty of false-positive responses due to cross-contamination or reaction failure.

3.2.3.3. Sequencing and genotyping noroviruses

The noroviruses samples were genotyped on a bimonthly basis starting from July 2013 until May 2014 to identify the predominant strains present in the influent and effluent waters. The ORF1-ORF2 junction (region C) of the NoV viral genome was amplified by a hemi-nested PCR on a C1000 thermal cycler (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA) by utilizing a OneStep RT-PCR kit (Qiagen), 0.4 μ *M* of each oligonucleotide primer, and 5 units of SUPERase.In RNase Inhibitor (Ambion, Foster City, CA) in a final reaction volume of 25 μ L. Primer sequences were obtained from the previous studies (Kageyama et al. 2003, Kojima et al. 2002). For the first PCR, 5 μ L of extracted RNA was amplified by incorporating COG1F/G1SKR and COG2F/G2SKR primers for NoV GI and GII, respectively. RT-PCR condition was as following: RT for 30 min at 42 °C, heat activation of *Taq* DNA polymerase for 15 min at 95 °C, PCR consisting of 40 cycles at 94 °C for 30 s, 50 °C for 30 s, and 72 °C for 60 s and a final extension for 7 min at 72 °C. The PCR amplicons were purified by electrophoresis using 2% agarose gel (4.83 volts/cm) containing 0.5 μ g/mL ethidium bromide, and extracted by utilizing QIAquick Gel Extraction kit per the

manufacturer's instruction (Qiagen, Valencia, CA). Extracted DNA (1 µL) was subjected to a second PCR with G1SKF/G1SKR primers for GI and G2SKF/G2SKR primers for GII under the same condition excluding the RT step (Kojima et al. 2002, Mattison et al. 2009). PCR amplicons (330 bp for GI and 344 bp for GII) were gel-purified and cloned into a pCR2.1-TOPO TA vector using TOPO TA Cloning Kit, with TOP10 *E. coli* (Life Technologies).

Sequences were read on an ABI Prism BigDye terminator cycle sequencing reaction kit (Applied Biosystems) on an ABI Prism 3130 automated sequencer Genetic Analyzer (Life Technologies), and processed on CLC Sequence Viewer (version 7.5, CLC Bio, Aarhus, Denmark). Phylogenic trees of the partial capsid gene sequences (ORF2 region, 264 nucleotide for GI and 252 nucleotide for GII) were inferred by the maximum likelihood analysis based on the Tamura-Nei model (Tamura and Nei 1993) using the MEGA 6 software (Tamura et al. 2013). Reference strains were retrieved from the GenBank sequence database deposited at NCBI (Vinjé 2015, Zheng et al. 2006).

3.3. Data analysis

The logarithmic removal was calculated by subtracting logarithmic concentrations of variables in effluent from influent according to Francy et al. (2012). Significant differences among mean ranks and multiple comparisons were evaluated using Kruskal Wallis test at α = 0.05. Univariate logistic regression model was used to evaluate the contribution of each microbial group to the occurrence of others. Pearson product-moment correlation coefficient (*r*) was used to assess the correlation among variables. Software RStudio (version 0.98.1091, RStudio Inc., Boston, MA) was used for the statistical analyses and visualization. Local minimum and maximum weather temperature data were obtained from the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration's National Climatic Data Center (NOAA-NCDC), Carrollton

station (latitude: 29.934°, longitude -90.136°), and reported as midrange values. A threshold of 21 °C was considered to categorize the data into warm months (June-May) and cold months (November-April). Seasons were classified as spring (March-May), summer (June-August), fall (September-November) and winter (December-February).

3.4. Results

3.4.1. PCR performance

Analysis of serially diluted standard RNA showed RT-qPCR efficiencies of 87.22%, 96.25% and 95.29% for NoV GI, GII and EV, respectively; the coefficients of determination (R^2) ranged from 0.986 to 0.992 (Figures 8-10, Table 2). Promising results were obtained from the end-point hemi-nested PCR. Even though, in some cases, the RT-PCR did not yield bright or visible bands, the agarose gel purification of the amplicons yielded 100% positive reactions in the second PCR (Appendix 2-3).

3.4.2. Pathogenic enteric viruses and microbial indicators

Monthly composite influent and effluent waters were obtained when no flooding or heavy rain had occurred within 24 h prior to each sample collections. Figures 13 and 14 represents the weather temperature, and BOD, TSS and VSS content of wastewater samples, respectively. Enteric viruses were observed nearly all year round (Figure 15). Overall, 83.3% of the influent samples (10/12) and 33.3% of the effluent samples (4/12) were positive for NoV GI, whereas NoV GII and EV were more prevalent and detected similarly in 100% (12/12) of the influent and 83.3% (10/12) of the effluent samples. The concentration of NoV GII was greater than NoV GI and EV in both influent and effluent waters (p < 0.05). Fecal coliforms and *E. coli* and MSC were detected in all the influent and effluent samples while enterococci was observed in 100%

(12/12) of the influent and 66.7% (8/12) of the effluent waters, all with a slight fluctuation over time (Table 6, Figure 16).



Months

Figure 13. Mid-range weather temperature (°C) in New Orleans (LA) for each sample collection day

3.4.3. Trends and seasonality

Among the indicator bacteria, only *E. coli* densities in influent was affected by seasonality (p = 0.016), reaching the highest concentrations in summer and fall (averaged 6.2 ± 0.0 log₁₀ CFU/100mL), with higher loads in warmer months (averaged 6.2 ± 0.0 log₁₀ CFU/100mL) than cold months (averaged 5.9 ± 0.1 log₁₀ CFU/100mL, p = 0.03). Stronger fluctuations were observed in the densities of pathogenic enteric viruses (NoV GI, NoV GII and EV) with distinct trend over time in NoV GII and EV (Figure 15). Similar to the MSC, the concentration of NoV GII and EV in the influent increased up to April (cold months), which

resulted a sharp increase in seasonal concentrations during spring (March-May), with the means of $4.7 \pm 0.1 \log_{10}$ PFU/100mL, $5.9 \pm 0.2 \log_{10}$ GC/100mL and $1.7 \pm 0.2 \log_{10}$ RT-qPCR unit/100mL for MSC, NoV GII and EV, respectively. Similarly, EV showed another increase in fall with an average value of $1.8 \pm 0.1 \log_{10}$ RT-qPCR unit/100mL.

Only in the case of NoV GI and GII, the monthly changes in the influent could reflect their concentrations in influent (r = 0.41 and 045, respectively, p < 0.05). Among the pathogenic enteric viruses, NoV GI and EV densities in the influent and GII in the effluent were correlated with the weather temperature (r = -0.56, 0.42 and -0.59, respectively, p < 0.05). The strongest correlations (r > 0.45) between enteric pathogens and microbial indicators were found between NoV GII and MSC both in the influent and effluent (r = 0.48 and 0.76, respectively, p < 0.05). In addition, univariate logistic regression analyses indicated the occurrence of NoV GII on the level of MSC in the effluent (odds ratio (OR) = 1.45, 97.5% confidence interval (CI) = 1.06 to 1.98, p = 0.030). EV was correlated with NoV GII in the influent (r = 0.45); however the presence or absence of EV was unrelated to the NoV GII densities (p > 0.05). Among the indicator bacteria, enterococci showed the strongest correlation with the fecal coliforms (r > r0.63) and E. coli (r > 0.77), followed by fecal coliforms and E. coli (r > 0.55) in both influent and effluent waters. In this regard, the presence or absence of enterococci in the effluent was in accordance with the concentration of E. coli (OR = 1.48, CI = 1.22 to 1.79, p = 0.0007), and coliforms (OR = 1.41, CI = 1.19 to 1.67, p = 0.0006).

3.4.4. Microbial removal

Secondary treatment of wastewater resulted in significant removal in all microbial groups. The removal was more pronounced in indicator bacteria (4.36 log_{10} , p > 0.05), followed by NoV GII, EV and MSC (1.48 log_{10} , p > 0.05) and then NoV GI (0.95 log_{10}). In general, log

removals in indicator bacteria and NoV GI were similar during warm versus cold months; however, for the rest of the microbial groups higher removal was observed in warm months. Close similarity in monthly log removal was found between MSC and NoV GII (r = 0.72), and between MSC and EV (r = 0.73). Among all the microbial groups, microbial removal in NoV GII and EV were correlated with weather temperature (r = 0.70 and 0.57, respectively). In general, log removal in the indicator bacteria did not have strong seasonality (p > 0.05), whereas it was higher in MSC during fall and summer (1.65 log₁₀), NoV GI during fall and winter (1.17 log₁₀), and in NoV GII in summer and fall (2.32 log₁₀), and EV in summer (1.74 log₁₀).

3.4.5. Genetic diversity of noroviruses

Seven norovirus genotypes were identified from a total of 72 clones (Figures 17 and 18, Table 7). NoV GI.1 Norwalk was present in all the samples except for the influent water in January, comprising 72.2% (13/18) and 83.3 % (15/18) of the influent and effluent clones, respectively; followed by GI.3 and GI.4 which each comprised 11.1% (4/36) of the GI clones. NoV GII.4 Sydney dominated the NoV GII genotypes, and was identified in 22.2% (4/18) of the influent and 50.0% (9/18) of the effluent clones. The rest of the GII.4 genotypes (30.6%, 11/18) could not be distinguished at a strain level. Other genotypes were GII.3 (19.4%, 7/36), GII.13 (13.9%, 5/36) and GII.21 (2.78%, 1/36).

3.5. Discussion

Due to the inability to grow human NoV in cell culture, RT-qPCR has been used extensively for the detection and quantification of NoV in environmental matrices and clinical specimens, particularly where the virus densities are usually low (Fong and Lipp 2005, Knight et



Figure 14. Concentrations of biochemical oxygen demand (BOD), total suspended solids (TSS) and volatile suspended solids (VSS) in the wastewater influent and effluent waters.



Figure 15. Concentrations of NoV GI, GII and EV in the wastewater influent and effluent (mean \pm SE).

	Fecal coliforms		E. coli		Enterococci	
Month, year	Influent	Effluent	Influent	Effluent	Influent	Effluent
July, 2013	5.58 ± 0.13^{e}	2.62 ± 0.38^{ab}	6.22 ± 0.08^{a}	2.50 ± 0.00^{b}	4.99 ± 0.18^{abc}	0.17 ± 0.12^{a}
August, 2013	6.04 ± 0.07^{abcd}	$1.81 \pm 0.34^{\rm cdf}$	6.17 ± 0.05^{ab}	1.67 ± 0.07^{d}	5.22 ± 0.19^{a}	0.60 ± 0.30^{b}
September, 2013	6.25 ± 0.22^{abc}	1.38 ± 0.35^{detg}	6.22 ± 0.01^{a}	1.52 ± 0.02^{e}	5.08 ± 0.13^{abc}	$0.13 \pm 0.00^{\circ}$
October, 2013	6.14 ± 0.32^{abcd}	1.90 ± 0.03^{bcd}	6.24 ± 0.06^{a}	$2.17 \pm 0.09^{\circ}$	5.08 ± 0.01^{ab}	0.83 ± 0.02^{ab}
November, 2013	6.27 ± 0.27^{ab}	1.11 ± 0.08^{etg}	6.22 ± 0.02^{a}	1.44 ± 0.13^{e}	5.09 ± 0.16^{abc}	$0.13 \pm 0.00^{\circ}$
December, 2013	6.06 ± 0.21^{abcde}	3.99 ± 0.08^{a}	6.07 ± 0.26^{ab}	3.47 ± 0.09^{e}	5.37 ± 0.12^{a}	0.92 ± 0.09^{ab}
January, 2014	5.86 ± 0.03^{bcde}	0.54 ± 0.15^{g}	$5.78 \pm 0.02^{\rm bc}$	0.57 ± 0.03^{h}	$4.59 \pm 0.21^{\circ}$	$0.13 \pm 0.00^{\circ}$
February, 2014	5.70 ± 0.06^{de}	0.81 ± 0.25^{tg}	$5.43 \pm 0.17^{\circ}$	$1.03\pm0.03^{\text{gh}}$	$4.59 \pm 0.24^{\rm bc}$	$0.13 \pm 0.00^{\circ}$
March, 2014	6.20 ± 0.209^{abc}	2.43 ± 0.14^{ab}	6.13 ± 0.09^{abc}	2.79 ± 0.12^{ab}	5.50 ± 0.50^a	0.43 ± 0.03^{b}
April, 2014	$5.82 \pm 0.06^{\text{cde}}$	2.19 ± 0.19^{abc}	$5.49 \pm 0.10^{\circ}$	$2.09 \pm 0.01^{\circ}$	$4.77 \pm 0.05^{\rm bc}$	$0.17 \pm 0.04^{\circ}$
May, 2014	6.34 ± 0.15^{ab}	1.55 ± 0.02^{def}	5.94 ± 0.04^{abc}	$1.15 \pm 0.01^{\text{fg}}$	4.98 ± 0.03^{abc}	$0.13 \pm 0.00^{\circ}$
June, 2014	6.41 ± 0.17^{a}	1.83 ± 0.26^{bcd}	6.22 ± 0.03^{a}	1.23 ± 0.06^{t}	5.35 ± 0.04^{a}	$0.13 \pm 0.00^{\circ}$

Table 6. Concentrations of indicator bacteria in the influent and effluent of the wastewater treatment plant over the sampling month*

* Units: \log_{10} CFU/100mL. Note: Within each microbial group and source (influent or effluent), means with the same letter are not significantly different. All values are reported as mean \pm SE.



Figure 16. Concentrations of male-specific coliphages (MSC) in the wastewater influent and effluent (mean \pm SE).

al. 2013, Pringle et al. 2015, Vinjé 2015). Wastewater contains humic compounds, divalent cation and salts, which may occur in the PCR template, negatively inhibit the amplification efficiency and underestimate quantification or cause false-negative results (Hewitt et al. 2011, Toze 1999). The internal amplification control used in the RT- qPCR reactions was able to monitor any inhibitory effect. In this regard, the virus and RNA extraction protocols were efficient in removing the majority of the inhibitory compounds. The potential effects of the remaining inhibitory substances were mitigated by serial dilution of the RNA template prior to analysis.

The concentration of NoV GII was higher than GI, which is in accordance with previous reports and epidemiological trends in the U.S. and globally (Hall et al. 2014, Hewitt

et al. 2011, Skraber et al. 2011). Epidemiological data in the U.S. and worldwide have shown that NoV outbreaks peak in the colder winter months globally, with 55% of the cases in the U.S. occurring in December-February (Ahmed et al. 2013, Hall et al. 2014), which is in agreement with our observation of high NoV GII densities (5.6 log₁₀ GC/100mL) in the influent in November-March, and previous reports (Katayama et al. 2008, Skraber et al. 2011, Victoria et al. 2010).

The dominant GI genotypes with the order of prevalence were GI.1 Norwalk, GI.3c and GI.4. We did not identify any GI.6; however, it was the dominated GI genotype isolated from forty nine WTTP in Netherland (van den Berg et al. 2005). The GI.1 was the dominated NoV strain in the influent; however, this genotype has been associated with only less than 1% of the outbreaks in the U.S. during 2009-2013, as opposed to GI.6 (49.7%), GI.3 (24.6%) and GI.4 (9.9%) (Vega et al. 2014). It suggests that non-epidemic or sub-clinical gastroenteritis incidences in the community might be contributed to the high prevalence of GI.1 strains that were reflected in the influent samples (Myrmel et al. 2006). Other NoV genotypes that have been reported in WWTP are GI/2, 5-9, 11, 12 & 14 and GII/1, 2, 5-12, 15-17 (Kitajima et al. 2012, Rajko-Nenow et al. 2013).

NoV GII.4 has been largely associated with the gastroenteritis outbreaks in the U.S. and worldwide, and the most frequently identified genotype in foodborne NoV outbreaks (Pringle et al. 2015) and wastewater (Kitajima et al. 2012, Rajko-Nenow et al. 2013, Skraber et al. 2011). According to epidemiological studies, about 94% of all outbreaks in the U.S. during 2009-2013 have been typed as NoV GII.4 New Orleans or GII.4 Sydney. These two strains have been known as emerging recombinants and implicated severe gastroenteritis outbreaks worldwide (Pringle et al. 2015, Vega et al. 2014). The GII.13 and GII.21 that were detected

in our study have been rarely reported, and have been responsible for less than 1% of the NoV outbreaks in the U.S., 2009 to 2013 (Vega et al. 2014). The presence of multiple genotypes in wastewaters may contribute to the emergence of recombinant strains with potentially more severe public health risks (van den Berg et al. 2005, Vega et al. 2014).

In general, the concentrations of EV in the wastewater samples were lower than what Hewitt et al. (2011) reported in multiple WWTP, in which EV exceeded NoV GI and GII concentrations, and reached 1.8-5.7 and 0.5-4.3 log₁₀ GC/100mL in the influent and effluent, respectively. Katayama et al. (2008) found that adenoviruses concentration in the influent of a WWTP in Japan was higher than NoV and EV. The concentration of EV in the influent was within the range as reported by others (Katayama et al. 2008). Epidemiological studies of enterovirus infection cases in the U.S. have shown remarkable seasonality, increasing sharply during summer and fall with a peak in August (Khetsuriani et al. 2006). We observed that the highest concentrations of EV occurred in fall and spring and the lowest concentrations in spring and winter (Figure 15).

High prevalence of enteric pathogens in wastewater throughout the year reflects the circulation of the pathogens in a population. Therefore, even when the rates of epidemiological and clinical cases are low the potential health risks still exist (Cheng et al., 2012, da Silva et al. 2007, Haramoto et al. 2006, Hewitt et al. 2011, Katayama et al. 2008, Myrmel et al. 2006, van den Berg et al. 2005, Victoria et al. 2010). Secondary treatment has shown to be effective in reducing the microbial load but inefficient to completely remove them. In accordance with previous reports, log removal was lower in pathogenic enteric viruses than indicator bacteria (Victoria et al. 2010). Microbial removal in EV was 1.4 log₁₀,

86

Figure 17. Phylogenetic tree for norovirus GI strains using 264 nucleotides of the partial capsid gene sequences. Reference strains start with GI followed by the GenBank accession numbers (Vinjé 2015, Zheng et al. 2006). Samples start with the months, followed by the source (In: influent/Ef: effluent), replicates (A-C) and the GenBank accession numbers.





Figure 18. Phylogenetic tree for norovirus GII strains using 252 nucleotides of the partial capsid gene sequences. Reference strains start with GII followed by the GenBank accession numbers (Vinjé 2015, Zheng et al. 2006). Samples start with the months, followed by the source (In: influent/Ef: effluent), replicates (A-C) and the GenBank accession numbers.



Month	Source	NoV GI	NoV GII	
July, 2013	Influent	GI.1 Norwalk (3/3)	GII.3c Rotterdam (2/3), GII.13	
	Effluent	GI.1 Norwalk (3/3)	GII.4 (3/3)	
September, 2013	Influent	GI.1 Norwalk (2/3), GI.3c	GII.4 (3/3)	
	Effluent	GI.1 Norwalk (1/3), GI.3c	GII.4 Sydney (3/3)	
November, 2013	Influent	GI.1 Norwalk (2/3), GI.3c	GII.3c Rotterdam (3/3)	
	Effluent	GI 1 Norwalk (3/3)	GII.4 Sydney (1/3), GII.4 (1/3),	
	Linuent	GI.1 NOI WAIK $(5/5)$	GII.13 (1/3)	
January, 2014	Influent	GI.4 (3/3)	GII.13 (3/3)	
	Effluent	GI.1 Norwalk (2/3), GI.4	GII.3c Rotterdam (2/3), GII.21	
		(1/3)	(1/3)	
March, 2014	Influent	GI.1 Norwalk (3/3)	GII.4 Sydney (3/3)	
	Effluent	GI.1 Norwalk (3/3)	GII.4 Sydney (2/3), GII.4 (1/3)	
May, 2014	Influent	GI.1 Norwalk (3/3)	GII.4 (3/3)	
	Effluent	GI.1 Norwalk (3/3)	GII.4 Sydney (3/3)	

Table 7. Summary of the dominant Norovirus GI and GII strains identified in the influent and effluent of wastewater.

The numbers in the parentheses denote the number of clones were identified.

which is similar to the previous reports (Hewitt et al. 2011). The NoV removal through the treatment was 1.0-1.6 \log_{10} and was lower than 2.7 \log_{10} observed by van den Berg et al. (2005).

In general, higher concentrations of NoV GI and GII viral genome in the influent resulted in a higher concentration in the effluent; however, the amount of virus removal was varied over time and not related to their initial densities except for NoV GI. Fluctuation in treatment efficiency is expected in a WWTP and can affect microbial removal (Cheng et al. 2012, Symonds et al. 2009). Our results (Figure 15) indicate that NoV GI can be approximately 4.8 times more resistant to the secondary treatment and disinfection than NoV GII, which agrees with the previous reports (Cheng et al. 2012, da Silva et al. 2007). Furthermore, MSC removal may indicate the efficiency of secondary treatment on removing NoV GII in WWTP. Male-specific coliphages (along with *E. coli*) has been suggested as a good indicator of virus removal across conventional secondary disinfection process (Francy

et al. 2012). Assuming a similar abundance and survival of NoV and MSC, we could conclude that at least a portion of NoV GII detected in the effluent maintained their infectivity due to simultaneous detection of viable MSC plaques and the concentrations of NoV GII viral genomes, as suggested by Hewitt et al. (2011) who reported the parallel occurrence of cultivable enteric viruses and PCR concentrations. However, similar to fecal coliforms and *E. coli*, not all the coliphage types are human specific. Non-human fecal matters may pollute water but not necessarily pose a health risk due to enteric viruses. Among four genogroups of MSC, human sewage usually contains groups II and III, in which group II has correlated well with human fecal pollution in water (Brion et al. 2002, Havelaar et al. 1986).

A recommended way to monitor viral contamination is the direct detection of pathogens without using indicators (Fong and Lipp 2005). Regarding the high prevalence of some enteric viruses in the influent, direct monitoring of enteric viruses such as adenoviruses, enteroviruses, NoV and preferably picobirnaviruses has been suggested as viral indicators of fecal contamination (Symonds et al. 2009). Whether the detected levels of NoV or EV in the WWTP samples are considered a health hazard is rather complicated because current RT-PCR assays may not reflect virus infectivity (Knight et al. 2013, Mattison et al. 2009). Additionally, a strong correlation between the removal of viral genome (particularly RNA) and loss of infectivity has been reported that could be due to the rapid degradation of RNA in the environment (reviewed by Fong and Lipp 2005). Assuming similar survival and abundance of NoV and enteroviruses, Hewitt et al. (2011) suggested that at least a proportion of NoV detected in the effluents could be infectious due to the simultaneous occurrence of cultivable enteric viruses and PCR concentrations. Therefore, the secondary treated

wastewater can contribute to release of infectious virus particles in the environment and increase the harmful health effects of human exposure to enteric pathogens.

3.6. Nucleotide sequence accession numbers

The NoV sequences identified in our study can be found in GenBank under the following accession numbers: KP868574, KP868575, KP868576, KP868577, KP868578, KP868579, KP868580, KP868581, KP868582, KP868583, KP868584, KP868585, KP868586. KP868587, KP868588, KP868589, KP868590, KP868591, KP868592, KP868593, KP868594, KP868595, KP868596, KP868597, KP868598, KP868599, KP868600, KP868601, KP868602. KP868603, KP868604, KP868605, KP868606, KP868607, KP868608, KP868609, KP868610, KP868611, KP868612, KP868613 and KP868614.

3.7. Conclusions

According to our monthly surveillance of a municipal WWTP (July 2013-June 2014, New Orleans, Louisiana) we found that the occurrences of pathogenic enteric viruses in wastewater can reflect the circulation of the pathogens in a population but may not follow the epidemiological and clinical trends. Viruses were more resistant than bacteria to the secondary treatment of wastewater; however, the health risks associated with survived infectious virions could not be confirmed. In general, NoV GII were more abundant than NoV GI and EV. Male-specific coliphages may be more reliable than bacterial indicators for monitoring NoV GII load in the wastewater and treatment removal success. This relationship indicates the likelihood of infectious NoV GII occurrence in the effluent water. Therefore, direct monitoring of infections pathogens are still preferred over bacterial indicators particularly when the effluent water to be further utilized for human activities.

3.8. Acknowledgments

This project was supported by Agriculture and Food Research Initiative Competitive Grant no. 2011-6800-30395 from the USDA National Institute of Food and Agriculture. The authors would like to thank Dr. William Burkhardt and Dr. Jacquelina Woods (FDA Gulf Coast Seafood Laboratory), Dr. Jan Vinjé and his team (CDC), Dr. Christine Moe and the team (Emory University), Dr. Jennifer Cannon (University of Georgia), Dr. Lee-Ann Jaykus and the team (North Carolina State University), operating personnel in the wastewater treatment plant, LSU Department of Experimental Statistics, LSU/AgCenter Biotechnology Laboratory and LSU School of Veterinary Medicine.

3.9. References

- Ahmed, S.M., Lopman, B.A. and Levy, K. (2013) A systematic review and meta-analysis of the global seasonality of norovirus. PLoS ONE 8(10), e75922. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0075922.
- Bitton, G. (2011) Wastewater microbiology, pp. 217-266, 269-280, John Wiley & Sons, Hoboken, NJ.
- Brion, G.M., Meschke, J.S. and Sobsey, M.D. (2002) F-specific RNA coliphages: occurrence, types, and survival in natural waters. Water Research 36(9), 2419-2425. doi: 10.1016/S0043-1354(01)00547-4.
- Burkhardt, W., Woods, J.W., Nordstrom, J. and Hartman, G. (2006) A real-time RT-PCR protocol for the simultaneous detection of norovirus and enteroviruses (LIB #4369), U.S. Food and Drug Administration, Gulf Coast Seafood Laboratory, Dauphin Island, AL.
- Cheng, H.-W.A., Lucy, F.E., Broaders, M.A., Mastitsky, S.E., Chen, C.-H. and Murray, A. (2012) Municipal wastewater treatment plants as pathogen removal systems and as a contamination source of noroviruses and *Enterococcus faecalis*. Journal of Water and Health 10(3), 380-389. doi: 10.2166/wh.2012.138.
- da Silva, A.K., Le Saux, J.C., Parnaudeau, S., Pommepuy, M., Elimelech, M. and Le Guyader, F.S. (2007) Evaluation of removal of noroviruses during wastewater

treatment, using real-time reverse transcription-PCR: different behaviors of genogroups I and II. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 73(24), 7891-7897. doi: 10.1128/AEM.01428-07.

- Donaldson, K.A., Griffin, D.W. and Paul, J.H. (2002) Detection, quantitation and identification of enteroviruses from surface waters and sponge tissue from the Florida Keys using real-time RT-PCR. Water Research 36(10), 2505-2514. doi: 10.1016/S0043-1354(01)00479-1.
- Fong, T.-T. and Lipp, E.K. (2005) Enteric viruses of humans and animals in aquatic environments: health risks, detection, and potential water quality assessment tools. Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews 69(2), 357-371. doi: 10.1128/MMBR.69.2.357-371.2005.
- Francy, D.S., Stelzer, E.A., Bushon, R.N., Brady, A.M., Williston, A.G., Riddell, K.R., Borchardt, M.A., Spencer, S.K. and Gellner, T.M. (2012) Comparative effectiveness of membrane bioreactors, conventional secondary treatment, and chlorine and UV disinfection to remove microorganisms from municipal wastewaters. Water Research 46(13), 4164-4178. doi: 10.1016/j.watres.2012.04.044.
- Green, K.Y. (2007) Caliciviridae: the noroviruses. *In*: Fields Virology. Knipe, D.M. and Howley, P.M. (eds), pp. 949-979, Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, Philadelphia, PA.
- Hall, A.J., Wikswo, M.E., Pringle, K., Gould, L.H., Parashar, U.D. and Division of Viral Diseases - National Center for Immunization and Respiratory Diseases - CDC (2014) Vital signs: foodborne norovirus outbreaks - United States, 2009-2012. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report 63(22), 491-495.
- Haramoto, E., Katayama, H., Oguma, K., Yamashita, H., Tajima, A., Nakajima, H. and Ohgaki, S. (2006) Seasonal profiles of human noroviruses and indicator bacteria in a wastewater treatment plant in Tokyo, Japan. Water Science and Technology 54(11-12), 301-308.
- Havelaar, A.H., Furuse, K. and Hogeboom, W.M. (1986) Bacteriophages and indicator bacteria in human and animal faeces. Journal of Applied Bacteriology 60(3), 255-262. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2672.1986.tb01081.x.
- Hewitt, J., Leonard, M., Greening, G.E. and Lewis, G.D. (2011) Influence of wastewater treatment process and the population size on human virus profiles in wastewater. Water Research 45(18), 6267-6276. doi: 10.1016/j.watres.2011.09.029.
- Kageyama, T., Kojima, S., Shinohara, M., Uchida, K., Fukushi, S., Hoshino, F.B., Takeda, N. and Katayama, K. (2003) Broadly reactive and highly sensitive assay for Norwalklike viruses based on real-time quantitative reverse transcription-PCR. Journal of Clinical Microbiology 41(4), 1548-1557. doi: 10.1128/JCM.41.4.1548-1557.2003.
- Katayama, H., Haramoto, E., Oguma, K., Yamashita, H., Tajima, A., Nakajima, H. and Ohgaki, S. (2008) One-year monthly quantitative survey of noroviruses, enteroviruses, and adenoviruses in wastewater collected from six plants in Japan. Water Research 42(6-7), 1441-1448. doi: 10.1016/j.watres.2007.10.029.

- Keswick, B.H., Satterwhite, T.K., Johnson, P.C., DuPont, H.L., Secor, S.L., Bitsura, J.A., Gary, G.W. and Hoff, J.C. (1985) Inactivation of Norwalk virus in drinking water by chlorine. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 50(2), 261-264.
- Khetsuriani, N., Lamonte-Fowlkes, A., Oberst, S. and Pallansch, M.A. (2006) Enterovirus surveillance United States, 1970-2005. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report Surveillance Summaries 55(8), 1-20.
- Kitajima, M., Haramoto, E., Phanuwan, C., Katayama, H. and Furumai, H. (2012) Molecular detection and genotyping of human noroviruses in influent and effluent water at a wastewater treatment plant in Japan. Journal of Applied Microbiology 112(3), 605-613. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2672.2012.05231.x.
- Knight, A., Li, D., Uyttendaele, M. and Jaykus, L.A. (2013) A critical review of methods for detecting human noroviruses and predicting their infectivity. Critical Reviews in Microbiology 39(3), 295-309. doi: 10.3109/1040841X.2012.709820.
- Kojima, S., Kageyama, T., Fukushi, S., Hoshino, F.B., Shinohara, M., Uchida, K., Natori, K., Takeda, N. and Katayama, K. (2002) Genogroup-specific PCR primers for detection of Norwalk-like viruses. Journal of Virological Methods 100(1-2), 107-114. doi: 10.1016/S0166-0934(01)00404-9.
- Lees, D. (2000) Viruses and bivalve shellfish. International Journal of Food Microbiology 59(1-2), 81-116. doi:10.1016/S0168-1605(00)00248-8.
- Mattison, K., Grudeski, E., Auk, B., Charest, H., Drews, S.J., Fritzinger, A., Gregoricus, N., Hayward, S., Houde, A., Lee, B.E., Pang, X.L., Wong, J., Booth, T.F. and Vinjé, J. (2009) Multicenter comparison of two norovirus ORF2-based genotyping protocols. Journal of Clinical Microbiology 47(12), 3927-3932. doi: 10.1128/JCM.00497-09.
- Myrmel, M., Berg, E.M., Grinde, B. and Rimstad, E. (2006) Enteric viruses in inlet and outlet samples from sewage treatment plants. Journal of Water and Health 4(2), 197-209.
- Nordstrom, J.L., Vickery, M.C., Blackstone, G.M., Murray, S.L. and DePaola, A. (2007) Development of a multiplex real-time PCR assay with an internal amplification control for the detection of total and pathogenic *Vibrio parahaemolyticus* bacteria in oysters. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 73(18), 5840-5847. doi: 10.1128/AEM.00460-07.
- Pringle, K., Lopman, B., Vega, E., Vinje, J., Parashar, U.D. and Hall, A.J. (2015) Noroviruses: epidemiology, immunity and prospects for prevention. Future Microbiology 10(1), 53-67. doi: 10.2217/fmb.14.102.
- Rajko-Nenow, P., Waters, A., Keaveney, S., Flannery, J., Tuite, G., Coughlan, S., O'Flaherty, V. and Doré, W. (2013) Norovirus genotypes present in oysters and in effluent from a wastewater treatment plant during the seasonal peak of infections in Ireland in 2010. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 79(8), 2578-2587. doi: 10.1128/AEM.03557-12.

- Rice, E.W., Baird, R.B., Eaton, A.D. and Clesceri, L.S. (2012) Standard Methods for the Examination of Water and Wastewater, pp. 5-4 to 5-10 and 2-62 to 2-67, American Public Health Association Washington, DC.
- Richards, G.P., Watson, M.A., Frankhauser, R.L. and Monroe, S.S. (2004) Genogroup I and II noroviruses detected in stool samples by real-time reverse transcription-PCR using highly degenerate universal primers. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 70(12), 7179-7184. doi: 10.1128/AEM.70.12.7179-7184.2004.
- Rodriguez, R.A., Bounty, S., Beck, S., Chan, C., McGuire, C. and Linden, K.G. (2014) Photoreactivation of bacteriophages after UV disinfection: role of genome structure and impacts of UV source. Water Research 55, 143-149. doi: 10.1016/j.watres.2014.01.065.
- Skraber, S., Langlet, J., Kremer, J.R., Mossong, J., De Landtsheer, S., Even, J., Muller, C.P., Hoffmann, L. and Cauchie, H.-M. (2011) Concentration and diversity of noroviruses detected in Luxembourg wastewaters in 2008-2009. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 77(15), 5566-5568. doi: 10.1128/AEM.00632-11.
- Symonds, E.M., Griffin, D.W. and Breitbart, M. (2009) Eukaryotic viruses in wastewater samples from the United States. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 75(5), 1402-1409. doi: 10.1128/AEM.01899-08.
- Tamura, K. and Nei, M. (1993) Estimation of the number of nucleotide substitutions in the control region of mitochondrial DNA in humans and chimpanzees. Molecular Biology and Evolution 10(3), 512-526.
- Tamura, K., Stecher, G., Peterson, D., Filipski, A. and Kumar, S. (2013) MEGA6: Molecular Evolutionary Genetics Analysis version 6.0. Molecular Biology and Evolution 30(12), 2725-2729. doi: 10.1093/molbev/mst197.
- Toze, S. (1999) PCR and the detection of microbial pathogens in water and wastewater. Water Research 33(17), 3545-3556. doi: 10.1016/S0043-1354(99)00071-8.
- U.S. Census Bureau (2013) State and County QuickFacts. url: http://quickfacts.census.gov/qfd/states/22/2255000.html (Accessed on March 05, 2015).
- U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (2002) Method 1600: Enterococci in water by membrane filtration using membrane-enterococcus indoxyl-β-d-glucoside agar (mEI), U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Washington, DC.
- U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (2001) Method 1602: Male-specific (F+) and somatic coliphage in water by single agar layer (SAL) procedure, U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Washington, D.C.
- U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (2009) Method 1603: *Escherichia coli* (*E. coli*) in water by membrane filtration using modified membrane-thermotolerant *Escherichia coli* agar (Modified mTEC), EPA-821-R-09-007, U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Washington, DC.
- U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (2003) Standard Method 9222D. Fecal coliform membrane filter procedure, U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Washington, DC.
- U.S. Food and Drug Administration (2010) Concentration and extraction of total enteric viruses from shellfish by ultracentrifugation Gulf Coast Seafood Laboratory Protocol, pp., Gulf Coast Seafood Laboratory Protocol U.S. Food and Drug Administration, Dauphin Island, AL.
- van den Berg, H., Lodder, W., van der Poel, W., Vennema, H. and de Roda Husman, A.M. (2005) Genetic diversity of noroviruses in raw and treated sewage water. Research in Microbiology 156(4), 532-540. doi: 10.1016/j.resmic.2005.01.008.
- Vega, E., Barclay, L., Gregoricus, N., Shirley, S.H., Lee, D. and Vinjé, J. (2014) Genotypic and epidemiologic trends of norovirus outbreaks in the United States, 2009 to 2013. Journal of Clinical Microbiology 52(1), 147-155. doi: 10.1128/JCM.02680-13.
- Victoria, M., Guimaraes, F.R., Fumian, T.M., Ferreira, F.F., Vieira, C.B., Shubo, T., Leite, J.P. and Miagostovich, M.P. (2010) One year monitoring of norovirus in a sewage treatment plant in Rio de Janeiro, Brazil. Journal of Water Health 8(1), 158-165. doi: 10.2166/wh.2009.012.
- Vinjé, J. (2015) Advances in laboratory methods for detection and typing of norovirus. Journal of Clinical Microbiology 53(2), 373-381. doi: 10.1128/JCM.01535-14.
- Zheng, D.P., Ando, T., Fankhauser, R.L., Beard, R.S., Glass, R.I. and Monroe, S.S. (2006) Norovirus classification and proposed strain nomenclature. Virololgy 346(2), 312-323. doi: 10.1016/j.virol.2005.11.015.

FINAL CONCLUSIONS

This study provides important information regarding the viral safety of Louisiana oysters and harvest waters, and the viral load in a secondary wastewater treatment plant influent and effluent with regard to noroviruses (NoV) and pathogenic enteroviruses (EV). This information can help regulatory agencies to establish strategies to prevent and control the risks associated with enteric pathogens in sewage-contaminated environments. Identification of multiple NoV genotypes in wastewater influent indicated the presence of underreported strains circulating among the population that can be considered for the development of more effective vaccines and cell culture systems.

There is always a high potential for the presence of infectious enteric viruses in the raw and secondary treated municipal wastewater. Virus removal during the secondary treatment and chlorine disinfection is low, and can vary over time. Therefore, raw and secondary treated human sewage must be handled carefully before discharge. It is crucial to monitor the effluent water for the infectious enteric pathogens if to be utilized for human activities. Discharge of human sewage into the water can cause contamination of molluscan shellfish with enteric viruses. NoV can also occur in the oysters where the fecal pollution both in oysters and harvest waters are low from the microbial fecal indicators standpoints. These observations provide further evidence to emphasize the necessity of direct monitoring of NoV in oysters to reduce the burden of foodborne diseases.

APPENDIX 1. NUCLEOTIDE BLAST OF RT-QPCR NOV POSITIVE SAMPLES (EXCERPTED)

BLAST®

Basic Local Alignment Search Tool

NCBI/ BLAST/ blastn_suite/ Formatting Results - 746K1FX1015

▶ Formatting options

Download

Blast report description

Nucleotide Sequence (98 letters)

 RID
 746K1FX1015 (Expires on 11-25 00:33 am)

 Query ID
 Icl|45293

 Description
 None

 Molecule type
 nucleic acid

 Query Length
 98

Database Name nr Description Nucleotide collection (nt) Program BLASTN 2.2.30+

⊖Graphic Summary



Distribution of 103 Blast Hits on the Query Sequence

⊡<u>Descriptions</u>

Sequences producing significant alignments:

Description	Max	Total	Query	E	Ident	Accession
Norovirus GII isolate 33 RNA-dependent	Scole	SCOLE	cover	value		
RNA polymerase and capsid protein genes, partial cds	175	175	90%	1e-40	98%	<u>KM044166.1</u>
Norovirus GII isolate 13 RNA-dependent RNA polymerase and capsid protein genes, partial cds	175	175	90%	1e-40	98%	<u>KM044122.1</u>
Norovirus Hu/G2.2/SW2011039-1 /Nanning/2011/CHN RdRp and capsid genes, partial cds	175	175	90%	1e-40	98%	KM246928.1
Norovirus Hu/G2.2/SW2011006-3 /Nanning/2011/CHN RdRp and capsid genes, partial cds	175	175	90%	1e-40	98%	<u>KM246918.1</u>
Norovirus GII/Hu/JP/2002/GII.P16_GII.17 /Saitama/T87, complete genome	175	212	90%	1e-40	98%	<u>KJ196286.1</u>
Norovirus Hu/GII.2/CGMH47/2011/TW ORF1 gene, partial cds; and VP1 and VP2 genes, complete cds	175	175	90%	1e-40	98%	<u>KC464505.1</u>
Norovirus Hu/GII/IDH3744/2010/IND genes for RNA dependent RNA polymerase, capsid protein, partial cds	175	175	90%	1e-40	98%	AB757793.1
Norovirus Hu/GII/IDH3682/2010/IND genes for RNA dependent RNA polymerase, capsid protein, partial cds	175	175	90%	1e-40	98%	<u>AB757792.1</u>
Norovirus Hu/4CAU38/Seoul/South Korea/2012 RNA-dependent RNA polymerase and capsid protein genes, partial cds	175	175	90%	1e-40	98%	KC110857.1
Norovirus Hu/GILL70/Seoul/South Korea/2012 RNA-dependent RNA polymerase and capsid protein genes, partial cds	175	175	90%	1e-40	98%	KC110856.1
Norovirus Hu/GII.16-GII.2/SG4017-02 /2011/SG RNA-dependent RNA polymerase and major capsid protein genes, partial cds	175	175	90%	1e-40	98%	<u>JX480623.1</u>
Norovirus Hu/Wuhan/DHGX-2/CHN/2010 RNA-dependent RNA polymerase and capsid protein genes, partial cds	175	175	90%	1e-40	98%	<u>JQ751041.1</u>
Norovirus Hu/Wuhan/E2120/CHN/2010 RNA-dependent RNA polymerase and capsid protein genes, partial cds	175	175	90%	1e-40	98%	<u>JQ751040.1</u>
Norovirus Hu/Wuhan/E2116/CHN/2010 RNA-dependent RNA polymerase and capsid protein genes, partial cds	175	175	90%	1e-40	98%	<u>JQ751039.1</u>
Norovirus Hu/GII/L53/Beijing/2011 RNA-dependent RNA polymerase and capsid protein genes, partial cds	175	175	90%	1e-40	98%	JQ889817.1
Norovirus Hu/GII.2/OH10026/2010/JP genes for RNA polymerase, VP1, capsid protein, complete and partial cds	175	175	90%	1e-40	98%	<u>AB662900.1</u>
Norovirus Hu/GII.2/OH10025/2010/JP genes for RNA polymerase, VP1, capsid protein, complete and partial cds	175	175	90%	1e-40	98%	<u>AB662899.1</u>

2 of 9

Description	Max score	Total score	Query cover	E value	Ident	Accession
Norovirus Hu/GII.2/OH10021/2010/JP genes for RNA polymerase, VP1, capsid protein, complete and partial cds	175	175	90%	1e-40	98%	<u>AB662897.1</u>
Norovirus Hu/GII.2/OH10020/2010/JP genes for RNA polymerase, VP1, capsid protein, complete and partial cds	175	175	90%	1e-40	98%	<u>AB662896.1</u>
Norovirus Hu/GII.2/OH10015-2/2010/JP genes for RNA polymerase, VP1, capsid protein, complete and partial cds	175	175	90%	1e-40	98%	<u>AB662895.1</u>
Norovirus Hu/GII.2/OH10013/2010/JP genes for RNA polymerase, VP1, capsid protein, complete and partial cds	175	175	90%	1e-40	98%	<u>AB662894.1</u>
Norovirus Hu/GII.2/OH10012/2010/JP genes for RNA polymerase, VP1, capsid protein, complete and partial cds	175	175	90%	1e-40	98%	<u>AB662893.1</u>
Norovirus Hu/GII.2/OH10006/2010/JP genes for RNA polymerase, VP1, capsid protein, complete and partial cds	175	175	90%	1e-40	98%	<u>AB662889.1</u>
Norovirus Hu/GII.2/OH09032/2009/JP genes for RNA polymerase, VP1, capsid protein, complete and partial cds	175	175	90%	1e-40	98%	<u>AB662884.1</u>
Norovirus Hu/GII.2/OH09028/2009/JP genes for RNA polymerase, VP1, capsid protein, complete and partial cds	175	175	90%	1e-40	98%	<u>AB662881.1</u>
Norovirus Hu/GII.2/OC10058/2010/JP genes for RNA polymerase, VP1, capsid protein, complete and partial cds	175	175	90%	1e-40	98%	<u>AB662880.1</u>
Norovirus Hu/GII.2/OC10012-2/2010/JP genes for RNA polymerase, VP1, capsid protein, complete and partial cds	175	175	90%	1e-40	98%	AB662876.1
Norovirus Hu/GII.2/OC09072/2009/JP genes for RNA polymerase, VP1, capsid protein, complete and partial cds	175	175	90%	1e-40	98%	AB662870.1
Norovirus Hu/GII.2/OH08020/2008/JP genes for RNA polymerase, VP1, capsid protein, complete and partial cds	175	175	90%	1e-40	98%	<u>AB662868.1</u>
Norovirus Hu/GII.2/OC08154/2008/JP genes for RNA polymerase, VP1, capsid protein, complete and partial cds	175	175	90%	1e-40	98%	<u>AB662861.1</u>
Norovirus Hu/GII.4/Beijing/55171 /2008/CHN RNA-dependent RNA polymerase gene, partial cds; and capsid and minor structural protein genes, complete cds	175	175	90%	1e-40	98%	<u>GQ856476.1</u>
Norovirus Hu/GII/2005/8162/St. Petersburg/RUS RNA-dependent RNA polymerase and capsid genes, partial cds	175	175	90%	1e-40	98%	FJ383877.1
Norovirus Hu/GII/2005/7821/Odessa/RUS RNA-dependent RNA polymerase and capsid genes, partial cds	175	175	90%	1e-40	98%	FJ383876.1
Norovirus Hu/NLV/VannesL23 /1999/France RNA-dependent RNA polymerase and capsid protein genes, partial cds	175	175	90%	1e-40	98%	<u>AY682551.1</u>
Norovirus Hu/NLV/GII/Neustrelitz260 /2000/DE from Germany, complete genome	175	212	90%	1e-40	98%	<u>AY772730.1</u>

3 of 9

Description	Max score	Total score	Query cover	E value	Ident	Accession
Norovirus Hu/GII/IDH1801/2009/IND genes for RNA-dependent RNA polymerase, capsid protein, partial cds	166	166	90%	4e-38	97%	<u>AB592964.1</u>
Norovirus Hu/GII/IDH1521/2009/IND genes for RNA-dependent RNA polymerase, capsid protein, partial cds	166	166	90%	4e-38	97%	AB592962.1

⊖<u>Alignments</u>

Norovirus GII isolate 33 RNA-dependent RNA polymerase and capsid protein genes, partial cds Sequence ID: **gb|KM044166.1**| Length: 988 Number of Matches: 1 Range 1: 675 to 763

Score		Expect	Identities	Gaps	Strand	Frame	
175 bits	(85)	1e-40()	87/89(98%)	0/89(0%)	Plus/Plus		
Features	5:						
Query	10	ATGTTYAGRTG	GATGAGGTTTTCTGZ	ACTTGAGCACGTG	GAGGGCGATCG	CAATCTGGCT	69
Sbjct	675	ATGTTCAGATG	GATGAGGTTTTCTGA	ACTTGAGCACGTG	GAGGGCGATCG	CAATCTGGCT	734
Query	70	CCCAGTTTTGT	GAATGAAGATGGCGI	CGA 98			
Sbjct	735	CCCAGTTTTGT	JAATGAAGATGGCGI	CGA 763			

Norovirus GII isolate 13 RNA-dependent RNA polymerase and capsid protein genes, partial cds Sequence ID: **gb|KM044122.1**| Length: 988 Number of Matches: 1 Range 1: 675 to 763

Score		Expect	Identities	Gaps	Strand	Frame	
175 bits	(85)	1e-40()	87/89(98%)	0/89(0%)	Plus/Plus		
Feature	s:						
Query	10	ATGTTYAGRTG	GATGAGGTTTTCTG	ACTTGAGCACGTG	GGAGGGCGATCG	CAATCTGGCT	69
Sbjct	675	ATGTTCAGATG	JATGAGGTTTTCTG	ACTTGAGCACGTG	GGAGGGCGATCG	CAATCTGGCT	734
Query	70	CCCAGTTTTGT	GAATGAAGATGGCG	FCGA 98			
Sbjct	735	CCCAGTTTTGT	JAATGAAGATGGCG	ICGA 763			

Norovirus Hu/G2.2/SW2011039-1/Nanning/2011/CHN RdRp and capsid genes, partial cds Sequence ID: **gb|KM246928.1**| Length: 386 Number of Matches: 1 Range 1: 10 to 98

Score		Expect	Identities	Gaps	Strand	Frame	
175 bits	(85)	1e-40()	87/89(98%)	0/89(0%)	Plus/Plus		
Feature	S :						
Query	10	ATGTTYAGRTGG	TGAGGTTTTCTGAG	CTTGAGCACGTGG	GAGGGCGATCGCA	ATCTGGCT	69
Sbjct	10	ATGTTTAGGTGG	ATGAGGTTTTCTGAG	CTTGAGCACGTGG	GAGGGCGATCGCA	ATCTGGCT	69
Query	70	CCCAGTTTTGTG	ATGAAGATGGCGT	CGA 98			
Sbjct	70	CCCAGTTTTGTG	ATGAAGATGGCGT	CGA 98			

Norovirus Hu/G2.2/SW2011006-3/Nanning/2011/CHN RdRp and capsid genes, partial cds Sequence ID: gb|KM246918.1| Length: 388 Number of Matches: 1

8 of 9

Range 1: 10 to 98

Score		Expect	Identities	Gaps	Strand	Frame	
175 bits	(85)	1e-40()	87/89(98%)	0/89(0%)	Plus/Plus		
Feature	s:						
Query	10	ATGTTYAGRTGG	ATGAGGTTTTCTGAG	TTGAGCACGTGG	GAGGGCGATCGCA	ATCTGGCT	69
Sbjct	10	ATGTTTAGGTGG	ATGAGGTTTTCTGAG	TTGAGCACGTGG	GAGGGCGATCGCZ	ATCTGGCT	69
Query	70	CCCAGTTTTGTG	AATGAAGATGGCGT	CGA 98			
Sbjct	70	CCCAGTTTTGTG	AATGAAGATGGCGT	CGA 98			

Norovirus GII/Hu/JP/2002/GII.P16_GII.17/Saitama/T87, complete genome Sequence ID: **gb|KJ196286.1**| Length: 7535 Number of Matches: 2 Range 1: 5009 to 5097

Score		Expect	Identities	Gaps	Strand	Frame	_
175 bits	(85)	1e-40()	87/89(98%)	0/89(0%) Plus/Plus		-
Feature	s:						
Query	10	ATGTTYAGRT	GATGAGGTTTTCTG	ACTTGAGCA	CGTGGGAGGGCGAT	CGCAATCTGGCT	69
Sbjct	5009	ATGTTCAGGT	GATGAGGTTTTCTC	ACTTGAGCA	CGTGGGAGGGCGAT	CGCAATCTGGCT	5068
Query	70	CCCAGTTTTG	IGAATGAAGATGGCG	TCGA 98			
Sbjct	5069	CCCAGTTTTG	IGAATGAAGATGGCG	TCGA 509	7		

Range 2: 1 to 18

Score		Expect	Identities	Gaps	Strand	Frame
37.4 bits	6(18)	35()	18/18(100%)	0/18(0%)	Plus/Plus	
Feature	5 :					
Query	79	GTGAATGAAGAT	GGCGTC 96			
Sbjct	1	GTGAATGAAGAT	GGCGTC 18			

APPENDIX 2. GEL ELECTROPHORESIS OF THE AMPLICONS FROM THE FIRST PCR REACTION





A1: L1-4, NoV GI effluent; L5-8, NoV GI influent; L9, NoV GI negative control, L10, NoV GI positive control, L11, 100 bp DNA ladder; L12-15 NoV GII effluent; L16 NoV GII negative control; L17, NoV GII positive control. **A2**: L1-4, NoV GII influent; L5, NoV GII negative control; L6, NoV GII positive control, L7, 100 bp DNA ladder.

APPENDIX 3. GEL ELECTROPHORESIS OF THE AMPLICONS FROM THE SECOND PCR REACTION



B1: L1-4, NoV GI effluent; L5-8, NoV GI influent; L9, 100 bp DNA ladder, L10, NoV GI negative control; L11-12, NoV GI positive control; L13-16, NoV GII effluent; L17, NoV GII negative control; L18-19, NoV GII positive control. **B2**: L1-4, NoV GII influent; L5, NoV GII negative control; L6-7, NoV GII positive control, L8, 100 bp DNA ladder.

4

5 6 7

8

1 2

3

VITA

Naim Montazeri Djouybari, born and raised in Iran, received his bachelor's and masters' degrees in Fisheries at Azad University. In 2009 he moved to the U.S. and obtained a second masters in Seafood Science from the University of Alaska Fairbanks and conducted his research on the safety of cold-smoked salmon. To pursue his passion in food safety, Naim enrolled the Ph.D. program of Food Science at Louisiana State University in 2012, and conducted his research on norovirus in oysters and environmental waters. He is a candidate to receive his doctorate of philosophy in May 2015, and plans to begin his professional career as a research scientist.